BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION WITH T LYMPHOCYTE DEPLETED AND STEM CEL ENRICHED BONE MARROW GRAFTS Experiments in rhesus monkeys

CIP-DATA KONINKLIJKE BIBLIOTHEEK, DEN HAAG

Gerritsen, W.R.

Bone marrow transplantation with T lymphocyte depleted and stem cell enriched bone marrow grafts: Experiments in Rhesus monkeys / W.R. Gerritsen; - [S.l. : s.n.]. - Ill. Also publ. in commercial ed.: Rijswijk: Radiobiological Institute of the Division for Health Research TNO, 1989. - Thesis Rotterdam. - With Ref. - With Summary in Dutch. ISBN 90-9002863-3 SISO 605.8 UDC 616.41-089 (043.3) Subject Headings: bone marrow transplantations / T lymphocyte depletion / rhesus monkeys.

Printed by Krips Repro, Meppel

BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION WITH T LYMPHOCYTE DEPLETED AND STEM CELL ENRICHED BONE MARROW GRAFTS

Experiments in rhesus monkeys

BEENMERGTRANSPLANTATIES NA STAMCELVERRIJKING EN T LYMFOCYTEN DEPLETIE Experimenten in rhesusapen

PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam op gezag van de rector magnificus Prof. dr. A.H.G. Rinnooy Kan en volgens besluit van het College van Dekanen De openbare verdediging zal plaatsvinden op woensdag 21 juni 1989 om 13.45 uur

door

W.R. GERRITSEN

geboren te Wageningen

PROMOTIECOMMISSIE:

- Promotor: Prof. dr. D. W. van Bekkum
- Overige leden: Prof. dr. O. Vos Prof. dr. J. M. J. J. Vossen (Rijksuniversiteit Leiden) Dr. G. Wagemaker

The work described in this thesis was supported by grants from the Biology, Radioprotection and Medical Research Division of the European Communities, the J.A. Cohen Institute for Radiopathology and Radiation Protection and by the Netherlands Cancer Foundation KWF. The work was performed in the Primate Center TNO and the Radiobiology Institute TNO.

DANKWOORD

Dit proefschrift is tot stand gekomen dankzij de hulp en ondersteuning van zeer velen.

In de eerste plaats wil ik Simonetta, Ronald en Isabelle bedanken voor hun steun en voor hun geduld dat zij op hebben moeten brengen gedurende de periode dat de experimenten uitgevoerd werden en het schrijven van dit boekje. Mijn ouders ben ik dankbaar voor het feit dat zij mij de gelegenheid hebben gegeven om de studie geneeskunde te volgen.

Mijn promotor, Prof. dr. D.W. van Bekkum, wil ik bedanken voor de leerzame periode in het Radiobiologisch Instituut onder zijn stimulerende leiding, alsmede voor de waardevolle suggesties tjdens het schrijven van dit proefschrift.

Dr. Gerard Wagemaker wil ik bedanken voor de kritische begeleiding tijdens het verwerken van de resultaten, het houden van voordrachten en het schrijven van dit proefschrift.

Met name in de beginperiode van mijn verblijf bij TNO, hebben de medewerkers van het Primaten Centrum mij met raad en daad terzijde gestaan. Mijn dank aan Dr. A.A. van Es, Dr. Margreet Jonker, Dr. Rob van Lambalgen, Dr. Frans Nooij en Dr. W. van Vreeswijk (een fijne collega, die helaas te vroeg is overleden). Gerard van Meurs heeft me in de beginperiode behoedt voor missers en later was hij altijd bereid om me bij te staan bij het uitvoeren van experimenten op de meest onmogelijke tijden.

Trui Visser, Julia Bart, Veronie Ober van het lab Wagemaker bedank ik voor het bijbrengen van de kweektechnieken en de verdere ondersteuning. Joke Soekarman en Willem Slingeland hebben dagelijks alle tellingen gedaan van perifere bloedcellen van de apen. Mijn dank voor deze essentiele bijdrage.

Hilco Wiersema, Andre Arkesteijn, Ko de Vast, Kees Hillenius, Joop Gardien, Cees de Groot en Cor Timmermans wil ik danken voor hun voortreffelijke verzorging van de apen.

Dr. Chris Zurcher en Dr. Henk Solleveld ben ik erkentelijk voor de beoordeling van de histopathologie van de apen.

Het lab Visser en Ger van den Engh bedank ik voor de nuttige discussies en medewerking van bij alle experimenten met de cell sorters op zoek naar stamcellen of zeldzame T lymphocyten.

Peter Hoogerbrugge en Mark Kramer wil ik bedanken voor de vele nuttige discussies en gezellige samenwerking.

Voor het maken van de illustraties zijn de suggesties van Jan de Kler zeer bruikbaar geweest en hem bedank ik voor zijn medewerking bij het vervaardigen van de illustraties.

Luuck Lenting ben ik zeer erkentelijk voor het beschikbaar stellen van alle faciliteiten behorende bij de Apple Macintosh.

Verder wil ik mijn collega's en verpleegkundigen in het Majella Ziekenhuis te Bussum en het Antoni van Leeuwenhoekhuis te Amsterdam bedanken voor de prettige samenwerking, iets wat ik als essentieel heb ervaren gedurende de periode van schrijven van dit proefschrift.

Winald Gerritsen, 21 juni 1989

Ter herinnering aan mijn broer Geert-Pieter: hij toonde me wat doorzettingsvermogen is en hoe verwoestend kanker kan zijn.

> Aan mijn ouders Aan Simonetta

al an an Araba Anna Angla an Angla

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Bone marrow transplantation	1
1.2 Pluripotent hemopoietic stem cells	4
1.3 Engraftment	7
1.4 Graft-versus-Host Disease	10
 1.5 Prevention of acute Graft-versus-Host Disease 1.5.1 Immunosuppression after transplantation 1.5.2 T lymphocyte depletion of bone marrow grafts 1.5.2.1 Engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts 1.5.2.1 T lymphocyte depletion and leukemia relapse 	13 13 16 19 20
1.6 Chronic GvHD	21
1.7 Mismatched bone marrow transplantation	21
 1.8 Rhesus monkeys; an animal model for experimental bone marrow transplantation 1.8.1 Irradiation and engraftment in rhesus monkeys 1.8.2 Bone marrow composition in rhesus monkeys 1.8.3 Graft-versus-Host Disease in rhesus monkeys 	24 25 25 26
1.8 Outline of this study	29
CHAPTER II. MATERIALS AND METHODS	31
2.1 Animals	31
2.2 Animal care 2.2.1 Isolation procedure	31

2.2.2 Food and drinking	32
2.2.3 Antibiotics	32
2.2.4 Supportive care	32
2.3 Preparation of cell suspensions	33
2.3.1 Bone marrow cell suspension	33
2.3.2 Discontinous albumin density centrifugation	33
2.3.3 Cell counting	34
2.4 Monoclonal Antibodies	34
2.4.1 Anti T lymphocyte antibodies	35
2.4.2 Antibodies directed against myeloid cells	36
2.4.3 Complement lysis	36
2.5 E-rosette sedimentation	37
2.6 Colony formation in vitro	37
2.7 Proliferation of T lymphocytes in vitro	38
2.8 Bone marrow transplantation procedure	38
2.8.1 Total body irradiation	38
2.8.2 Autologous bone marrow transplantation	42
2.8.3 Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation	44
2.9 Flow cytometry	44
2.9.1 Flow cytometers	44
2.9.2 Fluorescent signals	46
2.10 Necropsy and histopathological examination	47
2.11 Engraftment	47
2.12 Statistics	47

CHAPTER III. ASSAY FOR THE REPOPULATING CAPACITY OF AUTOLOGOUS BONE MARROW GRAFTS IN RHESUS MONKEYS

3.1 Introduction	49
3.2 Autologous repopulation assay	50
3.3 Depletion of DR-positive cells	54
3.4 Depletion of T lymphocytes	57
3.5 Discussion	58
CHAPTER IV.ENRICHMENT OF PLURIPOTENT HAEMOPOIETIC STEM CELLS BY SELECTION OF DR-POSITIVE CELLS FROM BONE MARROW	
4.1 Introduction	61
 4.2 In vitro experiments 4.2.1 Density centrifugation and depletion of lymphocytes 4.2.2 Forward and perpendicular light scatter 4.2.3 Surface markers of GM-CFU 4.2.4 Purification by multiple parameters 	63 63 66 66 70
4.3 In vivo experiments with concentrates of pluripotent haemonoietic	
4.5 in vivo experiments with concentrates of plumpotent naemopoletic	
stem cells	71
4.5 In Vivo experiments whit concentrates of philipotent maemopoletic stem cells4.3.1 Discontinous albumin density gradient	71 71

• • •	
4.3.3 Forward light scatter properties of pluripotent stem cells	73
4.3.4 Opsonization of labelled hemopoietic cells	73
4.3.5 Positive selection of hemopoietic stem cells	75

4.4 Analysis of GM-CFU by	double fluorescence analysis	77
---------------------------	------------------------------	----

CHAPTER V. IRRADIATION DOSE REQUIRED FOR ENGRAFTMENT OF 2 LOG T LYMPHOCYTE DEPLETED BONE MARROW GRAFTS

5.1 Introduction	83
5.2 Engraftment of 2 log T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts	84
5.3 Late rejection of more than 3 log T lymphocyte depleted bone marrowgrafts	87
5.4 Toxicity of the conditioning regimens	88
5.5 Engraftment and acute GvHD	. 90
5.6 Discussion	91
CHAPTER VI. PREVENTION OF ACUTE GRAFT- VERSUS-HOST DISEASE BY DEPLETION OF T LYMPHOCYTE SUBPOPULATIONS	05
 CHAPTER VI. PREVENTION OF ACUTE GRAFT- VERSUS-HOST DISEASE BY DEPLETION OF T LYMPHOCYTE SUBPOPULATIONS 6.1 Introduction 	95
 CHAPTER VI. PREVENTION OF ACUTE GRAFT- VERSUS-HOST DISEASE BY DEPLETION OF T LYMPHOCYTE SUBPOPULATIONS 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Characterization of anti T lymphocyte antibodies in vitro 	95 97
 CHAPTER VI. PREVENTION OF ACUTE GRAFT- VERSUS-HOST DISEASE BY DEPLETION OF T LYMPHOCYTE SUBPOPULATIONS 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Characterization of anti T lymphocyte antibodies in vitro 6.2.1 Fluorescence analysis 6.2.2 Functional capacity of T lymphocytes in vitro after depletion 	95 97 97 98
 CHAPTER VI. PREVENTION OF ACUTE GRAFT- VERSUS-HOST DISEASE BY DEPLETION OF T LYMPHOCYTE SUBPOPULATIONS 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Characterization of anti T lymphocyte antibodies in vitro 6.2.1 Fluorescence analysis 6.2.2 Functional capacity of T lymphocytes in vitro after depletion 6.3 Prevention of acute GvHD 	95 97 97 98 99
 CHAPTER VI. PREVENTION OF ACUTE GRAFT- VERSUS-HOST DISEASE BY DEPLETION OF T LYMPHOCYTE SUBPOPULATIONS 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Characterization of anti T lymphocyte antibodies in vitro 6.2.1 Fluorescence analysis 6.2.2 Functional capacity of T lymphocytes in vitro after depletion 6.3 Prevention of acute GvHD 6.4 Discussion 	95 97 97 98 99 102
 CHAPTER VI. PREVENTION OF ACUTE GRAFT- VERSUS-HOST DISEASE BY DEPLETION OF T LYMPHOCYTE SUBPOPULATIONS 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Characterization of anti T lymphocyte antibodies in vitro 6.2.1 Fluorescence analysis 6.2.2 Functional capacity of T lymphocytes in vitro after depletion 6.3 Prevention of acute GvHD 6.4 Discussion CHAPTER VII. GENERAL DISCUSSION 	 95 97 97 98 99 102 105

7.1.1 Haemopoietic stem cells and the trophic function of	
T lymphocytes	105
7.1.2 Enrichment of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells	107
7.2 T lymphocytes	108
7.2.1 T lymphocytes and engraftment	108
7.2.2 T lymphocytes and Graft-versus-Host Disease	111
7.3 Rhesus monkeys as a preclinical model for BMT	112
SUMMARY	115
SAMENVATTING	118
REFERENCES	121
CURRICULUM VITAE	147

.

.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1.1 BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION

Peripheral blood cells have vital and well known functions. Their relatively short lifespan leads to a high production rate of approximately 10¹¹ new blood cells daily in man. This process is called haemopoiesis and the main site for the production of blood cells is the bone marrow. Bone marrow is located inside all bones, particularly in the pelvis, the vertebrae, ribs and bones of the extremities. The common ancestor cell for all haemopoietic differentiation pathways is the pluripotent haemopoietic stem cell. This cell maintains the whole process of haemopoiesis by its virtue of self-replication and differentiation. In the differentiation pathway, stem cells differentiate to committed progenitor cells, which are restricted for their development to a specific cell lineage, such as the myeloid, lymphoid, erythroid, thrombocytic and macrophage differentiation series. Committed cells will gradually loose their proliferative capacity and mature into functional end cells, such as leukocytes, erythrocytes, thrombocytes and macrophages. These mature cells leave the bone marrow to circulate through blood vessels and to exert their specific functions, e.g. O₂ and CO₂ transport (erythrocytes), clotting of blood (platelets), and defense against infections (B- and T lymphocytes, granulocytes and macrophages) in various tissues.

Most of the current knowledge of haemopoietic stem cells has been obtained from observations on **radiation chimaeras** (Van Bekkum & de Vries, 1967). After total body irradiation, haemopoiesis is arrested as well as the ability to mount an immunological attack against foreign antigens.

BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION



Figure 1.1 Bone marrow transplantation

2

The subsequent intravenous administration of a relative small number of bone marrow cells restores all haematological functions. The term 'radiation chimaera' was introduced when it was detected in a recipient of a bone marrow graft that all haemopoietic cells of such a bone marrow recipient were of donor origin (Ford et al., 1956; Vos et al., 1956; Nowell et al., 1956).

These early observations have led to clinical bone marrow transplantation (BMT) as a treatment modality for damaged or insufficiently functioning haemopoiesis. A bone marrow transplantation (Figure 1.1) starts with preparation of a recipient for grafting. An unprepared recipient, which is not immunodeficient, will oppose engraftment of allogeneic bone marrow cells by immunological reactions. For immunosuppression and elimination of the recipient's own haemopoiesis, total body irradiation and/or high dose chemotherapy is applied. After such a conditioning, a bone marrow graft is injected to provide the recipient with a new, permanently functioning haemopoietic system. For the restoration of the haemopoietic system haemopoietic stem cells are indispensable since these are the only cells which have the ability of self-replication. Dependent on the relationship between donor and recipient a bone marrow graft is designated as: autologous, when the marrow is taken from the same individual; syngeneic, when host and donor are genetically identical, which means that the marrow is derived either from an identical twin (outbred species) or from an animal of the same inbred strain; allogeneic, when host and donor are genetically different but still belong to the same species; and <u>xenogeneic</u>, when host and donor belong to different species.

After transplantation, donor cells may mount an immunological reaction against host tissues dependent on the genetic disparity between host and donor. The result of this graft-versus-Host (GvH) reaction is a disease with high morbidity and mortality. Despite these complications, BMT is an appropriate treatment for a variety of diseases. The updated results of many bone marrow transplantation centers, as reported by the European and International Bone Marrow Transplantation Registry, are presented in Table 1.1. The probability of survival in patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first remission is 50%. Transplants for patients with chronic granulocytic leukemia yielded the best results when undertaken in chronic phase with a long term survival of approximately 60%, while transplants in blast crisis resulted in a 20% survival rate. BMT for nonmalignant disease, such as severe combined immunodeficiencies, aplastic anemia and thalassemia major, gave encouraging results of 50 - 80% long-term survival rates. In the next paragraphs, the current state of research for haemopoietic stem cells, engraftment and GvH disease is discussed in more detail.

Table 1.1

Current status of survival and relapse after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation.

Type and stage	PROBABIL	JTY OF		
of disease	Survival	Relapse	Reference	
ALL, 1st remission	40-55%	20-30%	a	
ALL, ≥ 2 remission	20-35%	50-60%	a	
ANL, 1st remission	50%	20-25%	b	
ANL, > 2 remission	25-35%	50-70%	b	
CGL, chronic phase	50-60%	10-20%	с	
CGL, acc. phase	20-30%	55-80%	C	
non malignant diseases:				
SCID	60-70%		d	
Aplastic anemia	70-80%		e	
Thalassemia major	80%	30%	f	

ALL= Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia; ANL= Acute Nonlymphoblastic Leukemia; CGL= Chronic Granolocytic Leukemia; SCID= Severe Combined Immunodeficiencies a: (Ringden for EBMT, 1987; Gratwohl for EBMT, 1988; Champlin for IBMTR, 1987), b: (Ringden for EBMT, 1987, ; Gratwohl for EBMT, 1988; Champlin for IBMTR, 1987; Weisdorf et al., 1988), c: (Ringden for EBMT, 1987; Gratwohl for EBMT, 1988; Storb et al., 1987), d: (O'Reilly et al., 1987; Fisher et al., 1986), e: (Bacigalupo for EBMT, 1988; Storb et al., 1987), f: (Lucarelli et al., 1985)

1.2 PLURIPOTENT HAEMOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

Haemopoiesis is a complex process, since it encompasses both the multiplication of all types of precursor cells as well as the differentiation from haemopoietic stem cells to functional peripheral blood cells. The complexity is due to the wide range of functions, which are exerted by peripheral blood cells, such as clotting, transport of O₂, phagocytosis and defense against infections. If this whole ingenious process has been torn down by irradiation or cytotoxic drugs, transplantation of a relatively small number of stem cells will result in repopulation of the whole haemopoietic system. The transplanted bone marrow cells give progeny to a great variety of functional end cells, which include not only blood cells but also macrophages in tissue such as lung, liver, peritoneal cavity, epidermis, spleen and thymus (reviewed by Wagemaker, 1985; Figure 1.2). Mast cells (Kitamura, 1977) and osteoclasts (Scheven et al., 1986) are also descendents of haemopoietic stem cells and, under special circumstances, macrophages in the brain are of donor origin (Hoogerbrugge et al., 1988).

In search of a cell which is responsible for the maintenance of haemopoiesis, mice appeared to be very valuable.



PROLIFERATION AND DIFFERENTIATION OF HAEMOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

Figure 1.2 Differentiation of haemopoietic stem cells.

Starting about seven days after transplantation macroscopically visible nodules, which contain haemopoietic cells, become visible on the spleen of lethally irradiated recipients. The number of spleen colonies appeared to be linearly related to the number of transplanted cells (Till and McCulloch, 1961). Transplantation experiments with bone marrow cells with unique chromosome markers demonstrated that cells present in an individual spleen colony carried the same unique marker, suggesting that spleen colonies were derived from one single cell (Becker et al., 1963; Wu et al., 1967). The properties of extensive self-replication and pluripotentiality were demonstrated by the development of a complete haemopoietic system after transplantation of a single spleen nodule into a lethally irradiated recipient (Trentin and Fahlberg, 1963). Because of these observation, murine pluripotent stem cells can be assayed by their ability to form colonies in a spleen of a lethally irradiated recipient mouse and are referred to as colony-forming unit/spleen (CFU-S). Although recent observations suggest that not every spleen colony forming cell represents a pluripotent haemopoietic stem cell (Magli et al., 1982; Baines et al., 1983; Harris et al., 1984; Visser et al., 1984), this assay is still of considerable value for experimental haematology.

An equivalent of the spleen colony assay for stem cells is not available in outbred species such as humans and rhesus monkeys for obvious reasons. The development of clonal cultures of haemopoietic cells in semisolid culture medium enabled the investigation of haemopoietic differentiation. In those cultures, individual progenitor cells of a particular haemopoietic lineage are able to proliferate and generate a clone of maturating progeny cells that remain in physical proximity to each other and are identifiable as a colony. For the main haemopoietic lineages such assays have been developed (Metcalf, 1984). Most of these in vitro assays represent committed progenitor cells. The assay for multilineage progenitor cells (CFU-GEMM) has some characteristics of haemopoietic stem cells including differentiation along multiple cell lineages (Fauser and Messner, 1979), the capacity for self-renewal (Ash et al., 1981) and originating from a single progenitor (Powell et al., 1984). In humans, autologous bone marrow transplantation after in vitro purging with 4-hydroperoxy-cyclophosphamide has demonstrated that this colony assay failed to predict the marrow reconstituting ability. In spite of a drastic reduction in colony counts by this drug (Rowley et al., 1985; Kaizer et al., 1985), the in vitro treated marrow was

still capable to repopulate autologous recipients conditioned with lethal chemo/radiotherapy (Yeager et al., 1986).

Another approach for the study of haemopoietic cell differentiation is identification of the pluripotent haemopoietic stem cell by surface markers. Especially in mice, several investigators have been successful in the purification of CFU-S on the basis of their physical and surface properties. Rat (Castagnola et al., 1981; Goldschneider et al., 1980) and mouse (Visser et al., 1984, 1988; Spooncer et al., 1985; Bauman et al., 1986; Spangrude, 1988; de Vries, 1988) haemopoietic stem cells have been purified to almost complete purity. Although the haemopoietic stem cells of rats, mice, rhesus monkeys, and man can be distinguished from other cells on the basis of ultrastructural characteristics (Van Bekkum et al., 1971; Moore et al., 1972; Dicke et al., 1973; Van Bekkum et al., 1979), stem cell specific surface antigens have not been identified yet. Class I and/or class II antigens of the major histocompatibility complex are present on the cell surface of stem cells in mice (Visser et al., 1984; Van den Engh et al., 1978), dogs (Szer et al., 1985) and of very primitive progenitor cells (CFU-GEMM) in rhesus monkeys (Winton et al., 1985) and humans (Fitchen et al., 1982). Studies on the purification of human stem cells are hampered by the lack of a reliable assay for haemopoietic stem cells.

1.3 ENGRAFTMENT

The successful engraftment of a bone marrow graft requires proper preparation of a recipient by myeloablative total body irradiation and/or chemotherapy. The objectives of conditioning of an allogeneic recipient are a) the creation of space in bone marrow to allow homing and proliferation of stem cells, b) the suppression of immunological reactions of the recipient directed against histocompatibility antigens present on donor haemopoietic cells in case of allogeneic transplants, and c) in case of malignancies, eradication of tumor cells (Vriesendorp, 1985).

After transplantation of bone marrow cells into untreated, syngeneic mice only a very small proportion (2-16 %) of the cells are of donor origin (Micklem et al., 1968; Takada et al., 1971; Saxe et al., 1984). The concept that a lack of space was responsible for these observations, was supported by the observation that transplantation of normal, syngeneic bone marrow into alpha-thallassemic mice resulted in a sustained conversion to normal red cell phenotype when recipients were prepared by a sublethal dose of total body irradiation of 2-3 Gy (Barker et al., 1986; Wagemaker, 1986).

The immunological reaction of the host upon the injection of foreign bone marrow cells is dependent on several variables (see Table 1.2). The role of these variables has been extensively described by Vriesendorp (1985) and will be discussed briefly here.

The differences in major and minor histocompatibility antigens between donor and recipient are important factors determining whether a bone marrow graft will be accepted by the host. The influence of genetic disparity between donor and recipient on engraftment is well illustrated by the numbers of cells required in various donor-recipient combinations. Extensive studies in mice have demonstrated that 20-30 times more cells are required for 50% radioprotection (LD50) after supralethal TBI in allogeneic marrow transplantations in comparison to syngeneic transplantations (van Bekkum and de Vries, 1967). For rhesus monkeys 10⁷ autologous bone marrow cells/kg body weight are sufficient to protect lethally irradiated recipients, while $3-4 \times 10^8$ bone marrow cells/kg body weight from an unrelated, mismatched donor are required for 100% radioprotection (Vriesendorp, 1985; personal observations). A similar difference between cell dose required after either autologous or mismatched bone marrow transplantation has been reported for dogs (Vriesendorp, 1985). Another indication for the role of MHC-barriers on engraftment is the frequency of engraftment in different genetic donor-recipient combinations using identical conditioning regimens and cell numbers.

Table 1.2

Factors which determine the severity of a Host-versus-Graft Reaction.

Histoincompatibility between donor and recipient Conditioning of the recipient Route of administration Cellular composition of a bone marrow graft (stem cells/lymphocytes) Prior sensitization of recipient Decontamination of the gastrointestinal tract of the recipient Sex of the donor Experiments in outbred species such as dogs (Vriesendorp et al., 1982; Deeg et al., 1982), monkeys (Wagemaker et al., 1981) and humans (Powles et al., 1983; Hansen et al., 1986; Anasetti et al., 1989) have shown that transplantation across MHC-barriers are associated with a higher frequency of engraftment failures.

A host-versus-graft reaction normally prevents the engraftment of foreign bone marrow, unless the recipient's competence for an immunological attack is abrogated by an intensive <u>immunosuppressive treatment</u> prior to the transplantation. Total body irradiation, busulphan and cyclophospamide are mostly applied for this purpose. As a single agent, total body irradiation is superior to busulphan or cyclophosphamide in rhesus monkeys as well as in dogs. This effect was observed in matched and mismatched donor-recipient combinations. (van Bekkum et al., 1970; Vriesendorp, 1985).

The <u>cellular composition</u> of a bone marrow graft has a major influence on the outcome of a bone marrow transplantation. The number of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells determines the repopulating ability of a bone marrow graft. Experiments with highly purified stem cells (Visser et al., 1984; Bauman et al., 1986; Spangrude et al., 1988; de Vries, 1988) have shown that pluripotent stem cells are primarily responsible for sustained engraftment. Donor lymphocytes induce an acute GvH reaction in case of allogeneic bone marrow transplantations. Since the recipient's immunocompetent cells are among the targets of the GvH reaction, donor lymphocytes can abrogate residual immunological resistance against donor cells.

Pluripotent stem cells are not only present in bone marrow, but can also be found in tissues such as fetal liver, spleen and peripheral blood. In mouse, the highest concentration of stem cells is found in bone marrow which is matched only by the fetal liver. In comparison to bone marrow, the proportion of stem cells is 100 times less in peripheral blood and 20 times less in spleen (Wagemaker, 1985).

The presence of pluripotent stem cells in the peripheral blood (Calvo et al., 1976; Storb et al., 1977; Reiffers et al., 1986) indicate that they, apparently, can leave the bone marrow, enter the circulatory system and remigrate to the bone marrow. This migration pattern permits bone marrow transplantation by administration of haemopoietic cells intravenously. This <u>route of administration</u> was proven to be superior to a subcutaneous, intraperitoneal and intra-arterial route (reviewed by Vriesendorp, 1985).

Blood transfusions given prior to bone marrow transplantation can induce <u>sensitization of recipients</u> and can interfere with engraftment as was first demonstrated in rhesus monkeys (van Putten et al., 1967). Subsequent studies in dogs have revealed that donor blood has a more pronounced influence on engraftment than third-party blood transfusions. Whole blood transfusions and donor skin epithelial cells strongly sensitized recipients resulting in engraftment failures in all cases. Sensitization and subsequent engraftment failure could be prevented by using leukocyte-poor platelet and leukocyte-poor red blood cell transfusions (Storb et al., 1979). The problem of sensitization is especially encountered in patients with severe aplastic anemia, who have received multiple blood transfusions. In these patients either multiple platelet or red blood cell transfusions before transplantation were associated with a higher incidence of engraftment failures (Storb et al., 1983). Exposure of blood transfusions to ultraviolet irradiation abolished their ability to sensitize recipients and engraftment failures were no longer observed in dogs (Deeg et al., 1985).

Decontamination of the gastrointestinal tract is employed to decrease the incidence and severity of GvHD (see section 1.5.1), but it also hampers engraftment. This has been clearly demonstrated in dogs. In haplomismatched donor-recipient combinations, a conditioning regimen of 2 x 6.0 Gy resulted in successful engraftment in 5/5 recipients not subjected to gastrointestinal decontamination. When the gastrointestinal tract of the recipients was selectively decontaminated, an identical conditioning regimen and the same number of bone marrow cells resulted in sustained engraftment in only 1/4 of the recipients (Vriesendorp et al., 1981). In rhesus monkeys complete decontamination of the gastrointestinal tract was accompanied by a delayed regeneration of leukocytes. Take failures occurred in a total of 4 out of 25 recipients. This is not statistically significant different from the 23% take failures which were observed in a comparable group of conventional recipients (Heidt, 1989).

1.4 GRAFT-VERSUS-HOST DISEASE

Until recently the most serious complication after transplantation of allogeneic bone marrow was GvHD and its associated infections. Two forms of GvHD have been identified: acute and chronic.

Acute GvHD is a process that develops early after transplantation and it manifests itself by lesions in skin, liver, gut and lymph nodes resulting in a variety of symptoms such as a generalized maculopapular rash, hepatitis, diarrhea, and a delayed reconstitution of haemopoietic and lymphoid function (Thomas, 1975: Zurcher 1985). In the period of early investigations into the nature of GvHD, discussions were held whether the severe atrophy of lymphatic tissue in animals suffering from "secondary disease" was due to a host-versus-graft immunological reaction (Makinodan, 1957) or to a graft-versus-host reaction. Circumstantial evidence for a graft-versus-host reaction was that the transfer of allogeneic lymphoid cells into an immunological nonresistent recipient caused a syndrome very similar to the secondary disease observed after allogeneic bone marrow (Billingham and Brent 1957; van Bekkum et al., 1957; Santos et al., 1958; Nowell et al., 1959; Vos et al., 1959; Trentin, 1959). These observations led to several experiments in which lymph node cells were added to bone marrow cells and grafted in lethally irradiated recipients. These bone marrow grafts caused severe disease and mortality in the recipients. The classical experiment, demonstrating the nature of the graft-versus-host reaction, is that transplantation of a fixed number of bone marrow and a graded number of lymph node cells resulted in a linear-log relationship between mortality and the number of lymphoid cells grafted (van Bekkum, 1964). Subsequent experiments have revealed the factors which influence the induction of acute GvHD:

- the cellular composition of the haemopoietic graft, especially the proportion T lymphocytes and stem cells
- the number of cells transplanted
- the immunogenetic disparity between donor and recipient
- the composition of the microflora of the recipient

For a detailed discussion of the influence of these individual factors, the reader is referred to a recent review (Van Bekkum, 1985).

After the classical experiments in mice which demonstrated that the number of lymphocytes added to a bone marrow graft is related to the severity of an acute GvH reaction, the <u>causative role of lymphocytes</u> in the induction of graftversus-host disease was established and confirmed in other animal models. In dogs, transplantation of bone marrow from DLA-identical siblings will produce signs of acute GvHD in a minority of the recipients, since in this species bone marrow contains a low proportion of lymphocytes. When donor lymph node cells are added to the DLA-matched bone marrow graft, the severity and incidence of GvHD accordingly increases. According to the observation that the incidence and severity of acute GvHD is dependent on the number of lymphocytes present in a bone marrow graft, a high incidence of early mortality due to severe acute GvHD is observed after allogeneic bone marrow transplantations in rhesus monkeys. In this species bone marrow contains approximately 20% T lymphocytes and induces severe acute GvHD in the majority of the recipients (7/8) of related, RhLA-identical donors (Wagemaker et al., 1982). Similar to the bone marrow of rhesus monkeys that of humans contains a high proportion of lymphocytes and subsequently the incidence of acute GvHD is approximately 50% in patients who receive a bone marrow graft of an HLA-identical sibling and of whom half will die (Thomas, 1975). Although the proportion of lymphocytes is almost identical in humans and rhesus monkeys, the reported incidence of acute GvHD is not identical. This is attributed to the fact that the rhesus monkeys received no additional treatment for the prevention of GvHD while human patients in general receive prophylactic agents such as methotrexate.

Differences in loci of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) as well as in loci outside MHC also play an important role in the induction of GvHD. The influence of loci outside the MHC is illustrated by the well known occurrence of GvHD in of 50% of the patients grafted with bone marrow from an MHC-identical sibling. The incidence of severe GvHD is related to the degree of immunogenetic disparity between donor and recipient as was shown in several outbred species such as rhesus monkeys (Wagemaker et al., 1982), dogs (Storb et al., 1985) and humans (Hansen et al., 1986). The risk of severe acute GvHD (grade II to IV) appeared to be 40% for recipients of HLA-identical bone marrow graft, while the risk of acute GvHD was 68%, 75% and 92% when donor and recipient were incompatible for one, two or three loci of the MHC respectively (Hansen, 1986). The role of the different loci of the major histocompatibility complex on the induction of acute GvHD will be further discussed in section 1.7 (mismatched bone marrow transplantation).

The influence of the <u>composition of the microflora</u> of the recipient has been extensively studied in murine models for bone marrow transplantation. Infusion of 10⁷ bone marrow cells from H-2 incompatible donors into lethally irradiated mice results in a late onset type GvHD. In this delayed type of GvHD, symptoms of the disease become manifest three weeks after transplantation and a majority

of the recipients will die (van Bekkum and de Vries, 1967). Mortality due to delayed GvHD can successfully be prevented when the recipients are germfree mice (Jones et al., 1971; van Bekkum et al., 1974; Truitt, 1978) or when the gastrointestinal tract of conventional mice has been decontaminated by means of nonabsorbable antibiotics prior to transplantation (Heit et al., 1973; Truitt, 1978; van Bekkum et al., 1974). An acute type of GvHD can be induced in mice by supplementing bone marrow cells with 10⁷ spleen cells resulting in the deaths of the recipients within three weeks. Decontamination of the gastrointestinal tract delayed the onset of acute GvHD and mortality but did not prevent it (van Bekkum et al., 1974). The significance of gastrointestinal decontamination for outbred species will be discussed in detail in the next paragraph dealing with methods to prevent acute GvHD.

Because of the overriding influence of acute GvHD on the outcome of an allogeneic BMT, much research effort was put into the treatment of GvHD. In view of the immunologic etiology of GvHD, attempts to prevent it were focused either on the elimination of the immunocompetent donor T lymphocytes from bone marrow grafts or on the administration of immunosuppressive agents started before acute GvHD becomes apparent.

1.5 PREVENTION OF ACUTE GRAFT VERSUS HOST DISEASE

1.5.1 IMMUNOSUPPRESSION AFTER TRANSPLANTATION

Based on results obtained in experiments with mice (Uphoff, 1958) and especially with dogs (Thomas, 1962; Storb et al., 1970; Storb et al., 1970a), <u>methotrexate</u> (MTX) has been widely employed as prophylaxis for acute GvHD in patients (Thomas, 1975). Despite the use of HLA-matched siblings as donors and MTX for GvHD prophylaxis, the incidence of acute GvHD was still 30-70% and it was fatal in approximately one-half of the patients with GvHD (Thomas, 1975; Bortin et al., 1981; Storb et al., 1983; Weiden et al., 1979). The value of MTX as GvHD prophylaxis has been challenged recently. One group reported that four courses of MTX were as effective as seventeen standard courses of MTX for prophylaxis of acute and chronic GvHD (Smith et al., 1985). More intriguing is a report that no difference in the incidence of acute GvHD was found between patients receiving standard MTX prophylaxis and patients who received no prophylaxis at all (Lazarus et al., 1984). Marrow toxicity of MTX resulted in a delayed engraftment in comparison to a control group. A controlled trial will be necessary to resolve this controversy.

The administration of <u>antithymocyte globulin</u> was quite effective in monkeys (Van Bekkum et al., 1972) and dogs (Storb et al., 1973). In contrast to these preclinical experiments, two randomized trials in human patients did not demonstrate any influence of antithymocyte globulin on the incidence of GvHD (Weiden et al., 1979a; Doney et al. 1981). However, when antithymocyte globulin was given in addition to MTX and prednisone, the incidence of GvHD was 21% in comparison to 48% in the group who received MTX alone (Ramsay et al., 1982).

Recently, a new and powerful immunosuppressive agent, cyclosporine A (Borel et al., 1977; Tutschka et al., 1979), has been introduced into clinical studies for the prevention of GvHD. Several pilot studies have been carried out showing that it is effective in preventing acute GvHD in humans (Powles et al., 1980; Speck et al., 1981; Hows et al., 1982). Controlled studies in dogs have shown that it is as effective as MTX in preventing GvHD in different genetic combinations (Deeg et al., 1982). The combined use of a short course of MTX and cyclosporine A till day 100 had superior results in DLA-mismatched littermates in comparison to historical controls treated with MTX alone (Deeg et al., 1984). These results in dogs encouraged the Seattle Bone Marrow Team to start several prospective trials (Table 1.3). An early report on the effect of either cyclosporine A or MTX on the incidence of GvHD in patients transplanted for leukemia in relapse, mentioned a superior result obtained when cyclosporine A was administered (Irle et al., 1985). In a recent report on the same patient group no difference between these drugs with regard to their potency to prevent acute GvHD was found (Storb et al., 1988). These results were confirmed in a randomized trial performed in Sweden (Ringden et al., 1986). In patients transplanted for acute nonlymphoblastic leukemia a 33% incidence of acute GvHD was found in the group receiving cyclosporine A, while 56% of the patients, who were given MTX, developed GvHD (Storb et al., 1986). No difference in the incidence of GvHD was observed in patients transplanted for chronic myelocytic leukemia (Storb et al., 1985). In none of the studies a significant difference in survival was observed. The combination of MTX and cyclosporine was very successful in dogs and a recent clinical studies have confirmed the superiority of the combination over cyclosporine alone (Storb et al., 1987a) or methotrexate alone (Storb et al., 1987a). In these studies a reduction of the incidence of acute GvHD by the combination of MTX and cyclosporine A was associated with a reduction in the incidence of fatal infections and with an increased survival.

Table 1.3

Efficacy of Cyclosporine A alone or in combination with methotrexate to prevent acute GvHD.

disease	N	treatment	probability of acute GvHD		reference
leukemia, relapse	30	MTX	71%		
	26	СуА	45%	p=0.11	Irle, 1985
ANL	36	MTX	56%		
	39	СуА	33%	p=0.07	Deeg, 1985
CML	23	MTX	42%		
	25	СуА	46%	p=0.70	Storb,1985
Aplastic anemia	24	MTX	53%		
-	22	MTX+CyA	18%	p=0.012	Storb,1986
ANL or AML	50	СуА	54%		
	43	MTX+CyA	33%	p=0.014	Storb,1986

ANL= acute nonlymphoblastic leukemia; CML= chronic myeloid leukemia; MTX= methotrexate; CyA= Cyclosporine A.

Antibiotic <u>decontamination of the intestinal tract</u> did significantly reduce mortality due to delayed GvHD (Jones et al., 1971; van Bekkum et al., 1974; Heit, 1973; Truitt, 1978) and mitigated the severity of acute GvHD in mice (van Bekkum et al., 1974). Heidt (1989) investigated the influence of faecal flora of the donor on the induction of lethal GvHD. Lethal GvHD was only observed in a group of "conventional" recipients which received bone marrow cells from SPF (specified pathogen free) donors. No GvHD was seen when there is identity between the microflora of recipient and donor or when SPF recipients were given bone marrow cells from "conventional" donors. Clinical studies regarding the influence of GID on the incidence and severity of GvHD are contradictory (Heidt et al., 1985; Heidt, 1989; Storb et al., 1983; Buckner et al., 1983; Buckner et al., 1985; Deeg et al., 1985; Skinhøj, 1987). Heidt (1989) reported a beneficial effect of complete GID in children with none of the 11 patients with successful GID developing severe GvHD. This in contrast to 7 out 29 patients in whom complete GID or to a too short period of decontamination, since in mice an effect of GID on GvHD is only observed when GID is successfully maintained from 10 days before (Truitt, 1979) until 40 days after bone marrow transplantation (van Bekkum et al., 1977).

1.5.2. T LYMPHOCYTE DEPLETION OF BONE MARROW GRAFTS

The most effective method for prevention of acute GvHD is elimination of immunocompetent T lymphocytes from a bone marrow graft. Two decades ago, experiments with mice have already proven that T lymphocyte depletion is an effective method to prevent acute GvHD (Dicke et al., 1968; Rodt et al., 1974). These results were confirmed in outbred species such as dogs (Kolb et al., 1979) and rhesus monkeys (Dicke et al., 1970; Wagemaker et al., 1982). The elimination of T lymphocytes from human bone marrow transplants required the development of methods, which were applicable for treatment of large volumes of human bone marrow. Meanwhile, several methods have been developed and applied for human transplant purposes such as albumin gradient (Dicke, 1970), a combination of density gradient and E-rosette sedimentation (Löwenberg et al., 1986), differential agglutination of mature blood elements with soybean agglutinin and subsequent removal of T lymphocytes from the unagglutinated bone marrow fraction by E-rosette sedimentation with sheep red blood cells (Reisner et al., 1980; Reisner et al., 1981; O'Reilly et al., 1986), complement mediated lysis of T lymphocytes using monoclonal antibodies (Martin et al., 1985; Sondel et al., 1985; Prentice et al., 1986; Racadot et al., 1986; Mitsuyasu et al., 1986; Hale et al., 1986, Herve et al., 1987), anti-T lymphocyte monoclonal antibodies

coupled to the toxin ricin (Vallera et al., 1983; Kersey et al., 1986) and counterflow centrifugation-elutriation (De Witte et al., 1983; De Witte et al., 1984).

Table 1.4

Prevention of acute Graft-versus-Host Disease by T lymphocyte depletion from bone marrow grafts of HLA-identical siblings.

BMT	number of		take	GvHD	
Center	patients	methods	failure	>= grade ∏	reference
New York	57	soyb.	4	3/53	O'Reilly,1986
Seattle	20	mca	6	3/14	Martin,1985
Minneapolis	17	mca-ricin	4	4/13	Kersey,1986
Wisconsin	7	mca	0	0/7	Bozdech, 1985
London	21	mca	1	1/20	Prentice, 1986
France	57	mca	11	4/52	Racadot, 1986
Los Angeles	20	mca	5	3/20	Mitsuyasu,1985
Campath-1*	264	mca	34	34/230	Hale,1986
Nijmegen	14	elutr.	0	2/14	De Witte,1984
Utrecht	7	soyb.	0	2/7	De Gast,1986
Rotterdam	8	albumin	1	2/7	Löwenberg,1986
Rotterdam	17	alb.+ E-r	0	0/17	Hagenbeek,1987
Paris	21	mca	0	3/21	Gluckman,1987
····	530		66 (12.5%)	61/464 (1	3.1%)

mca = monoclonal antibody and complement;

soyb. = soybean agglutination and E-rosette sedimentation;

elutr. = elutriation centrifugation;

albumin = discontinuous albumin density gradient;

alb+E-r = disc. albumin density grad. + E-rosette sedimentation.

*: review of results in BMT centers which use the monoclonal antibody CAMPATH-1 for T lymphocyte depletion.

So far reports are very encouraging with respect to the incidence of severe, acute GvHD (13%: see Table 1.4). This score surpasses the best results obtained

by immunosuppressive treatment of recipients after transplantation as prophylaxis for GvHD.

Difference between the various methods used for T lymphocyte depletion are not being observed. All methods deplete 1-2 logs T lymphocytes, which is sufficient to prevent acute GvHD in this donor-recipient combination according to our retrospective analysis of the results of transplantations of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts in different donor-recipient combinations in rhesus monkeys (Wagemaker, 1986a). The frequency of severe GvHD does not seem to be affected by the use of additional immunosuppressive treatment of recipients after transplantation. Only the BMT center in Nijmegen using elutriation centrifugation for T lymphocyte depletion observed severe GvHD when additional immunosuppression was not administered after transplantation.

The question of how many T lymphocytes are permitted in a bone marrow graft has yet to be answered. In patients, who received a bone marrow graft depleted from T lymphocytes by CAMPATH-1 and autologous complement, the incidence of acute GvHD was significantly correlated with the presence of more than $4 \ge 10^6$ T lymphocytes/kg body weight after purging (Hale et al., 1988). In 24 patients the measured number of T lymphocytes was more than $4 \ge 10^6 \text{ T}$ lymphocytes/kg body weight and 14 (58%) of them suffered from some degree of GvHD compared to 48 (23%) of 211 patients who's bone marrow graft contained less than 4 x 10⁶ T lymphocytes/kg body weight. Quantification of clonable T lymphocytes have demonstrated that 1 x 10⁵ clonable T lymphocytes/kg body weight correlated with no acute GvHD (Kernan et al., 1986). Atkinson et al (1987) has also found a direct relation between the number of T lymphocytes in a bone marrow graft and the frequency of acute GvHD. On basis of a retrospective analysis of the relationship between the number of T lymphocytes in a bone marrow graft and the incidence of lethal GvHD in different genetic combinations, the maximum number of T lymphocytes allowable in a bone marrow graft without causing lethal GvHD were calculated. For RhLAidentical sibling monkeys the maximum number of T lymphocytes/kg body weight was found to be 2×10^6 T lymphocytes. In a bone marrow graft from an unrelated, A/B matched donor 6 x 10⁵ T lymphocytes/kg body weight are permitted and in unrelated, totally mismatched donor-recipient combinations only 10⁵ T lymphocytes/kg body weight are allowed (Wagemaker, 1986a).

The encouraging results with T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts in HLA-identical siblings were followed by attempts to apply T lymphocyte deple-

tion for mismatched transplantations. The preliminary results of these trials are discussed in section 1.7.

1.5.2.1 ENGRAFTMENT OF T LYMPHOCYTE DEPLETED BONE MARROW GRAFTS

An undesirable consequence of the utilization of T lymphocyte depletion is the increased frequency of take failures if the conditioning of the patients is not adapted. It was clearly and timely demonstrated in canine (Vriesendorp et al., 1981a), rhesus monkeys (Wagemaker et al., 1982) and murine (Soderling et al., 1985) models of mismatched BMT that a take of T lymphocyte depleted allogeneic marrow requires more intense conditioning than T lymphocyte containing grafts. Results with patients confirmed these findings, especially when partially mismatched, related donors were used (Bozdech et al., 1985; O'Reilly et al., 1985). Nonspecific loss of haemopoietic progenitor cells during the T lymphocyte depletion could partially contribute to this effect as was measured by granulocyte/macrophage colony formation (GM-CFU) (Patterson et al., 1986; Blazar et al., 1985; Martin et al., 1985; Herve et al., 1985). However, the reduced incidence of engraftment was still observed after transplantation of a non limiting number of stem cells in animal experiments (Vriesendorp et al., 1981; Wagemaker et al., 1982; Soderling et al., 1985) and no correlation has been found between the number of GM-CFU infused and failure of engraftment after T lymphocyte depletion (Martin et al., 1985; O'Reilly et al., 1985). A more likely explanation is that T lymphocyte depletion of the graft reduces immunosuppression of the recipient by abrogation of the anti-host immunological reactivity of the graft. This concept of reciprocal interference (Nakic, 1966; Vriesendorp et al., 1981b) between GvHD and engraftment is endorsed by the fact that additional immunosuppression of recipients promotes engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted grafts in experimental animals (Vriesendorp et al., 1981a; Wagemaker et al., 1982; Soderling et al., 1985) and humans (O'Reilly et al., 1986; Martin et al., 1985; Sondel et al., 1985).

An alternative explanation for the increased frequency of engraftment failures of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow graft is that T lymphocytes have an essential function during the engraftment. This hypothesis is based on the knowledge that T lymphocytes can produce several haemopoietic growth factors (Metcalf, 1986). Hence, depletion of T lymphocytes would deprive the graft of the growth factors essential for proliferation of haemopoietic cells (Sieff et al., 1985; Soderling et al., 1985).

1.5.2.2 T LYMPHOCYTE DEPLETION AND LEUKEMIA RELAPSE

When leukemic cells are among the targets of a GvH reaction, it is expected that a mitigation of the GvH reaction would have consequences for the graft-versusleukemia (GvL) reaction. This hypothesis is supported by the observation that the incidence of leukemia relapses in patients with acute nonlymphoblastic leukemia is much higher in recipients of identical twin bone marrow grafts (50%) than in recipients of HLA-matched siblings (reviewed by O'Reilly, 1983). Several studies in humans have reported a decreased risk of leukemia recurrence in patients who develop acute or chronic GvHD following transplantation from HLA-identical siblings (Weiden et al., 1979a; Weiden et al., 1981; Bacigalupo et al., 1985). On the basis of these reports one could predict that a reduction in the incidence of GvH will be correlated with an increase in leukemia relapses. Analysis of the results of patients, who received an allogeneic bone marrow transplantation for chronic myeloid leukemia in chronic phase, has indeed demonstrated that T lymphocyte depletion decreases the incidence and severity of acute and chronic GvHD, but this effect was counterbalanced by a significant increase in leukemia relapses (Apperley et al., 1986, 1988; Goldman et al., 1988). The actuarial survival of patients of T lymphocyte depleted or unmodified bone marrow grafts did not differ significantly. For acute leukemia firm conclusions can not be drawn regarding a relationship between T lymphocyte depletion and leukemia relapse. Mitsuyasu et al. (1986) reported a higher number of relapses in the group of patients which received a T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow graft in comparison to controls but the difference was not significant. In other early reports, the incidence of leukemia relapses in good risk patients, who received a T lymphocyte depleted graft, was not significantly different from the incidence of relapse in comparable good risk patients transplanted with conventional grafts (O'Reilly et al., 1986; Prentice et al., 1986).

1.6 CHRONIC GVHD

Chronic GvHD is a separate clinical syndrome affecting between 15 to 40% of the transplanted patients who survive more than 6 month's. Two thirds of the patients with chronic GvHD have preceding acute GvHD but in one-third it develops without preceding clinical signs of acute GvHD. It results in localized or widespread sclerodermatous changes of the skin, skin and joint contractures, xerostomia, xerophthalmia, biliary cirrhosis, malabsorption, and failure to thrive (Shulman et al., 1980; Sullivan et al., 1981). The disease resembles the systemic collagen vascular diseases, especially systemic lupus erythematosus and progressive systemic sclerosis. Predisposing factors for the development of chronic GvHD are moderate to severe acute GvHD, increasing age of the patient and the use of viable donor buffy coat cells in addition to the marrow in case of aplastic anemia (Storb et al., 1983; Ringden et al., 1985). Donor buffy coat cells were added to bone marrow to prevent engraftment failures. The beneficial effect can be attributed to more GvHD in comparison to bone marrow alone. Subsequently more chronic GvHD was seen. Treatment with immunosuppressive drugs, either prednisone alone or in combination with azathioprine, cyclophosphamide, or procarbazine, has been shown to be effective in abrogating the adverse natural course of extensive chronic graft-versus-host disease (Sullivan et al., 1981).

1.7 MISMATCHED BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATIONS

HLA compatibility between donor and recipient is generally felt to play a critical role in clinical bone marrow transplantation. The incidence of GvHD is still high (50%) when related donors are used who are totally matched for the MHC antigens and methotrexate is applied for GvH prophylaxis. For this reason it is widely held that the probability of achieving a successful transplant is diminished by HLA incompatibility. However, the majority of patients who are candidates for bone marrow transplantation do not have HLA-identical siblings. Therefore, several studies were started to explore the use of related, mismatched donors and unrelated donors.

In rhesus monkeys the effect of donor selection on acute GvHD has been studied extensively. Transplantation of stem cell enriched, T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts in <u>related</u> donor-recipient combinations has revealed that the incidence of lethal GvHD is low (1/8: median survival > 2 years) in RhLA-identical siblings, and high (4/5: median survival 25 days) when donor and recipient were mismatched for the D/DR loci (and identical for the A/B loci). Experiments with <u>unrelated</u> donors demonstrated that matching for the A and B loci (and mismatching for the D/DR loci) reduced the incidence and severity of GvHD (5/9: median survival 50 days), but the effect of matching became apparent only when stem cell enriched, T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts were employed (Wagemaker et al., 1982, 1986a). The results of matching for the A and B loci became more impressive when the gastrointestinal tract was completely decontaminated. In this situation no lethal GvHD occurred in 4 monkeys (Heidt, 1989).

In the past decade, cautious exploration of the use of family-member donors other than HLA-identical siblings has been started in clinical centres. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, the probability of severe (grade ≥ 2), acute GvHD increases when the immunogenetic disparity between donor and recipient increases. In the study of the Seattle Bone Marrow Transplantation Team (Hansen et al., 1986) the risk of acute GvHD was 40% at day 75 after transplantation when donor and recipient were HLA phenotypically identical and reactive in the MLC. The risk of severe, acute GvHD was 68% in case of HLA one locus incompatibility, 75% when donor and recipient were incompatible at two loci and 92% when three HLA loci differed. Incompatibility for class I antigens appeared to have the same effect on GvHD as incompatibility for class II. In this study of the Seattle Bone Marrow Transplantation Team, it appeared that HLA incompatibility can impede the rate of engraftment, increase the risk of rejection and substantially increase the incidence of acute GvHD. An analysis of the survival of 25 patients transplanted in remission with marrow from a donor who was incompatible for one HLA locus, showed no significant difference with a series of recipients with genotypically identical donors (Hansen et al., 1986). Powles et al (1983) described the clinical course of 35 patients, who received a marrow graft from mismatched family donors. Eleven patients (31%) survived the transplantation. A remarkable finding was that 12 patients died from a capillary leakage syndrome, which was associated with pulmonary oedema, convulsions, intravascular haemolysis and renal failure.

The encouraging results on the prevention of acute GvHD by T lymphocyte depletion prompted several centers to investigate whether this approach could reduce the risk of mismatched transplantations (Table 1.5). The longest expe-
rience with mismatched bone marrow transplantation has been gained with the treatment of young patients with severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID). The published results indicate that engraftment failures is a major obstacle. However, the incidence of severe, acute GvHD is low and the probability of survival (60%) does not differ significantly in those patients, who received HLA mismatched, T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts, and patients who's donors were HLA-identical siblings (Fisher et al., 1986a; O'Reilly et al., 1987). Transplantation of HLA-mismatched, not T lymphocyte depleted marrow grafts was associated with a poor survival prognosis of 18% (Fisher et al., 1986a).

Table 1.5

Transplantations of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts from related, mismatched donors.

Disease	Conditioning	N (number)	Engraftment (number)	GvHD ≥2	Reference
Leukemia	1320 cGy+Cy	5	0		Bozdech,1985
	1320 cGy+Cy+ARA-C 1320 cGy+Cy+ARA-C+	4 +	4	3	Bozdech,1985
	Csa	10	10	2	Bozdech,1985
Leukemia	1200 cGy+ARA-C Melphalan+ATG	15	14	2	Cahn, 1988
Leukemia	1320-1440 cGy+ARA-C or + Cy	2 48	32	3	O'Reilly, 1987
Leukemia	1200 cGy+ARA-C+Cy 1400 cGy+ARA-C+Cy	8 24	0 23	9a	Henslee,1987 Henslee,1987

cGy = Total body irradiation dose in centiGray; ARA-C = cytosine arabinoside;

Cy = Cyclophosphamide; Csa = Cyclosporine A

a: acute GvHD more than grade 2

The early reports on patients with leukemia, who received HLA-mismatched, T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts, indicate that the obstacles are the same as in recipients of T lymphocyte depleted, HLA-identical marrow grafts, namely an increased frequency of engraftment failures. Several clinical centers have searched for adequate conditioning regimens which permit sustained engraftment. In New York 34 recipients of HLA-mismatched marrow were conditioned for grafting by hyperfractionated TBI followed by cyclophosphamide or ARA-C and additional pretransplant immunosuppressive drugs (Anti Thymocyte Globulin (ATG) + procarbazine or ARA-C) and 15 rejected their graft. Of these 34 patients, 22 patients received immunosuppressive drugs (cyclosporine A or steroids) for promotion of engraftment, but 8 of these 22 patients still rejected the bone marrow graft. The most successful treatment was the administration of ATG in the early posttransplant period, which resulted in 17 out of 18 durable engraftments (O'Reilly et al., 1987). The other transplantation centers (Wisconsin and Lexington) also found that the problem of engraftment failures could be overcome by additional immunosuppression (Bozdech et al., 1985; Henslee et al., 1987). The incidence of severe acute GvHD ranged from 10% (O'Reilly et al., 1987) to 40% (Henslee et al., 1987). In contrast to SCID patients, survival of leukemia patients with HLA-mismatched donors was inferior to survival of recipients of HLA-identical bone marrow grafts. O'Reilly (1987) reported that the inferior survival was mainly due to more lethal infections in comparison to HLA-matched bone marrow transplantations.

The possibility of using <u>unrelated</u> donors who are phenotypically HLAidentical with the patient is attracting more attention. A few successful transplantations have been reported (Hansen et al., 1980; Hows et al., 1987; Duquesnoy et al., 1983; Liu Yin et al., 1984; McGlave et al., 1987), but it is to early to draw any conclusions. The same holds for the use of unrelated, partially, mismatched donors (Gingrich et al., 1985; McGlave et al., 1987).

1.8 RHESUS MONKEY; AN ANIMAL MODEL FOR EXPERIMENTAL BMT

For more than 25 years Rhesus monkeys (Macaca Mulatta) and Cynomolgous monkeys (Macaca Iris) have been employed for experimental bone marrow

transplantations. The Radiobiological Institute TNO has a long experience of approximately 30 years with bone marrow transplantation in rhesus monkeys (Crouch et al., 1961).

1.8.1 IRRADIATION AND ENGRAFTMENT IN RHESUS MONKEYS

The radiosensitivity of rhesus monkeys has been determined for 300 kV X-rays as well as for fission neutrons (Broerse et al., 1978). Over a range from 450 to 700 cGy (X-ray), there appeared to exist a steep dose-survival curve with 100% 30 day survival after a dose of 450 cGy and no animal surviving a dose of 600 cGy (hvl 2.0 mm Cu; dose rate 25-30 cGy). The LD₅₀ of rhesus monkeys has been estimated to be approximately 5.25 Gy. Autologous bone marrow protects up to a dose of 900 cGy. After a total body irradiation of 1000 cGy and more all the animals died due to gastrointestinal toxicity within 17 days. The dose survival curve was even more steeper for neutron irradiation since after 200 cGy all animals survived and none survived a dose of 300 cGy.For neutrons the LD₅₀ was estimated to be 250 Gy. For animals treated with autologous bone marrow grafts the 50% survival point was reached after 475 cGy (Broerse et al., 1978).

The number of fresh autologous bone marrow cells required for engraftment is approximately 1 x 10^7 /kg body weight (van Putten et al., 1962), while engraftment of allogeneic marrow grafts 2.5-3 x 10^8 /kg body weight (van Putten et al., 1962) is required. Transplantation experiments with fetal monkey liver and spleen of 3-month gestation demonstrated that the number of cells obtained from one single donor (2-3 x 10^8 /kg body weight) was insufficient for successful engraftment (van Putten et al., 1962).

1.8.2 BONE MARROW COMPOSITION IN RHESUS MONKEYS

With respect to the potency to induce an acute GvH reaction, rhesus monkey bone marrow is identical to human bone marrow. Aspiration marrow contains approximately $23 \pm 2 \%$ T lymphocytes (Wagemaker et al, 1982). In RhLAidentical siblings 2-4 x 10⁸ bone marrow cells/kg body weight induced severe, fatal GvHD in 90 % of the recipients with a median survival of 22 days (Wagemaker et al., 1982). When unrelated donors were used, the median survival time was 12 days, deaths being uniformly due to severe GvHD (Wagemaker et al., 1982).

In search of methods which could be applied to mitigate the incidence and severity of acute GvHD, density gradients were used to separate stem cells from lymphocytes (Dicke, 1970; Moore et al., 1972). Early progenitor cells, which are able to form colonies in the GM-CFU assay, can be recovered from the light density fractions of a discontinuous albumin density gradient. Among these early progenitor cells, haemopoietic stem cells are present as has been proven by the experiments in which transplantation of 2×10^6 autologous, low density cells/kg body weight protected a lethally irradiated monkey (Dicke, 1970; Dicke et al., 1973). The phylogenetic relation between man and rhesus monkeys has always been an advantage. Recently, many monoclonal antibodies directed against human lymphocytes (Letvin et al., 1983; Jonker et al., 1983) and myeloid cells (Letvin et al., 1983; Pesando et al., 1985) appeared to crossreact with rhesus monkey cells. So, for a variety of reasons, rhesus monkeys are well suited to test the feasibility of using monoclonal antibodies.

1.8.3 GRAFT VERSUS-HOST DISEASE IN RHESUS MONKEYS

The morbidity and mortality pattern in rhesus monkeys is identical to humans. The clinical symptoms comprise diarrhea and anorexia and may start as early as the end of the first week, and death ensues between day 8 and 17 after transplantation of marrow from unrelated donors. The median survival of rhesus monkeys is 25 days after transplantation of bone marrow from a RhLA-identical sibling. The use of other genetic donor-recipient combinations, i.e. unrelated matched donors and family donors mismatched for 1 haplotype, resulted in a shorter median survival time (Wagemaker et al., 1982). The pathological features of the lesions induced by acute GvHD have been object of intensive study in the Radiobiological Institute TNO and have been described in detail (de Vries et al., 1961; de Vries, 1967; Zurcher, 1985). Similar to humans, the graft versus host reaction damages particularly the epithelium of the gut, the skin and the liver, resulting in clinical symptoms such as diarrhea, anorexia, jaundice, erythaema, and a rapid loss of weight (wasting).

After establishing the pattern of morbidity and mortality due to GvHD, several methods have been tried to mitigate the incidence of acute GvHD in rhesus monkeys (Table 1.6). The early experiments included preirradiation of bone marrow. Experiments in mice had demonstrated that preirradiation might have a favorable influence on the incidence of secondary disease (the early description for GvHD) (Cudkowicz, 1961). A fourfold increase in cell number was given to compensate for nonspecific cell loss after irradiation. Survival and severity of GvHD was not influenced by preirradiation of a bone marrow graft with 250 cGy X-rays. A similar experiment with a fourfold increase in cell number and 400 cGy of X-rays resulted in a longer survival with evidence of temporary and incomplete regeneration of bone marrow (van Putten et al., 1962).

Table 1.6

Method to prevent acute GvHD	number of animals	mean survival (days)	range (days)	reference
controls	25	14	5-25	van Putten,1962
pre-irradiation graft				
250 cGy	1	8		
400 cGy	1	>40 ^a		van Putten,1962
storage at 4 ⁰ C				
0 hours	2	11	9-13	
48-96 hours	4	13	7-16	
120 hours	1	no rege	eneration	van Putten,1962
Amethopterin	4	19	11-27	Muller-Berat, 1966
cyclophosphamide	7	39	23-65	Muller-Berat, 1966
Anti-lymphocyte-serum				
horse	15	27	13-41	van Bekkum,1972

Mitigation of Acute GvHD in unrelated rhesus monkeys

a: endogenous regeneration

A simple method of storage of bone marrow cells at $+ 4^{\circ}$ C had been proved to be much more successful in mice (van Bekkum, 1964). This method mitigated the severity of GvHD and did not diminish the radiation protection potency. In unrelated monkeys, this method appeared not successful (see Table 1.6; van Putten et al., 1962). This was the first experiment in which it was concomitantly demonstrated that methods which are effective in decreasing the secondary disease in rodents are not necessarily effective in monkeys due to the difference in the proportion of immunocompetent lymphocytes present in bone marrow. Accordingly it was recommended to carry out preclinical experiments in monkeys before applying methods, developed in mice, in clinical practice.

Amethopterin (Methotrexate) is one of the earliest drugs applied for the treatment of GvHD. Uphoff (1958) was the first to report a beneficial effect of amethopterin in mice. Thomas described a pronounced beneficial effect of post-transplantation administration of this drug in dogs. Fifty percent of a series of 20 dogs survived more than 150 days after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Graft rejection occurred in 5 dogs (Thomas et al., 1962). The bone marrow transplantation group in Rijswijk has tried to reproduce these results in rhesus monkeys. Mortality due to acute GvHD was prevented in 3 out of four 4 monkeys, but long time survivors were not observed (Muller-Berat et al., 1966).

Going along with the ideas that secondary disease was caused by donor lymphocytes, treatment protocols were designed to eliminate lymphocytes. In the earliest experiments anti-lymphocyte sera (ALS) were prepared by immunizing rabbits or horses with thymocytes. Van Bekkum et al (1972) injected monkeys 24 hours before BMT subcutaneously with ALS and investigated the effect on the incidence and severity of GvHD. The ALS produced in rabbits appeared to be toxic not only to lymphocytes but also to other bone marrow cells since only 3 out of 11 monkeys showed engraftment. Pretreatment of the recipient with horse ALS resulted in engraftment in 15 out of 16 animals. Survival ranged from 7-41 days. Severe to very severe signs of GvHD were seen at autopsy in 5 out of 15 monkeys. Mild GvHD was observed in the other 10 monkeys, but none of the animals escaped death from GvHD at a latter stage. Again these results did not confirm the results in mice, where a single administration of ALS before administration fully prevented GvHD (Van Bekkum et al., 1970).

At the same time it was attempted to eliminate donor lymphocytes from a bone marrow graft by density centrifugation using a discontinuous albumin gradient (Dicke, 1970). In the low density fractions the proportion of haemopoietic stem cells is greater than in normal bone marrow. The proportion of lymphocytes in the low density fraction is similar to normal bone marrow. However, the enrichment of stem cells enabled transplantation of approximately 10 times less cells, which means that the absolute number of lymphocytes is accordingly 10 times lower than in an unseparated bone marrow graft. An one log lymphocyte depletion was sufficient to lower the incidence and severity in RhLA-identical siblings and long term survivors were seen. These results were confirmed in human studies, which demonstrated that this method did reduce the incidence and severity of GvHD in HLA-identical siblings (Löwenberg et al., 1986). For a complete prevention of acute GvHD 1-2 log T lymphocytes had to be removed for rhesus monkey bone marrow (Wagemaker et al., 1982) as well as for human bone marrow (Löwenberg et al, 1986; Hagenbeek, 1987).

1.9 OUTLINE OF THIS THESIS

The major complication after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation is the occurrence of acute GvHD. This complication can be successfully prevented when T lymphocytes are depleted from a bone marrow graft. The beneficial effect of prevention of acute GvHD is counterbalanced by an increased frequency of engraftment failures. In view of this problem several experiments were planned to unravel whether the engraftment failures after T lymphocyte depletion were attributable to the loss of the trophic function of T lymphocytes or were attributable to the loss of the immunosuppressive action of donor T-lymphocytes. When the latter option is valid, more immunosuppression of the recipient would result in sustained engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts.

With regard to T lymphocyte depletion, it was attempted to positively select for stem cells and concomitantly negatively select for T lymphocytes. Stem cells are the essential cells in a bone marrow graft since they are responsible for sustained engraftment. A positive selection of these cells would yield an uniform method for preparation of a bone marrow graft rich in stem cells and fully depleted of T lymphocytes. A second approach was to investigate whether depletion of a subpopulation of T lymphocytes (helper/inducer or suppressor/cytotoxic T lymphocytes) was sufficient to prevent acute GvHD.

A general introduction to bone marrow transplantation is described in **chapter I.** Materials and methods are described **chapter II**.

To assess the influence T lymphocyte depletion on the repopulating ability of stem cells, an in vivo assay had to be developed, since in outbred species a reliable assay to predict the repopulating ability of a bone marrow graft was not available. The development of the assay was based on the assumption that the regeneration rate of peripheral blood cells after autologous bone marrow transplantation is a function of the number of stem cells present in marrow graft. The relationship between regeneration patterns of peripheral blood cells and graded numbers of autologous bone marrow is described in **chapter 3**. After establishing this in vivo assay, T lymphocyte depleted autologous bone marrow grafts were transplanted. As a control on the predictive value of the assay, Dr-positive cells were depleted from autologous grafts assuming that this would drastically reduce the repopulating ability of a bone marrow graft. This assumption was based on the fact that the Dr antigen is present on stem cells in several species.

In chapter 4, an attempt is made to purify the hemopoietic stem cell of the rhesus monkey. A positive selection of stem cells of rhesus monkeys was made using a discontinuous albumin density gradient and a positive selection of Dr-positive cells by flow cytometry. Ultimately the capacity of purified cells to repopulate an irradiated recipient was investigated.

In chapter 5, the promotion of engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted, allogeneic bone marrow grafts has been studied. It was attempted to quantify the additional immunosuppression required to obtain engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted grafts.

In chapter 6, the efficacy of monoclonal antibodies, directed against either subpopulations of T lymphocytes or against all lymphocytes, to prevent acute GvHD was studied.

A general discussion on these different investigations is given in chapter 7.

CHAPTER II

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 ANIMALS

Young male or female rhesus monkeys (Macaca Mulatta), bred at the Primate Center TNO, were used. The monkeys weighed 2.5 to 4 kilogram and were 3 to 4 years of age at the time of transplantation.

2.2 ANIMAL CARE

2.2.1 ISOLATION PROCEDURE

Before transplantation, the physical condition of the animals was inspected and blood samples were taken for hematological and biochemical examination. The faecal flora was investigated on the presence of flagellates. One week before transplantation, animals were transferred to either isolations rooms or laminar air flow units. Transfer of infections was prevented by caging the monkeys separately. To prevent contamination from external sources, barrier nursing and disinfection of materials, introduced into the room, was carried out routinely. The animals were placed in a restraint chair for physical examination and handling such as administration of medicines at least once per day. The animals were not anesthetized for this procedure. Daily blood samples were taken to measure repopulation of the haemopoietic system and two to three times a week for biochemical tests. The sensitivity pattern of faecal flora was determined twice weekly. On the basis of the antibiograms of the faecal flora nonabsorbable antibiotics were given.

2.2.2 FOOD AND DRINKING

Monkeys were fed fresh fruits, vegetables and cooked rice. When an animal did not eat spontaneously, it was fed by stomach tube. A catheter was passed through the nostrils into the stomach. Through the stomach tube the monkeys were administered daily \pm 240 ml of a mixture consisting of 120 ml Nutrison (Nutricia, Holland), 80 ml glucose 10% and 40 ml Carvan Cevitam (a baby fruit syrup; Zwaardemaker, Holland). This liquid diet was composed on basis of an estimated energy need of 80-90 kcal/kg body weight. Drinking water was acidified to pH 3 to limit microbial growth.

2.2.3 ANTIBIOTICS

For the prevention of infections caused by Pseudomonas aeruginosa, the nonabsorbable antibiotic Polymyxine B[®] (10 mg/kg/day; Pfizer) was given to the animals from four days prior to transplantation until hematological recovery. Nystatine[®] (2 x 200.000 IE/day; Sanofi Labaz) was given together with Polymyxine B to prevent fungal infections. For the elimination of intestinal flagellates, the animals received metronidazole (250 mg/day per os: Flagyl[®], Specia/May & Baker) for four days prior to transplantation. When after transplantation the leukocyte counts dropped below 1 x $10^{9}/l$, the antibiotic regimen was extended with the systemic antibiotics tobramycine (Obracin[®], Lilly): 3-5 mg/kg/ day intramuscular (i.m.) and cephamandol (Mandol[®], Lilly): 100 mg/kg/ day i.m.). Changes in the antibiotic regimen occurred on the basis of the sensitivity pattern of faecal flora and cultures of blood samples. Other antibiotics, which were given regularly, were; ticarcilline (100 mg/ kg/day i.m.: Ticarpen[®], Beecham), amukacinesulphate (5 mg/kg/day i.m.:Amukin[®], Bristol), rifamycine (15-20 mg/kg per os: Rifadin[®], Gist-brocades) and Vancomycin[®] (20-25 mg/kg intravenous, Lilly).

2.2.4 SUPPORTIVE CARE

Irradiated whole blood or red blood cell concentrates were given when the hematocrit dropped below 20%. Irradiated platelet transfusion were ad-

ministered when thrombocyte counts fell below $40 \ge 10^{12}$ /l or when thrombopenic purpura were observed. Balanced fluids (1:1 glucose 5% and Ringer's lactate) were given intravenously or subcutaneously when signs of dehydration were observed.

2.3. PREPARATION OF CELL SUSPENSIONS

2.3.1 BONE MARROW CELL SUSPENSION

Bone marrow cells were obtained either by aspiration from femoral and/or humoral shafts as was described previously (Van Bekkum, 1967) or the donor was sacrificed and bones of the vertebral column, sacroiliac bones, femora, humeri, sternum, ribs and scapula were pressed in a tissue press. Cells were collected in phosphate buffered salt (PBS) or in Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS) which contained 100 IE heparin/ml (Tromboliquine[®]; Organon Teknika, Holland) and deoxyribonuclease I (DNAse; Behring Diagnostics, La Jolla, CA). A mononuclear cell suspension was prepared by centrifugation through a ficollhypaque solution(LSM[®], density of 1.077 g/ml; Bionetics, Kensington, UK) for 30 min at 1600 rpm (TJ-6 Beckman centrifuge; Beckman-RIIC, Scotland). After centrifugation, the mononuclear cells were recovered from the interface. Thereafter, the cell suspension was filtered through a nylon gauze to obtain a monocellular cell suspension.

2.3.2 DISCONTINUOUS ALBUMIN DENSITY CENTRIFU-GATION

A discontinuous albumin density gradient, designed by Dicke and van Bekkum (1970), was employed to obtain cell suspensions enriched for stem cells. Albumin powder (fraction V: Sigma Chemical Co., St Louis, MO) was dissolved in Tris buffer (pH 7.2, 230 mOsm/l) to a concentration of 35% (w/w). The optimal osmolarity of the albumin solution was tested in pilot experiments in which the distribution of GM-CFU's was measured over a gradient. After establishing the optimal osmolarity, a 35% stock solution was prepared. This 35% solution was diluted with different volumes of sodium chloride-sodium phosphate buffer (NaCl-Phosphate buffer; 0.154 M NaCl; 0.01 M Na phosphate buffer; pH 7.2;

299-300 mOsm/l) for the preparation of the desired albumin solutions, namely 17%, 19%, 20%, 21%, 23% and 25%. The final albumin concentration was checked by an Abbe refractometer (Zeiss), as previously described by Dicke (1970).

Mononuclear cells were suspended in 17% BSA and layered on top of a gradient consisting of layers with different density (17% -25%). The tube was centrifuged for 30 min at 10^0 C at 2200 rpm (Beckman centrifuge). After centrifugation, distinct layers were visible at the density interfaces in the gradient. Cells were collected from the interfaces and washed with PBS.

2.3.3 CELL COUNTING

Nucleated cells were counted either in a haemocytometer in Turk solution (0.01% crystal violet and 1% acetic acid in saline) or by an automated cell counter (ELZONE; Particle Data Inc, Elmhurst or BAKER; Baker Instruments, Bethlehem, NY). Both automated cell counters were calibrated for counting cells of rhesus monkeys by values obtained in haemocytometers. The number of erythrocytes and leukocytes in the peripheral blood of the monkeys were counted by either a particle analyzer of ELZONE (Particle Data Inc) or of BAKER (Baker Instruments). The leukocyte counts were corrected for erythroblasts. Thrombocytes were counted by a thrombocyte counter from BAKER. Reticulocytes were counted after staining slides with brilliant cresylblue (3.3% (v/v) in ethanol). Thereafter the percentage of reticulocytes were determined after counting at least 1000 erythrocytes.

2.4 MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES

For incubation with monoclonal antibodies (MCA), cells were pelleted and MCA's were added to the pellet. The cells were mixed with antibody solution and incubated for 30 min at 4⁰ C. After washing with PBS, either goat-antimouse(GAM), conjugated to fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) (Nordic, Holland) (diluted 1:80 with PBS containing 20% monkey serum) or goat- anti-rat, conjugated to FITC, (GARA/FITC: diluted 1:30; Nordic, Holland) was added to the cells labelled with MCA. The incubation time was again 30 min at 4⁰ C.

2.4.1 ANTI T LYMPHOCYTE ANTIBODIES

The OKT antibodies were purchased from Ortho Diagnostics (Raritan,NJ). Per 10^6 pelleted cells 0.02 ml MCA was added. From the Leu antibodies (Becton Dickinson, Sunnyvale, CA) 0.01 ml was added to 10^6 pelleted cells. From B9-pool (CD8; 0.05 mg/ml : provided by Dr G. Mawas, Marseille) 0.02 ml was added to 10^6 cells. WT 1 (CD7; 0.005 mg/ml; Tax et al., 1984) was a gift from Dr W. Tax (St Radboud Hospital, Nijmegen, Holland;) and used in concentration of 0.02 ml for 10^6 cells.

Table 2.1

Anti T lymphocyte antibodies and their reactivity pattern with human lymphocytes.

CD	MCA	reactivity pattern	references	
CD1	Leu1	T lymphocytes	Hansen, 1984	
CD2	Leu5	E-rosette receptor	Hansen, 1984	
CD4	OKT4	helper/inducer	Hansen, 1984	
	OKT4a	T lymphocytes		
	Leu3a			
CD8	OKT8	cytotoxic/suppressor	Hansen, 1984	
	Leu2	T lymphocytes		
	B9-pool			
CD7	WT 1	T lymphocytes	Tax, 1984	
	CAMPATH-1	T and B-lymphocyte	Hale,1983	

CD= cluster defined nomenclature as proposed by the international work-shop on leukocyte antigens (Bernard, 1984). MCA= monoclonal antibody.

CAMPATH-1 (Hale et al, 1983) was provided by Dr G. Hale and Dr H. Waldmann (University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK) and 0.1 ml CAMPATH-1 (0.1 mg/ml) was added to 10^6 cells. These antibodies were selected on the basis

of their reactivity pattern with human lymphocytes (Table 2.1) and their cross-reactivity with rhesus monkey lymphocytes.

2.4.2 ANTIBODIES DIRECTED AGAINST MYELOID CELLS

For detection of DR-positive cells, bone marrow cells were incubated with either the anti-DR antibody OKIa1 (Ortho Diagnostics), or GM11 (supernatant: Jonker et al. (1984)), or anti HLA-DR (Becton Dickinson), or YCL 6.8 (0.05 mg/ml), or YAML 555.6 (0.01 mg/ml: both provided by Dr G. Hale and Dr H. Waldmann). These antibodies recognize an antigen with a molecular weight of 28-34 kdalton and were used in a concentration of 1 ml for 5×10^7 cells.

For the staining of progenitor cells the MCA's OKT10 (Ortho Diagnostics: Reinherz et al., 1980) or GM 1 (production by Jonker M and Van Meurs G) were applied. OKT 10 reacts with human thymocytes and early progenitor cells (Crawford et al., 1980, Sieff et al., 1982). GM 1 reacts with human and rhesus monkey granulocytes, lymphocytes and early progenitor cells (Jonker, personal communication). The antibodies MY 4 and Mo1 (gift from Coulter Immunology) react in humans with mature and immature cells from the granulocyte/monocyte lineage, but not with cells which give progeny to GM-CFU (Griffin et al., 1983) and it cross-reacts with rhesus monkey bone marrow cells (Letvin et al., 1983).

2.4.3 COMPLEMENT LYSIS

After incubation with the MCAs, at the concentrations described above, complement was added without further washing. For CAMPATH-1 sera of two monkeys were pooled and added at a final concentration of 20% (v/v). For the other MCAs rabbit serum (Stichting Bloedonderzoek, Wageningen, the Netherlands) was used as a source of complement. The final complement concentrations for WT 1, OKT4+4a, B9-pool and the cocktail of anti DR antibodies were respectively 30%, 30%, 50% and 50% (v/v). The cells were incubated with complement for 1 hour at 37^0 C. DNAse (Behring Diagnostics) was added to prevent clumping.

36

2.5 E-ROSETTE SEDIMENTATION

Sheep red blood cells (SRBC) less than 2 weeks old were treated with a 140 mM 2-aminoethylisothiouronium bromide (AET: Sigma, St. Louis, MO) solution (pH 9.0) at 37° C for 15 min and washed 4-5 times in isotonic saline (Madsen et al., 1980). A 10% solution of AET SRBC in PBS with 40% heat inactivated (56° C, 30 min) foetal calf serum (FCS) was prepared. An equal volume of cold 10% AET SRBC was added to a cell suspension of 30 x 10⁶/ml. This mixture was spun down slowly (800 rpm, TJ-6 Beckman centrifuge; Beckamn-RIIC, Scotland) for 5 minutes to purchase optimal rosette formation of sheep erythrocytes and T lymphocytes (E-rosette forming cells: E-RFC). After gently resuspending the mixture, it was layered on a ficoll-hypaque gradient and centrifuged for 20 min at a speed of 2000 rpm (TJ-6 Beckman centrifuge). E-rosette forming T lymphocytes are spun down the gradient and recovered from the bottom. The E-RF cells at the bottom of the gradient are T lymphocytes. A pure T lymphocyte population could be obtained when the sheep red blood cells were lysed with a hypotonic shock.

2.6 COLONY FORMATION IN VITRO (GM-CFU)

Bone marrow progenitor cells can give rise to clusters of cells consisting of different cell lineages depending on the stimulating factors present in the medium. For our experiments the granulocyte/macrophage colony assay (GM-CFU) according to Pike and Robinson (1970) was applied. Bone marrow cells were cultured using the double layer agar technique with human peripheral blood leukocytes as feeder layer and an overlayer consisting of haemopoietic cells. Feeder layers were prepared by suspending 10^6 peripheral blood leucocytes in 1 ml of a medium consisting of 30% (v/v) Dulbecco's medium (800 mOsm), 20% (v/v) FCS and 50% (v/v) of 1% agar at 37^0 C. For each experiments two sets of feeder layers were prepared with leukocytes from two individuals. The haemopoietic cells for the overlayer were resuspended in 1 ml medium in which agar is substituted for distilled water and 1 ml medium as described above. From this mixture 0.2 ml was placed on a feeder layer.

Colonies, defined as cell aggregates of more than 50 cells, were counted at a 25 fold magnification using an inverted microscope(Zeiss). Colonies were scored 7-14 days after initiation of the cultures.

2.7 PROLIFERATION OF T LYMPHOCYTES IN VITRO

Peripheral blood lymphocytes were separated by density centrifugation using ficoll-hypaque (LSM[®], density 1.077 g/l; Bionetics, Keningston, UK). Lymphocytes at a concentration of 2 x 10⁶ cells/ml were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium containing 20% (v/v) heat inactivated monkey serum, 2 mM L-glutamine and 100 µg/ml streptomycin in microculture plates at 37⁰ C in 5% CO₂ for 3-4 days. Stimulation was performed with phytohaemagglutinin (PHA, 1 mg/ml; Borroughs-Wellcome). All cells were cultured in triplicate. In all experiments controls were included where PHA was omitted as stimulator. Twelve hours before the end of the culture period, 1 µCi of [¹⁴C]-thymidine was added to each well. At the end of the culture period, the cells were harvested with a multiple automatic sample harvester and the uptake of [¹⁴C]-thymidine was measured in a liquid scintillation counter.

2.8 BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION PROCEDURE

2.8.1 TOTAL BODY IRRADIATION

Recipients were prepared for grafting by total body irradiation (TBI) delivered by a single or two opposing beams from a Philips-Müller X-ray machine. The monkeys were placed in a cylindric polycarbonate cage which rotated slowly (3 times per minute) around its vertical axis during irradiation. The animals were not anesthetized during irradiation. The one or two X-ray tubes operated at a tube voltage of 300 kV and a current of 10 mA. The half-value layer thickness was 3 mmCu. The focus-skin distance 80 cm and the average dose rate over the animal was 20-22 cGy/min (Broerse et al., 1978).



Figure 2.1. Irradiation arrangement for exposing the cylindric water phantoms to 300 kV X-rays.

On basis of dosimetry measurements in dogs phantoms (Zoetelief, 1984) it was decided to change the irradiation protocol from radiation with one beam to two opposing beams. Dose measurements were made with an ionization chamber at different positions inside cylindrical monkey phantoms (Figure 2.1). Measurements, done by Dr Zoetelief from the Radiobiological Institute TNO, showed that a more homogeneous dose distribution is obtained by bilateral irradiation (see figure 2.2).

During evaluation of the experimental data it was found that several monkeys which were irradiated with two opposing beams died due to irradiation pneumonitis, while this complication was hardly ever observed in the period when one radiation beam was used. Recent evaluation of the irradiation protocols from 1961-1986 for total body irradiation have demonstrated that replacement of irradiation filters, different assessment of correction factors for weight of the animal and different assessment of the diameter of an animal and different phantoms were the main cause of errors in the calculated irradiation dose in lungs. Recent simulation of the different irradiation protocols over the last ten years have demonstrated that the actual dose with <u>one</u> single beam was 6-9% lower than the reported dose. The actual dose delivered by <u>two</u> opposing beams appeared to be 10-14% higher than reported. Lung tissue was simulated by dose measurements in cork. The absorbed dose in lungs was 9-13% higher for <u>uni</u>lateral irradiation and 22-25% higher for <u>bi</u>lateral irradiation in comparison to the reported doses earlier (data obtained by Dr Zoetelief). The dosimetry measurements had their consequences for the experiments performed. For that reason the planned dose of irradiation and the actual dose (according to the new dosimetry measurements) are shown in Table 2.2 for each monkey used for experiments described in this thesis.





Figure 2.2 Relative dose distributions for uni- and bilateral irradiation with 300 kV X-rays of a cylindric monkey phantom with its center at 90 cm from the focus or foci. Given are the values in the central circular plane (data obtained by Dr. J. Zoetelief).

Total	body	irradiation	of	rhesus	monkeys.
-------	------	-------------	----	--------	----------

UMN	BONE MAR	RROW GRAFT	RA	OSE	
	number of ce	ells treatment	planned	actual	actual lung dose
	x 106		(Gy)	(Gy)	(Gy)
		AUTO	LOGOUS		
1 ST	100		8.5	9.65	10.55
1 HH	30		8.5	9.85	10.60
3/25	10		8.0	7 50	8 20
3745	10		8.0	7.50	8 20
3787	10		8.0	7.50	8.20
1 HM	3		8.5	9.80	10.60
1 HW	1	ur ==	8.5	9.85	10.60
1 HK			8.5	9.80	10.60
1 JB			8.5	9.60	10.55
1 GB	100	CAMPATH-1	8.5	9.20	10.40
1 DX	100	CAMPATH-1	8.5	9.80	10.60
1 SN	10	OKT4	8.5	9.80	10.60
1 MY	10	WT-1	8.5	9.65	10.55
1 GA	100	B9-pool	8.5	9.35	10.45
1 FO	10	B9-pool	8.5	9.20	10.40
1 LZ	100	anti-DR	8.5	9.60	10.55
1 SS	100	anti-DR	8.5	9.85	10.40
1 NN	100	YAML + GARA/FITC	8.5	9.50	10.50
1 LP	3	gradient	8.5	9.40	10.45
1 LL	1.5	gradient + FLS	8.5	9.30	10.45
1 LG	3	gradient + CAMPATH-1	8.5	9.45	10.50
1 RP	0.5	stem cells	8.5	9.70	10.65
1 TO	0.7	stem cells	8.5	9.55	10.55
1 OT	0.5	stem cells	8.5	9.50	10.50
1 OW	0.6	DR-negative	8.5	9.40	10.45

1 HJ	50	unmodified	2 x 6.0	2 x 5.7	2 x 6.2	
1 FB	50	unmodified	2 x 6.0	2 x 5.6	2 x 6.4	
1 AT	9	gradient + E-rosette sed	2 x 6.0	2 x 5.6	2 x 6.0	
2 AW	9	gradient + E-rosette sed	2 x 6.0	2 x 5.6	2 x 6.1	
		ALLO	GENEIC			
1 EA	2.5	gradient + E-rosette sed	2 x 4.5	2 x 4.2	2 x 4.6	
1 DV	2.5	gradient + E-rosette sed	2 x 5.0	2 x 4.2	2 x 5.3	
1 CK	2.5	gradient + E-rosette sed	2 x 5.0	2 x 4.7	2 x 5.2	
1 BA	2.5	gradient + E-rosette sed	2 x 5.5	2 x 5.2	2 x 5.8	
1 FE	2.5	gradient + E-rosette sed	2 x 5.5	2 x 5.2	2 x 5.6	
1 EP	2.5	gradient + E-rosette sed	2 x 6.0	2 x 5.6	2 x 6.1	
1 CC	2.5	gradient + E-rosette sed	2 x 6.5	2 x 6.1	2 x 6.8	
1 EG	2.5	gradient + E-rosette sed	2 x 6.5	2 x 6.1	2 x 6.8	
1 EC	400	CAMPATH-1	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.5	2 x 7.3	
1 JR	400	CAMPATH-1	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.9	2 x 7.5	
1 CI	400	CAMPATH-1	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.7	2 x 7.4	
1 FN	400	CAMPATH-1	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.7	2 x 7.4	
1 LJ	400	CAMPATH-1	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.9	2 x 7.5	
1 HC	400	CAMPATH-1	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.6	2 x 7.4	
1SK	400	OKT-4+4a	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.7	2 x 7.4	
1 LU	400	OKT-4+4a	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.7	2 x 7.4	
1 BX	400	B9-pool	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.5	2 x 7.4	
1 GF	400	B9-pool	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.8	2 x 7.4	
1 SP	400	WT-1	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.8	2 x 7.4	
1 LB	400	WT-1	2 x 6.0	2 x 6.9	2 x 7.5	

UMN: unique monkey number, FLS: Forward light scatter

2.8.2 AUTOLOGOUS BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION

The monkeys were anesthetized with ketalar (5-10 mg/kg body weight: Vetalar[®], Parke-Davis) and Vetranquil[®] (0.3 ml/10 kg body weight). Under general anesthesia bone marrow was aspirated from the femora. After aspiration a mononuclear cell suspension was prepared by density centrifugation using ficoll-

hypaque (see section 2.3.1). Thereafter, either bone marrow cells were cryopreserved as described by Schaefer et al. (1972) or the graft was manipulated in vitro and reinfused in a peripheral vein of the recipient afterwards. The recipients were prepared for transplantation by 9.2-9.7 Gy TBI, two opposing beams (Figure 2.3).

BONE MARROW COLLECTION **Ficoll-Hypaque** separation 10⁷ or 10⁸ cells per kg body weight TOTAL BODY IRRADIATION 8.5 Gy incubation with monoclonal antibody 30 min 4°C BONE MARROW INFUSION complement added: 60 min 37 °C

Figure 2.3 Autologous bone marrow transplantation

2.8.3 ALLOGENEIC BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION

Recipients of allogeneic bone marrow transplants were prepared by fractionated TBI. The irradiation was given in two doses with 24 hours interval. The bone marrow graft was administered intravenously 24 hours after irradiation.

2.9 FLOW CYTOMETRY

A flow cytometer is a machine that measures parameters of cells which are made to flow in suspension through an intense light source. When cells pases through a laser beam, optical signals are generated which contain biochemical or morphological information about the cells. These optical signals are detected and translated in electric signals by photomultipliers. Light scatter, generated when a cell flow through the laser beam, is detected in 0^0 and 90^0 direction and gives information about the size (0^0 scatter = forward light scatter (FLS)) and shape (90^0 scatter = perpendicular light scatter (PLS)). Using laser light with a defined wave length enables the detection of fluorescence particles present on a cell. The signals from the photomultipliers are either linearly or logarithmic amplified.

Except for analysis, flow cytometers are extremely useful because of the opportunity to sort cells according to defined parameters. For sorting, the liquid jet is vibrated with the help of a piezo-electric crystal at a frequency such that droplets break from the flow stream containing individual cells. With "windows" the upper and lower limits for the optical parameters are set. A sort logic circuitry compares the signals of each cell with the preset "windows". By giving droplets different electric charges, the droplets can be deflected when they pass through a constant transverse electric field. The deflected droplets are sorted into glass tubes.

2.9.1 FLOW CYTOMETERS

Two flow cytometers were used for immunofluorescence analysis and cell sorting; a modified FACS II (Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorter; Becton Dickinson) (figure 2.4) or a home build dual laser flow cytometer (RELACS; design: G. van den Engh and W. Stokdijk) (figure 2.5). With the modified FACS it was possible to measure three parameters. The principles of the RELACS have been described previously (Trask, 1985).



Figure 2.4 Fluorescence activated cell sorter and dot plots

Briefly, it is a dual laser flow cytometer with the equipment for multiple parameter signal processing. The amplified signals from the photomultipliers are processed by a "Peak sense and hold" circuitry which determines the the peak of the resultant pulse signals and hold this value temporarily. The peak values are digitized in an analog-to-digital converter. The digital signals are processed for presentation on a two-dimensional oscilloscope, which enables the characterization of cells by two optical signals, and the parameters can stored in a computer. The novelty of the machine is the speed of signal processing with a very short "dead" time (5 μ s) between the detection of the optical signals of a cell and the complete storage of the signals in list data acquisition mode in a Hewlett- Packard 200 computer. The list mode enables analysis afterwards with a software package, which included data display in histograms, 2 or 3 dimensional display and window setting, and was developed in our institution by Drs R.R. Jonker.



Figure 2.4 Rijswijk experimental light activated cell sorter

2.9.2 FLUORESCENT SIGNALS

Besides the forward light scatter (FLS) signals as a measure for the size of the particles, and the perpendicular light scatter (PLS), which is indicative for the shape of a particle, fluorescent signals were used for the characterization of

cells. The fluorescent signals could be generated by excitation of fluorochromes with light of a specific wavelength. The fluorochromes were directly or indirectly coupled to MCA's, which reacted with cells. The fluorochromes fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) and phycoerythrin (PE) were excitated with a laser at 488 nm (0.4-0.5 W). The emitted FITC fluorescence was measured through a combination of a broad band multicavity interference filter (520-550 nm: Pomfret Research Optics Inc, Stanford, CT) and a 530 nm cut-off filter (Ditric Optics, Hudson, MA) by an S-11 type photomultiplier (Thorn EMI, Middlesex, U.K.) and PE through a 577 nm cut-off filter (Corion) by a S-20 type photomultiplier (Thorn EMI) or a Hamamatsu multiplier R1477 (Hamamatsu, Japan). Since there is a overlap in the emission spectra of PE and FITC a comparison network (Loken et al., 1977) was used to subtract the FITC emission from the PE emission in the region where the PE fluorescence was measured. After the comparison network the signals were logarithmic amplified. Propidium iodide was used to stain dead cells and measured through a 620 nm cut-off filter (Ditric Optics) by an S-20 type photomultiplier.

2.10 NECROPSY AND HISTOPATHOLOGICAL EXAMINATION

Necropsies and histopathological examinations were routinely done to determine the cause of death and in case of allogeneic transplantations to grade the severity of GvHD according to the criteria of the International Bone Marrow Transplant Registry (1975). Tissue samples were fixed in 4% buffered formaldehyde, trimmed, embedded in paraffin and stained with hematoxylin-phloxine-saffran.

2.11 ENGRAFTMENT

Between day 21 and day 28 after transplantation peripheral blood cells were collected and lymphocytes separated for tissue typing using serologically defined determinants as described previously by Balner et al. (1981).

2.12 STATISTICS

Mean, standard deviation and standard error of mean was calculated according to the standard formula (Colton, 1974). For statistical analysis of the relationship between regeneration rate of peripheral blood cells and the number of bone marrow cells grafted/kg body weight (see chapter III), a linear regression analysis was used. The regression line was fitted according to the formula $y=a+b\log(x)$. The Student's T test was used for the calculation of the 95% confidence limits of the line and for the calculation the significance of the hypothesis that the line did differ from 0. Since single monkeys were used to measure an effect of in vitro manipulation of autologous bone marrow grafts, the 95% confidence limits were calculated on a predicted individual y value.

CHAPTER III

ASSAY FOR THE REPOPULATING CAPACITY OF AUTOLOGOUS BONE MARROW GRAFTS IN RHESUS MONKEYS

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells are characterized by their virtue of selfreplication and differentiation into all blood cell lineages. Because of these properties transplanted stem cells are capable to protect a lethally irradiated recipient. A prerequisite for any in vitro manipulation of a bone marrow graft is that it does not adversely affect pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells.

One of the objectives of this study was to eliminate subpopulations of T lymphocytes from bone marrow grafts by complement fixing monoclonal antibodies in order to prevent GvHD. The toxicity for repopulating stem cells of such a pretreatment had to be investigated. Bone marrow cultures, such as the GM-CFU assay, were thought to provide a good indication for toxicity to stem cells, since any toxicity for pluripotent stem cells will affect the number of descendents. However, a discrepancy has been observed between the results obtained in bone marrow cultures and the repopulating capacity of bone marrow cells when bone marrow cells were incubated with 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide. Although severe toxicity was detected in vitro, the bone marrow cells remained their potential to protect a recipient from death due to a lethal dose of chemo- and radiotherapy (Rowley et al., 1985; Kaizer et al., 1985; Yeager et al., 1986). Therefore, it was decided not to rely solely on results of bone marrow cultures but to develop an in vivo assay for reconstitution capacity of bone marrow grafts. The in vivo assay developed was based on the assumption that the rate of recovery of certain peripheral blood cells after an autologous bone marrow transplantation is a function of the number of haemopoietic stem cells

grafted. Therefore, graded numbers of autologous bone marrow cells were transplanted into monkeys, which had received a high dose of whole body irradiation. Peripheral blood cells were counted daily until the values had normalized or until 35 days after grafting. Although after autologous bone marrow transplantation, direct parameters such as MHC-antigens are not available to identify graft derived cells, autologous bone marrow transplantations were preferred to allogeneic transplantations because interfering processes such as GvHD and host-versus-graft reaction are avoided.

The validity of the assay was tested by grafting autologous bone marrow cells from which pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells were eliminated by incubations with anti-DR antibodies. It has been established that the DR-antigen is present on early, pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells of humans (Fitchen et al., 1982) and non-human primates (Winton et al., 1985). In dogs the DR-antigen is present on haemopoietic stem cells (Szer et al., 1985) and the homologue I-E antigen is also present on murine stem cells (Fitchen et al., 1981).

After establishing the validity of the assay, the regeneration pattern of autologous bone marrow grafts following complement mediated lysis of T lymphocyte subpopulations was compared to the regeneration pattern of unmodified bone marrow grafts.

3.2 AUTOLOGOUS REPOPULATION ASSAY

To assess the relation between regeneration rate of peripheral blood cells and cell numbers grafted, irradiated (7.5-9.8 Gy total body irradiation; X-rays) monkeys were given graded numbers of cryopreserved, autologous bone marrow cells over a range of 10^6 to 10^8 cells/kg body weight. For each data point one monkey was used, except for three monkeys at the dose of 10^7 /kg body weight. Peripheral blood cell counts were determined daily after transplantation; the day of transplantation was designated as day 0. The reconstitution of the peripheral blood cells is illustrated in the figures 3.1 and 3.2. The leukocyte counts dropped rapidly after total body irradiation and, depending on graft size, the counts remained low for at least two weeks. After the administration of 10^8 cells/kg body weight, leukocyte counts normalized within a few days. The regeneration rates of leukocytes were slightly slower after the cell doses of 3 and 1 x 10^7 cells/kg body weight.



Figure 3.1. Regeneration of leukocytes after transplantation of graded doses of autologous bone marrow cells.

After a cell dose of either 1 or 3×10^6 cells/kg body weight, leukocyte counts reached the value of 10^9 /l after 23 and 20 days respectively and the subsequent rise of leukocytes toward normal values was slower in comparison to higher cell doses. The regeneration pattern of reticulocytes showed a similar pattern as for the leukocytes with early regeneration after high cell doses and a slower regeneration pattern after the cell doses of 1 and 3×10^6 cells/kg body weight. The regeneration rate of the autologous grafts was expressed as the time at which the leukocyte counts or reticulocytes definitely exceeded a certain value. For both leukocytes and reticulocytes regression lines were calculated between the graded cell doses and regeneration time. A semilogarithmic relationship between cell dose and regeneration time appeared to exist for different points at the regeneration curves of leukocytes and reticulocytes (Table 3.1).



Figure 3.2 Regeneration of reticulocytes after transplantation of graded doses of autologous bone marrow cells.

Two variables determine the usefulness of a regression line for calibration purposes; whether the slope of the line significantly differs from zero and whether the distribution of the points around the line is small. The distribution of the points is expressed in the standard deviation and the 95% confidence limits. If the regression line is to be employed either to deduce the number of bone marrow stem cells in a graft of unknown composition or to detect toxicity, narrow confidence limits are required. This requirement was met for the regression lines when reticulocyte counts exceed 1% or 2%. For the assessment of toxicity and enrichment of haemopoietic stem cells the regression line based on reticulocyte counts $\geq 1\%$ was applied. Leukocyte counts did not meet the requirements stated above, since the variance of the data points is large. Figure 3.3a + b shows the regression line of reticulocytes and leukocytes with the 95% confidence limits. The differential leukocyte counts gave comparable results for each of the subtypes of white blood cells but this did not improve the limits of the relationship, probably because of inaccuracy of the counting method. Thrombocyte counts could not be used due to the platelet transfusion policy. Platelet transfusions were administered when platelet counts dropped below 40 x 10^9 cells/l.

Table 3.1

Characterization of regression lines calculated on the basis of cell dose grafted and regeneration time of peripheral blood cells.

	$Y^{a} =$	rp	P-value ^C	st. dev.d	
leukocytes $\geq 1 \ge 10^{9}$ /l	$26 - 4 \times \log(x)$.819	.02	1.976	
leukocytes ≥ 2 x 10 ⁹ /l	41 - 9 x $\log(x)$.915	.004	2.808	
leukocytes $\ge 3 \ge 10^{9}$ /l	45 - 10 x $\log(x)$.906	.005	3.32	
reticulocytes $\geq 0.5 \%$	$35 - 9 \ge \log(x)$.963	.0005	1.83	
reticulocytes $\geq 1.0 \%$	39 - 9 x $\log(x)$.988	.0001	1.05	
reticulocytes $\geq 2.0 \%$	$45 - 11 \times \log(x)$.993	.0001	1.02	

a: The regression line is characterized by the formula $Y=a+b \log(x)$, where a represents the intercept, b the slope of the line and x the cell number x 10⁶/kg body weight.

b: correlationcoefficient

c: significance of slope in comparison to zero

d. standard deviation of points about the fitted line = standard deviation of regression

To test the validity of the obtained relationship between cell dose grafted and regeneration rate, several experiments were performed, which included determination of regeneration rate without transplantation of autologous cells and the regeneration rate of grafts that were depleted of DR-positive cells.

The first experiment involved 2 monkeys that did not receive bone marrow following 9.8 Gy total body irradiation (see Table 2.2). These monkeys showed endogenous regeneration with leukocyte counts reaching levels greater than $10^9/I$ after 23 and 27 days, while reticulocyte counts were above 1% at day 28 and 31, respectively (Figure 3.4). This is caused by stem cells surviving total body ir-

radiation. When the regression line of reticulocytes is used, the regeneration rate of peripheral blood cells in these two monkeys corresponds with a residual number of stem cells equivalent to an autologous graft of $0.3 - 1 \ge 10^6$ bone marrow cells/kg body weight.



Figure 3.3 The relationship between bone marrow cell numbers grafted and time of regeneration of leukocytes and reticulocytes.

3.3 DEPLETION OF DR-POSITIVE CELLS

The experiment designed to determine the regeneration time with stem cell depleted bone marrow grafts involved two monkeys which received autologous bone marrow grafts treated with anti-DR monoclonal antibodies. For the depletion of DR-positive cells several MCA's were selected on basis of their reactivity pattern with rhesus monkey bone marrow cells. Staining bone marrow cells with anti-HLA-DR/PE and either GM-11, YCL 6.8 or OKIa1, which were indirectly labeled with GAM/FITC or GARA/FITC, resulted uniformly in double-stained populations, indicating that the antibodies react with the same cells. Complement- mediated lysis of DR-positive cells was done by the simultaneous

use of four monoclonal antibodies, since only combinations of these antibodies yielded efficient kill of GM-CFU (Table 3.2).



Figure 3.4 Regeneration of reticulocytes when recipients were given 9.8 Gy TBI and no bone marrow graft.

The cell dose before antibody treatment was 10^8 viable cells/kg body weight. After the in vitro treatment 20-27% viable cells, 1-2% DR positive cells and 2% GM-CFUs were recovered. The cells left after in vitro treatment were reinfused into the monkey without correction for cell loss. As shown in Table 3.2 the regeneration rate was severely delayed compared to values obtained with 10^8 unmodified cells/kg body weight, with one monkey dying after 22 days without any signs of regeneration. In this monkey histological signs of bone marrow regeneration were not observed. The hematological recovery of the other monkey, which died after 21 days with early signs of regeneration, was estimated to be equivalent to an bone marrow graft of approximately 5 x 10^6 cells/kg body weight, demonstrating that depletion of DR positive cells eliminates at least 95% of the repopulating cells.

Table 3.2

Depletion of Granulocyte Macrophage-CFU (GM-CFU) after treatment with anti-DR antibodies plus complement (N=3).

Monoclonal	GM-CFU/10 ⁵ nuc	surviving fraction ^b	
antibody	without complement	with complement	(% <u>+</u> s.d.)
medium	87 <u>+</u> 10	86 <u>±</u> 8	100 <u>+</u> 9
GM11	86 <u>+</u> 10	40 <u>+</u> 5	46 <u>+</u> 6
YCL 6.8	90 <u>+</u> 10	36 <u>+</u> 5	41 <u>+</u> 6
HLA-DR	91 <u>+</u> 14	46 <u>+</u> 6	53 <u>+</u> 7
OKIa1	74 <u>+</u> 8	13 <u>+</u> 2	15 <u>+</u> 2
all four MCA's	n.d.	5 <u>+</u> 3	6 <u>+</u> 3

a : values represent mean \pm SD of individual determinations.

b : surviving fraction of GM-CFU after complement lysis

Table 3.3

Toxicity to repopulating capacity of 10^8 autologous bone marrow cells/kg body weight by a preincubation with anti-DR monoclonal antibodies^a and complement.

	REGENERAT	TION RATE		
	incubated bone marrow	unmodified bone marrow (95% conf. limits)	P -value of difference	
Reticulocytes > 1% (day) Leukocytes > 10 ⁹ /l (day)	21, > 22 ^b 21, > 22 ^b	8 - 13 10 - 18	< 0.005 < 0.01	•

a : mixture of four anti-DR MCA's GM11, YCL 6.8, anti-HLA-DR, OKIa1

b : died at day 22 after transplantation without evidence of regeneration

3.4 DEPLETION OF T LYMPHOCYTES

CAMPATH-1 plus monkey complement efficiently lysed all T lymphocytes, since no CAMPATH-1 positive cells or T lymphocytes stained with Leu2a and Leu3a could be detected by indirect immunofluorescence analysis after the incubation (see also chapter V). The elimination of the T lymphocyte subpopulations by complement with either OKT4+4a (CD4) or B9-pool (CD8) or WT 1 was also confirmed by immunofluorescence analysis. For the in vivo experiments, the preincubation cell dose was either 10^8 or 10^7 cells/kg body weight . After complement lysis of the T lymphocytes, the remaining cells were reinfused into the monkey.

Table 3.4

Regeneration time of reticulocytes following incubation of autologous rhesus monkey grafts with monoclonal antibodies and complement.

	cell dose per kg				
monoclonal antibody		observed	expected (95% conf. limits)	significance of difference	
CAMPATH-1	107	19	18 - 21	n.s.	
	108	10	8 - 13	n.s.	
B9	107	20	18 - 21	n.s.	
	108	10	8 - 13	n.s.	
OKT4+4a	107	19	18 - 21	n.s.	
WT-1	107	22	18 - 21	p < 0.05	

reticulocytes > 1 %

n.s.: not significant

Depletion of CAMPATH-1 or B9-pool positive cells did not influence the regeneration of the peripheral blood reticulocytes in 2 monkeys transplanted with either 10^8 cells/kg or 10^7 /kg body weight (Tables 3.4). Next, the influence of depleting OKT4+4a or WT 1 positive cells was investigated each in one monkey, each at the same cell dose, i.e. 10^7 /kg body weight (Table 3.4). Depletion of OKT4+4a (helper/inducer T lymphocytes) positive cells failed to

exert an influence on the repopulating capacity of the residual bone marrow cells (Tables 3.4). After elimination of WT 1 positive cells the leukocyte regeneration time was within the 95% confidence limits. The reticulocyte regeneration was just outside the 95% confidence limits, but within the 99% confidence limits (the latter are not shown) and, therefore, this difference is probably not of any biological significance.

3.5 DISCUSSION

In the rhesus monkey model the repopulating capacity of a bone marrow graft as measured by the regeneration rate of peripheral blood cells was directly related to the logarithm of the cell number present in an autologous bone marrow graft. The validity of this assay is demonstrated by the highly significant regression obtained and the substantial delay in regeneration time after grafting of bone marrow cells depleted of stem cells by anti-DR antibodies plus complement.

Several investigators (Spitzer et al., 1980; Harada et al., 1983; Meloni et al., 1985) have searched for a relationship between regeneration of peripheral blood cells and size of bone marrow grafts in human patients, but failed to demonstrate such a relationship. The explanation for the discrepancy between rhesus monkey and human results is most likely the small range in cell dose given in the human situation $(0.5 - 2 \times 10^8 \text{ cells/kg body weight})$ in comparison to the range of autologous bone marrow cells given in this study $(10^{6}-10^{8} \text{ cells/kg body weight})$. Besides, all patients have been heavily treated with myelosuppressive drugs prior to bone marrow collection, which could have an detrimental effect on the repopulating capacity of the marrow cells.

The survival of the 9,8 Gy irradiated, nongrafted monkeys is undoubtedly attributable to the profound antimicrobial therapy and the liberal platelet transfusions, which also holds true for the monkeys that received low numbers of bone marrow cells. Without such supportive care, these monkeys would have died prior to haemopoietic regeneration (Van Bekkum, 1967). The delayed reconstitution of the nongrafted monkeys is in accordance with the radiosensitivity of the haemopoietic stem cells. It is estimated that a rhesus monkey has approximately 8.4 x 10^{10} bone marrow cells (Pegg, 1966). The surviving number of stem cells was calculated to be equal to a bone marrow graft consisting of 0.3-1 x 10^6 cells/kg body weight. On the basis of these figures a D₀ of the rhesus monkey stem cells can be calculated using the formula; S=n x e^{-D/D0},
S: surviving fraction of bone marrow cells, n: a factor two is used because of the shoulder in the cell surviving curve at low doses of TBI, D: irradiation dose. According to this formula a D_0 of 0,8 - 0,9 Gy has been found.

The prolonged delay in regeneration time after depletion of DR positive cells, showed that toxicity to repopulating stem cells could be determined with this indirect assay. The repopulating capacity of the residual cells indicated that approximately a 2 log reduction haemopoietic stem cell number was caused by the anti-Dr antibody treatment. Complement toxicity could not attribute to this result because the same complement concentration was used for depletion of B9 positive cells, which did not cause a detectable significant delay of autologous reconstitution. Apparently, DR-antigens are present on rhesus monkey stem cells, similar as in of other mammalian species (Szer et al., 1985; Fitchen et al., 1981). The antigen is present on early, multipotent haemopoietic cells of humans (Fitchen et al., 1982) and non-human primates (Winton et al., 1985), grown in culture. Results of experiments with long term bone marrow cultures were in contrast with these findings in that colony growth was still observed after depletion of DR positive cells (Moore et al., 1980; Keating et al., 1984). However, this study and two other studies (Greenberger et al., 1985; Falkenburg et al., 1984, 1985) have revealed that the findings of Moore and Keating can be explained by inefficient complement mediated lysis of DR positive cells.

The delayed regeneration observed in our experiments does not conclusively prove that the DR antigen is present on the haemopoietic stem cell of rhesus monkeys, because the possibility remains that accessory cells, essential for repopulating stem cells, were removed. However, Visser et al. (1984) and Spangrude et al. (1988) have demonstrated that highly purified stem cells are able to repopulate a lethally irradiated, syngeneic recipient. The latter results do support the hypothesis that repopulating stem cells can repopulate a recipient without the help of other cells. In chapter IV of this thesis it is demonstrated that highly enriched stem cells are capable to repopulate the haemopoietic system of a recipient.

T lymphocyte depletion from autologous bone marrow grafts with a number of carefully selected monoclonal antibodies did not influence the repopulating capacity of the graft as measured by the reappearance of peripheral blood cells. Most convincing are the results with depletion of CAMPATH-1 positive cells from the bone marrow graft, since allogeneic bone marrow transplantation experiments (chapter V) have clearly demonstrated the efficient elimination of T lymphocytes by this technique.

The results with T lymphocyte depletion exclude the possibility that either T lymphocytes and stem cells share the antigens detected by the antibodies used in this study, since elimination of T lymphocytes by complement mediated lysis did not reduce the number of stem cells.

The hypothesis that T lymphocytes have a significant trophic function for repopulating stem cells, as proposed by Sieff et al. (1985) and Soderling et al. (1985), is excluded by our observations. The increased frequency of take failures observed after T lymphocyte depletion of allogeneic bone marrow grafts has therefore to be attributed to the diminution of the immunosuppressive action of the GvH reaction exercised by donor T lymphocytes. This conclusion is in complete accordance with the concept of reciprocal interference between GvHD and engraftment (Nakic, 1966; Vriesendorp, 1981). In dogs was demonstrated that transfusion of donor leukocytes or thoracic duct lymphocytes increased the engraftment of histoincompatible bone marrow, but also the incidence and severity of GvHD (Deeg et al., 1979).

CHAPTER IV

ENRICHMENT OF HAEMOPOIETIC STEM CELLS BY SELECTION OF DR POSITIVE CELLS FROM BONE MARROW

4.1 INTRODUCTION

The ablation of the capacity of an autologous bone marrow graft to repopulate an irradiated recipient by depletion of DR-positive cells; as reported in the previous chapter, in principle opens the possibility to sort stem cells by positive selection. From experiments with human bone marrow cells it is known that several cells types have a DR-antigen on their cell surface. Among human bone marrow cells which carry a DR-antigen on their cell membrane are B-lymphocytes, activated T lymphocytes, macrophages, monocytes and myeloid progenitor cells. The DR-antigen has been demonstrated on multipotential progenitor cells that produce colonies consisting of several cell lineages (CFU-GEMM; Fitchen et al., 1982; Ohe et al., 1982) as well as on progenitor cells committed to differentiation along either granulocyte-monocyte, or erythroid, or megakaryocyticplatelet pathway (Kaplan et al., 1978; Winchester et al., 1978; Falkenburg et al., 1985; Linch et al., 1984).

The experiments in this chapter deal with the repopulating capacity of purified stem cells. At the time of these experiments a monoclonal antibody, which exclusively reacts with pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells, was not discovered in any species. Purification of pluripotent stem cells of mice has been achieved with an anti-H2^k monoclonal antibody and sorting in combinations with a variety of other means (Visser et al., 1984).



Figure 4.1 Overview of the methods used for enrichment of haemopoietic progenitor cells

Using a series of steps analogous to those applied for the purification of murine stem cells, it was attempted to purify pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells of rhesus monkeys using a DR-antibody and a cell sorter. Since it is known that pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells constitute only a small proportion of cells in a bone marrow graft, other purification steps, involving density centrifugation and depletion of T lymphocytes, preceded the isolation of DR-positive cells by the cell sorter.

Before carrying out in vivo experiments to assess the repopulating ability of the purified cells, an in vitro colony assay (GM-CFU) was used to monitor the purification steps. After a reproducible method was developed which yielded highly purified stem cells, such stem cell concentrates were grafted into irradiated, autologous monkey recipient. Using the peripheral blood regeneration assay described in chapter III, a quantitative assessment of enrichment of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells was made.

4.2 IN VITRO EXPERIMENTS

Figure 4.1 shows the purification procedure, which started with the aspiration of bone marrow from the femoral shafts of the monkeys. Subsequently, a mononuclear cell suspension was prepared by density centrifugation followed by a discontinuous albumin density gradient. After enrichment of pluripotent stem cells, lymphocytes were removed by the antibody CAMPATH-1 plus complement. The last step was sorting DR-positive cells, using a cell sorter. The GM-CFU assay was applied to assess enrichment of pluripotent stem cells.

4.2.1 DENSITY CENTRIFUGATION AND DEPLETION OF LYMPHOCYTES

All experiments were performed with aspiration bone marrow. A ficoll-hypaque (LSM; density 1.077 g/l) density gradient was run to prepare a mononuclear cell suspension and to remove erythrocytes. This was advantageous since an abundant number of erythrocytes disturb a discontinuous albumin density gradient as well as GM-CFU cultures (Dicke 1970). After the ficoll density centrifugation was run, cells were collected from the interface.

Table 4.1

material CFU	recovery of nucleated cells (%)	recovery of colonies GM-CFU (%)	normalized recovery GM-CFU (%)	enrichment factor GM-
Ficoll	100	100	100	1
albumin gradie	nt			
fraction 19-21%	7 <u>+</u> 3*	101 <u>+</u> 46*	72 <u>+</u> 33	14,1 <u>+</u> 4,9
fraction 21-22%	16 <u>+</u> 5	28 <u>+</u> 13	20 <u>+</u> 10	1,7 <u>+</u> 0,5
fraction 22-23%	18 <u>+</u> 8	5 <u>+</u> 2	3 <u>+</u> 1	0,3 ± 0,2
fraction 23-25%	26 <u>+</u> 2	6 <u>+</u> 6	4 <u>+</u> 4	0,2 <u>+</u> 0,3
bottom	30 <u>+</u> 10	1 <u>±</u> 0,2	1 <u>+</u> 0	0,1 ± 0,02
recovery	98 <u>+</u> 8	140 <u>+</u> 40	100 <u>+</u> 29	

Distribution of nucleated cells and granulocyte/macrophage colonies (GM-CFU) in discontinuous albumin density gradients (N=4).

*: mean recovery and standard deviation of mean

In comparison to aspiration bone marrow $41.7 \pm 8.7\%$ of the nucleated cells and all GM-CFU's were recovered from the interface of a ficoll gradient (N=24). Since in this chapter recovery and enrichment is expressed in reference to the cell suspension, obtained after ficoll gradient, All enrichment factors should be factors should be multiplied by 2.4 when one wishes to express the enrichment - related to the aspiration bone marrow, i.e. the starting material.

A discontinuous albumin gradient consists of five layers with different density. The distribution of nucleated cells and GM-CFU's over the several layers after density centrifugation are shown in Table 4.1. The highest concentration of progenitor cells is found in the lightest density fraction of a discontinuous albumin gradient. This fraction contains 70% of all GM-CFU's. Since a proportion of all progenitor cells is recovered from this fraction, it was decided to avoid selection in this stage of the purification procedure and to collect all cells from the two top fractions. Eighteen percent of all nucleated cells are

64

recovered from these two light density fraction and approximately 90% of the GM-CFU's.

After collection of cells form the two light density fractions a cell suspension is obtained in which GM-CFU's are approximately 7 times enriched in comparison to the cell suspension harvested from the ficoll gradient.



Distribution of GM-CFU ± standard deviation (N=4)
= Distribution of cells

Figure 4.2 Distribution of GM-CFU's after cell sorting according to their light scatter pattern. Forward light scatter and Perpendicular light scatter

4.2.2 FORWARD AND PERPENDICULAR LIGHT SCATTER PROPERTIES

Forward light scatter of a laser beam is a function of cell size while perpendicular light scatter is a function of the shape of a cell. Van den Engh et al. (1978) and others (Visser et al., 1984; Bauman et al., 1986) have shown that pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells gave a high forward light scatter signal. Transplantation of cell suspensions obtained by counterflow centrifugation-elutriation has demonstrated that those bone marrow cells, which are capable to repopulate a lethally irradiated recipient, were recovered from the large cell fraction in humans (De Witte et al., 1983) as well as in rhesus monkeys (Monroy et al., 1986).

Cells from the combined two top fractions of a albumin gradient were analyzed for their forward and perpendicular light scatter characteristics. Distribution of cells and GM-CFU according to forward and perpendicular light scatter is depicted in Figure 4.2. In the fraction with a high forward light scatter signal a minority of the nucleated cells was found, but this fraction contained 80% of all the GM-CFU's. GM-CFU's were equally distributed over the different fractions of perpendicular light scatter, indicating that this parameter can not be used for purification.

4.2.3 SURFACE MARKERS OF GM-CFU

With the fluorescence activated cell sorter (FACS) it is possible to isolate cells on the basis of the parameters scatter and fluorescence. For optimal use of the latter parameter several MCA's directed against human myeloid cells were analyzed for their reactivity pattern with GM-CFU's of rhesus monkeys. The antibodies GM1 (Jonker, Primate Center TNO) and OKT10 (Crawford et al., 1981; Sieff et al., 1982) react with the majority of cells which give progeny to colonies consisting of granulocytes and macrophages in humans as well as in rhesus monkeys (see Table 4.2). This means that these antibodies react with either haemopoietic stem cells or with committed precursor cells or with both. Sorting of cells, positive for one of these antibodies, did not result in a marked enrichment of GM-CFU's. enrichment of GM-CFU. Similar results were obtained with other monoclonal antibodies directed against the DR antigen, such as the antibodies YCL 6.8, YAML 555.6 and HLA-DR.

My4 (Griffin, 1983) and Mo1 (Griffin, 1983: a gift from Coulter Immunology) did not react with myeloid progenitor cells (Table 4.2).

Table 4.2

Surface antigens on progenitor cells in rhesus monkeys.

monoclonal	positive	GM-CFU/10 ⁵		
antibody	cells	negative	positive	
		fraction	fraction	
none		170 -	<u>+</u> 25	
GM-1	50%	32 ± 15 (14%)	195 <u>+</u> 45 (84%)	
GM-11	32%	28 <u>+</u> 8 (11%)	495 <u>+</u> 101 (89%)	
Mo1	12%	122 <u>+</u> 31 (95%)	50 <u>+</u> 36 (5%)	
My4	18%	180 <u>+</u> 29 (93%)	60 ± 29 (7%)	
OKT10	67%	32 ± 10 (7%)	228 ± 61 (93%)	

The antibodies RFB-1 (a gift form Dr Bodger, New Zealand; Bodger, 1983) and My10 (Strauss, 1987) react with the CD34 antigen present on early progenitor cells in human bone marrow but according to our own determination they react not with rhesus monkey bone marrow cells.

None of the antibodies reacted exclusively with cells which give progeny to GM-CFU's. Therefore, it was decided to purify pluripotent stem cells on the analogy of the purification procedure for mouse stem cells. Mouse stem cells were purified by using a density gradient, a preselection with wheatgerm agglutinin and a final selection on basis of the expression of a class I antigen (H2^k). The purification procedure for rhesus monkey stem cells was slightly modified.



Figure 4.3 Distribution of cells according to the parameters forward light scatter and fluorescence intensity after labelling with YAML 555.6 (anti-DR) and GARA/FITC.

After preparation of a stem cell enriched cell suspension using the discontinuous albumin density gradient, lymphocytes were eliminated by a treatment with the antibody CAMPATH-1 plus complement. Subsequently, bone marrow cells were sorted on the expression of the DR-antigen using the antibody YAML 555.6 (Swirsky et al., 1983).

The complement lysis of lymphocytes resulted in a recovery of 11.1% of nucleated cells, $76 \pm 9\%$ recovery of GM-CFU's and 12.5-fold enrichment of these progenitor cells in comparison to the suspension harvested from ficoll.

Table 4.3

Distribution of GM-CFU over the parameters forward light scatter and reactivity with the anti-Dr antibody YAML 555.6 (N=4).

Cell fractions	percentage total nucl. cells	GM-CFU/ 10 ⁵	recovery of GM-CFU	enrichment factor
ficoll	100	59 <u>+</u> 11	100,0 <u>+</u> 18,6%	1 ± 0,2
CAMPATH-1	12,8	583 <u>+</u> 145	95,6 <u>+</u> 27,5%	10 <u>+</u> 2,4
sort control	12,8	418 <u>+</u> 63	118,0 ± 16,7%	8 <u>+</u> 1
Cell sorting:				
FLS Dr-antigen				
low negative (Ia	*) 1,2	214 <u>+</u> 27	4,3 <u>+</u> 0,6%	3 <u>+</u> 0,4
low positive (Ib)	3,9	624 <u>+</u> 30	14,8 <u>+</u> 1,9%	10 <u>+</u> 0,5
high negative (IIa	a) 1,4	225 <u>+</u> 51	9,0 <u>+</u> 2,6%	4 <u>+</u> 0,8
high dull (IIb)	1,4	2224 <u>+</u> 224	47,3 ± 5,9%	37 <u>+</u> 4,2
high bright (IIc)	2,7	1772 <u>+</u> 145	63,5 <u>+</u> 7,2%	29 <u>+</u> 2,5
recovery			139,0 <u>+</u> 18,2%	

abbreviations: FLS= forward light scatter; DR-FITC= fluorescence intensity of antibody YAML and GARA/FITC. *: numbers as shown in Figure 4.3 Mean values of four sort experiments. Enrichment factor is calculated in reference to the ficoll cell suspension.

4.2.4 PURIFICATION BY MULTIPLE PARAMETERS

When the experiments were started to purify haemopoietic stem cells, a cell sorter with three parameters namely forward light scatter, perpendicular light scatter and fluorescence was available. So far, the purification procedure consisted of density centrifugation, collection of light density cells, from a discontinuous albumin density gradient, elimination of lymphocytes by the antibody CAMPATH-1 plus complement, and sorting on basis of the light scatter properties (see also Figure 4.1). The cell sorter offered the opportunity to select cells also on their reactivity pattern with the anti-DR monoclonal antibody YAML 555.6 (Swirsky et al., 1983) and counterstained with GARA/ FITC. The labelled cells with YAML 555.6 were first separated on basis of a low or high forward light scatter signal. Secondly, a further selection was possible on the expression of the antibody YAML 555.6. Among the cells with a low forward light scatter, cells were present which reacted positively or negative with the anti-DR antibody. Cells with a high forward light scatter could be divided in cells reacting negative, positive (dull fluorescence signal) and strong positive (bright fluorescence signal) with the antibody. So, five cell clusters could be distinguished according to the parameters forward light scatter and green fluorescence signal (Figure 4.3). Using electronic sorting windows these cell populations were sorted and the functional properties of these cells were analyzed in the GM-CFU assay. At first, the cells were divided in a population with a low (cell population I) and a high forward light scatter signal (cell population II). Secondly, cells were distinguished according to their reactivity pattern with the anti-DR antibody YAML 555.6. A negative cell population (Ia) and a positive cell population (Ib) was seen in the cell population with a low forward light scatter signal. Three subpopulations could be distinguished in the cell population with a high forward light scatter (IIa: neagtive, IIb: dull fluorescence, IIc: bright fluorescence). Table 4.3 shows the enrichment and distribution of GM-CFU's over these cell clusters defined by forward light scatter and expression of the DR antigen. The highest concentration of GM-CFU's were found in the cell populations characterized by high forward light scatter and a dull (cell population IIb; see Figure 4.3) or bright (cell population IIc; see Figure 4.3) fluorescence signal. A mean 37 and 29-fold enrichment in comparison to the ficoll cell suspension was found respectively. The enrichment in reference to the starting material, i.e. aspiration bone marrow, can be

calculated by multiplying the enrichment factors with a factor 2.4. The result of such a calculation is that GM-CFU's were 89 and 70-fold enriched in the cell populations with a dull (IIb) and bright (IIc) fluorescence signal respectively. These results also indicated that labelling progenitor cells with the antibody YAML 555.6 did not influence the proliferation of these cells in vitro.

4.3 IN VIVO EXPERIMENTS WITH CONCENTRATES OF PLURIPOTENT HAEMOPOETIC STEM CELLS

For assessment of enrichment of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells, the regeneration assay described in chapter III was used. This autologous transplantation assay is based upon the determinations that the regeneration rate of peripheral blood cells is directly related to the size of autologous bone marrow grafts which reflects the number of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells in a marrow graft. The purification steps were monitored for the presence of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells. These experiments were performed to verify whether the GM-CFU's values correlated with the in vivo results.

4.3.1 DISCONTINUOUS ALBUMIN DENSITY GRADIENT

One monkey was transplanted with 3 x 10⁶ cells/kg body weight of the top fraction of a discontinuous albumin density gradient. This fraction contained 5.8% of total nucleated cells and 71% (normalized value) of the GM-CFU's were found in this fraction. The enrichment factor for GM-CFU's was calculated to be 8.5 ± 1.4 . After autologous transplantation of these cells, leukocyte counts rose above 10⁹/l at day 20 and reticulocyte counts were greater than 1% at day 19. In figure 4.4 it is illustrated in what way these findings were used to calculate the repopulating capacity of the marrow graft. Day 19 of the reticulocytes corresponds with a bone marrow graft of 12.1 x 10⁶ unseparated cells /kg body weight. From these figures it can be concluded that there is a significant 4-fold (2.7- 5.7) enrichment of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells.

Leukocytes counts could not be used for the calculation of enrichment because of the low slope of the regression line and the broad 95% confidence range as has been discussed in detail in chapter III.



Figure 4.4 Assessment of enrichment of purified cells using the regeneration assay of reticulocytes.

4.3.2 ELIMINATION OF LYMPHOCYTES

After a discontinuous albumin density gradient cells from the two top fraction were collected. It was decided to collect cells from the top fraction as well as cells from the second layer since in this way almost all haemopoietic stem cells would be recovered. Lymphocytes were eliminated from this light density cell suspension by complement mediated lysis using the antibody CAMPATH-1. This resulted in a 10-fold enrichment of GM-CFU's with 9.7% of the nucleated cells in comparison to the ficoll cell suspension. After autologous trans-plantation of 1 x 10⁷ cells/kg body weight reticulocytes reappeared at day 9, which means that the number of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells in this graft was equivalent to the numbers present in an unmanipulated bone marrow graft of 1.3 x 10⁸ cells/kg body weight (range:0.74-2.37 x 10⁸ cells/kg body weight). Since the

expected regeneration of reticulocytes was between day 18 and 21 on basis of the cell number grafted, the observed regeneration at day 9 indicates a significant enrichment of 13 times, which agrees with the enrichment of GM-CFU's.

4.3.3 FORWARD LIGHT SCATTER PROPERTIES OF PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

So far, the experiments have demonstrated that both concentration of stem cells by density centrifugation and depletion of lymphocytes are feasible methods to use without loosing the repopulating capability of a bone marrow graft. The next step to isolate cells was to use a light activated cell sorter. The first parameter to be tested was the forward light scatter in view of the results with GM-CFU. Since the optimal sorting speed is approximately 2500 cells per second, it is advisable to preconcentrate the desired cells. On basis of the former experiments the stem cells were concentrated by an albumin density gradient. Cells were collected from the top fraction of the gradient and sorted according to an high forward light scatter signal. After the gradient 3.6% of the cells were recovered and 40% of the GM-CFU's. After sorting 1.3% of the cells were recovered and the enrichment factor on basis of GM-CFU counts was 11.5. Transplantation of 1.5 x 10⁶ autologous bone marrow cells/kg body weight, which were isolated on basis of light density and high forward light scatter, resulted in a regeneration of reticulocytes (> 1%) at day 19. This corresponds with a bone marrow graft size of 12.1 x 10⁶ /kg and an enrichment factor of 8.1 (range: 5.7-11.5). Although the recovery of stem cells is not optimal in this experiment, the significant enrichment demonstrates that forward light scatter can be used as parameter for isolation of cells with repopulating capacity.

4.3.4 OPSONIZATION OF LABELLED HAEMOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

On basis of previous experiments described above, it would be logical to purify pluripotent stem cells by a combination of density centrifugation, elimination of lymphocytes, forward light scatter. Since elimination of Dr positive cells resulted in markedly delayed regeneration, positive selection of repopulating stem cells would be a logical step in a purification procedure. This latter step includes that cells, labelled with an antibody, have to be injected into a monkey, which could lead to either complement mediated lysis or antigen modulation or phagocytosis of the labelled cells (van den Engh et al., 1978; Bauman et al., 1985). Incubation of labelled cells with autologous complement did not result in a reduction of the number of GM-CFU's (data not shown). Since it is known that the Dr-antigen has an important function in immunological reactions, antigen modulation could chance the function of the labelled progenitor cells. Therefore, cells collected from the top fractions of a discontinuous albumin gradient were incubated with the antibody YAML and GARA/FITC.



Figure 4.5 Influence of 37^0 C on the stability of binding of the antibody YAML 555.6 and GARA/FITC at bone marrow cells.

Thereafter these cells were resuspended in a medium containing 20% autologous serum and placed in an incubator at 37^0 C. At different time intervals the fluorescence intensity and the percentage positive cells were measured to investigate if the antigen-antibody complex with GARA/FITC was modulated. As is shown in Figure 4.5, the number of labelled cells as well as the fluorescence intensity

remained stable during a period of incubation of 24 hours. Autologous bone marrow graft consisting of 10⁸ cells/kg body weight was incubated with the monoclonal antibodies YAML and GARA/FITC and injected into a monkey which was prepared by 9.8 Gy total body irradiation (double beam). The regeneration pattern of leukocytes and reticulocytes were identical to that of a monkey which received an untreated bone marrow graft. This result demonstrates that these incubated bone marrow cells were not eliminated, but retained their capacity to repopulate an irradiated recipient monkey.

Table 4.4

Concentration of repopulating pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells (PHSC) calculated from reticulocyte regeneration rate.

		cell dose			cell dose	PHSC	
	(x 106/kg	<u>Reticulo</u>	<u>cyte > 1%</u>	fitting to	enrichment	
FLS	DR b	ody weight)	expected	d observed	regr. line	factor	
low	++ (Ib*)	0,5	32	23	4,7	9,4	
high	+ (IIb)	0,7	31	16	24,8	35,4	
high	++ (IIc)	0,5	32	17	19,5	39,0	
all	- (Ia+IIa) 0,6	31	>22	<5,9	<9,6	

FLS: Forward light scatter, DR: expression of the anti DR antibody YAML 555.6, regr.: regression, PHSC: pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells

*: numbers as shown in Figure 4.3

4.3.5. POSITIVE SELECTION OF HAEMOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

The final step in the purification procedure was isolation of bone marrow cells according to the parameters forward light scatter and reactivity pattern with an indirect labelled anti-Dr antibody, called YAML (see also figure 4.1 and 4.3). Using the modified FACS II, autologous bone marrow cells were sorted and small numbers of cells were injected into an irradiated recipient. On basis of the regeneration rate of reticulocytes, the repopulating capacity of the purified cells

could be calculated (Table 4.4). Transplantation of Dr-negative cells gave no regeneration of peripheral blood cells. The monkey died after 22 days due to sepsis secondary to bone marrow aplasia. At autopsy total bone marrow aplasia was observed.

Cells which were Dr-positive and which gave a low forward light scatter signal, (cell population Ib; see Figure 4.3) had some repopulating ability.

Table 4.5.

forward light scatter	reactivity with Dr-antibody	% of total nucl. cells	enrich- ment	recovery
low + high	negative	2,7%	< 6	13,5%
low	positive	1,6%	9,4	15,0%
high	dull positive	1,4%	35	49,0%
high	bright positive	0,7%	39	27,3%
Total				104,8%

Recovery of cells with repopulating ability.

Transplantation of cells with a high forward light scatter and a dull fluorescence signal with the anti-Dr antibody (cell population IIb; see Figure 4.3) resulted in a regeneration of reticulocytes at day 16, which meant a 36.3 (range: 21-64) times enrichment. A graft consisting of cells sorted on basis of a high forward light scatter signal and bright fluorescence signal with the anti-Dr antibody (cell population IIc; see Figure 4.3), showed a different regeneration pattern of reticulocytes. At day 9 reticulocyte counts rose above 1%, but dropped at day 13 and rose again at day 17. This latter day was taken for calculation of the enrichment, since after day 17 the regeneration of reticulocytes showed a normal pattern. The enrichment factor was calculated to be 39.7 (range: 23-70) times. On basis of the percentage of total nucleated cells and the enrichment factors calculated, a recovery can be estimated (Table 4.5). The distribution of stem cells over the different cell clusters is similar to the distribution of progenitor cells with 76% of stem cells characterized by high forward light scatter and positive reaction with the Dr-antibody.

Leukocyte regeneration was comparable to the regeneration rate of reticulocytes in the animals, which received a bone marrow graft consisting of either Dr-negative cells or cells with low forward light scatter signal and Dr-positive signal, while in the other two monkeys, the regeneration rate of leukocytes was slower in comparison to reticulocyte regeneration. However, the number of platelet transfusions required was within normal limits, indicating clearly that the bone marrow graft consisted of multipotent stem cells (Figure 4.6 + 4.7).



Figure 4.6 Regeneration of thrombocytes after transplantation of cells selected on the basis of DR expression and forward light scatter. Fraction IIb; high forward light scatter and strong expression of the DR-antigen.

4.4 ANALYSIS OF GM-CFU BY DOUBLE FLUORESCENCE ANALYSIS

Further enrichment was possible when a new cell sorter was build in our laboratory. This experimental light activated cell sorter was able to identify more than three parameters and for immunofluorescence analysis a second laser beam was available.

The availability of the fluorescent dye phycoerythrin (PE) allowed further purification since two color immunofluorescence can be obtained using a single wavelength excitation when PE is paired with FITC.As stated before, not only lymphocytes and activated T lymphocytes, but also some macrophages, monocytes and committed progenitor cells have the Dr-antigen on their cell surface. The antibody My4 reacts in humans with monocytes and promonocytes (Griffin et al., 1983). These two cell types also express Dr-antigens on their cell surface. Both the antibody Mo1 and an anti-Dr antibody recognize monocytes, promonocytes and myeloblasts (not identical to cells which produce granulocytes and monocytes). Besides these cells the antibody Mo1 is directed against promyelocytes, myelocytes and polymorphs (Griffin et al., 1983). The antibody Mo1 as well as My4 crossreact with rhesus monkey cells (Letvin et al., 1983) and does not react with cells which produce GM-CFU's (Table 4.2).



Figure 4.6 Regeneration of thrombocytes after transplantation of cells selected on the basis of DR expression and forward light scatter. Fraction IIc; high forward light scatter and very strong expression of the DR-antigen.

A pilot experiment showed that there is a small cell population in rhesus bone marrow which has only the Dr-antigen on their cell surface and <u>not</u> the antibodies CAMPATH-1 and Mo1. Selection of those cells which gave a high forward light scatter signal, had the DR-antigen on their cell surface and not the antibodies CAMPATH-1 and Mo1 lead to further enrichment of GM-CFU (Table 4.6).

Table 4.6

Purification of progenitor cells using a discontinuous albumin density gradient and multiple parameter cell sorter.

cell material		per cent of total nucl cells	GM-CFU/ 10 ⁵	enrichment factor	recovery %
Ficoll		100	15	1	100
albumin gra top fraction	ndient ns	12	110	7,3	86
high fls/low _I DR/PE CA	ols window: MPATH-1+Mo1/FIT	С			
pos	neg	0,039	2540	169	66
pos	pos	0,84	300	20	17
neg	pos+neg	2,12	30	2	4
all cells ou	tside this window	8,7	160	10,6	38

total nucl cells: total nucleated cells; DR/PE: anti HLA-Dr directly coupled to phycoerythrin; pos: positive, neg: negative

4.4 DISCUSSION

These experiments were primarily carried out to conduct enrichment procedures to be used for human progenitor cells in a preclinical rhesus monkey model. Therefore, monoclonal antibodies directed against human myeloid progenitor cells were used with rhesus monkey bone marrow. Studies with monoclonal antibodies directed against human granulocytes (Letvin et al., 1983) and lymphocytes (Jonker, 1984, 1986; Hansen, 1984) have demonstrated that these antibodies react with the same antigenic structures in several primates.

The first steps in the purification procedure consisted of density centrifugation. According to the results of Dicke (1970) and Moore et al.(1972), rhesus monkey pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells were recovered from the light density fractions of a discontinuous albumin density gradient as has been demonstrated in the GM-CFU assay as well as in the in vivo experiments. Depletion of lymphocytes had no influence on the colony growth, which is in agreement with results with human bone marrow (Martin et al., 1985; Granger et al., 1982; Berenson et al., 1984). Scatter of light by cells in flow gave a distribution of rhesus bone marrow cells according to their size and shape. The distribution is very similar to human bone marrow cells. GM-CFU's and pluripotent stem cells were recovered from the fractions with a high forward light scatter signal. Experiments with human bone marrow cells using either cell sorters or counterflow elutriation centrifugation did also show that myeloid progenitor cells can be identified by a high forward scatter signal (Beverley t al., 1980; Mouchiroud et al., 1985; Bodger et al., 1983; de Witte et al., 1984).

Since several antibodies directed against human cells crossreact with rhesus monkey cells, they could be used in this preclinical model. Since none of the tested antibodies reacted exclusively with GM-CFU's, the anti-DR antibody YAML 555.6 was applied to purify pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells on the analogy of the purification of mouse stem cells (Visser et al., 1984). Positive selection of haemopoietic stem cells was not accompanied by the problem of opsonization in contrast to the situation in mice (Van de Engh et al., 1983; Bauman et al., 1985). In the murine experiments an increase in antibody concentration was associated with a loss of stem cells. A high concentration of GAM/FITC protected the labelled cells from opsonization in one mouse strain. In the murine experiments, a 50% loss of stem cells was measured when a relatively high concentration of antibody was used. Since in our experiments a

relatively low concentration of antibody was used and a high concentration of conjugate was applied, this could be an explanation for the fact that opsonization was not observed. On the other hand our regeneration assay is not accurately enough to observe a significant reduction of stem cells in the order of 50% or less.

These experiments have demonstrated that the highest concentration of GM-CFU was found in the cell populations characterized by a high forward light scatter signal and a weak (dull fluorescence) or strong (bright fluorescence) expression of the DR antigen. The GM-CFU were 30-37 fold enriched in comparison to the cell suspension harvested from the ficoll gradient. In agreement with the in vitro data pluripotent stem cells were found in the same cell populations. A 40-fold enrichment of pluripotent stem cells was achieved in comparison to the ficoll cell suspension. In comparison to the starting material, i.e. aspiration bone marrow, a 90-fold enrichment was achieved. Dicke et al (1973) determined that the number of pluripotent stem cells in aspiration rhesus monkey bone marrow was approximately 0.5-0.7%. Thus, a cell suspension consisting of pure stem cells would require an enrichment of 143-200 fold. Since in our experiments an enrichment of 90-fold was found, further enrichment is required when a pure stem cell populations is desired.

A pilot experiment has revealed that the antibody Mo1 can be used in combination with the antibody CAMPATH-1 for the identification of committed progenitor cells which have also the DR antigen on their cell surface. More preferable would be antibody which identify early progenitor cells such as the My10 (CD34) in man. Recently, a CD34 antibody has been described which identify early progenitor cells in baboons (Berenson et al., 1988) and rhesus monkeys (Wielenga et al., 1989).

The calculation of enrichment of stem cells on basis of the GM-CFU assay corresponded very well with the results of the in vivo experiments. The feeder layer of leukocytes produce apparently sufficient growth factors for stem cells to differentiate along the granulocyte-macrophage pathway. This observation is important for further experiments because these experiments have proven that enrichment of pluripotent stem cells can be assayed in vitro as good as in vivo.

CHAPTER V

RADIATION DOSE REQUIRED FOR ENGRAFTMENT OF 2 LOG T LYMPHOCYTE DEPLETED BONE MARROW GRAFTS

5.1 INTRODUCTION

The direct relationship between the number of donor T lymphocytes and the incidence of acute Graft-versus-Host Disease (GvHD) was established two decades ago in mice (van Bekkum et al., 1964). Several methods for selective elimination of lymphocytes were developed and applied. All showed that T lymphocyte depletion did indeed prevent acute GvHD. Prevention of acute GvHD could not only be achieved in species with a low proportion of T lymphocytes in bone marrow such as rodents (Dicke et al., 1968; Vallera et al., 1981; Rodt et al., 1974) and dogs (Kolb et al., 1979) but also in rhesus monkeys with a relatively high proportion of T lymphocytes in bone marrow (Wagemaker et al., 1982). It was also established in experimental animals that T lymphocyte depletion of the graft may cause a high incidence of engraftment failures (Vriesendorp et al., 1982; Wagemaker et al., 1982). The logical conclusion of these observations was that donor T lymphocytes exert an immunosuppressive action (the Graft-versus-Host reaction) which suppresses the Host-versus-Graft reaction. Abrogation of the acute GvH reaction by T lymphocyte depletion will require additional suppression of the Host-versus-Graft reaction since the Hostversus-Graft reaction may get stronger. After establishing the reciprocal interference (Vriesendorp et al., 1981) between Graft-versus-Host reaction and Host-versus-Graft reaction, conditioning schemes were developed for the promotion of engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. In our dog and rhesus monkey models for bone marrow transplantation, a high dose of total body irradiation was effective in preventing engraftment failures of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts.

Unmodified bone marrow grafts from DLA-identical siblings engrafted in 10/10 dogs after conditioning with 7.5 Gy total body irradiation. Transplantation of stem cell enriched T lymphocyte depleted marrow grafts resulted in 4/7 engraftment failures with the same irradiation dose. When the dose of irradiation was increased to either 2 x 4.5 Gy (5/5 dogs) or 2 x 6.0 Gy (7/7 dogs) with a 72 hours interval (Walma et al., 1987) engraftment was uniformly observed. In rhesus monkeys similar results were obtained with T lymphocyte depleted unrelated bone marrow grafts. A single dose of 8.5 Gy total body irradiation resulted in engraftment of 5 out of 18 recipient monkeys. When the conditioning regimen was changed to 2 x 7 Gy (72 hour interval) take failures were no longer observed (Wagemaker et al., 1982).

A disadvantage of higher doses of total body irradiation is the increased toxicity especially to the gastrointestinal tract and the lungs. Previous experiments in dogs and rhesus monkeys did not give exact information on the minimal dose of irradiation required to prevent graft rejection completely when T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts were transplanted. Therefore, graded doses of total body irradiation were administered to rhesus monkeys which received T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. Since the problem of engraftment failure is especially encountered in mismatched donor-recipient combinations, unrelated, mismatched donors were used in this study.

5.2. ENGRAFTMENT OF 2 LOG T LYMPHOCYTE DEPLETED BONE MARROW GRAFTS

Donor monkeys were sacrificed for these experiments and bone marrow was extruded from the bones by pressure. A buffy-coat cell suspension was prepared by centrifugation. The cell yield from a single donor was $1-2 \times 10^{10}$ cells which is sufficient for 3-4 recipients. Buffy coat cells were layered on top of a discontinuous albumin density gradient. In a discontinuous albumin density gradient T lymphocytes and myeloid progenitor cells are concentrated in different fractions (Figure 5.1). A T lymphocyte depleted, stem cell enriched cell suspension was collected from the two low density fractions in top of a gradient. In these low density fractions the percentage T lymphocytes is still comparable to the concentration of T lymphocytes in the initial cell suspension. However, since stem cell concentration results in an approximately 8-10 fold

lower number of nucleated cells required for sustained engraftment the absolute number of T lymphocytes grafted is correspondingly decreased (Wagemaker et al., 1982). Accordingly, stem cell concentration results in approximately one log T lymphocyte depletion (Table 5.1).



Figure 5.1 Distribution of GM-CFU and T lymphocytes from Rhesus monkey bone marrow over a discontinuous albumin gradient.

Table 5.1

Enrichment	of GM-CFU	by a disc	ontinuous	albumin	density	gradient	and	deple-
tion of T ly	ymphocytes b	y E-roset	te sedimer	itation.		0		-

bone marrow fraction	enrichment of GM-CFU	graft size in tnc/kg b.w. (x 10 ⁸)	E-RFC (%)	E-RFC/ kg b.w. (x 10 ⁸)	depletion factor
buffy coat	1	4	5	0,2	0
low density fraction	8,4	0,5	5	0,02	10x
E-rosette sedimentation	10,6	0,25	0,20	0,0005	400x

The results of one representative experiment. E-RFC = E-rosette forming cells; tnc = total nucleated cells; kg b.w. = kilogram body weight

Using the property of T lymphocytes to form rosettes with sheep red blood cells, the remaining T lymphocytes were removed from the stem cell fractions by E-rosette sedimentation. After this step a bone marrow graft of 2.5×10^7 nucleated cells/kg body weight could be given since the progenitor cells were further enriched. Such a graft contained 0.2-0.5% T lymphocytes (= E-rosette forming cells) corresponding to a 2-3 log depletion of T lymphocytes (Table 5.1) as compared to unmodified bone marrow.

Recipients of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts were prepared for grafting by fractionated total body irradiation with an interval of 24 hours. Graded doses of total body irradiation were administered in a range of $2 \ge 4.2$ Gy to $2 \ge 6.1$ Gy (Figure 5.2). Up to a dose of $2 \ge 5.2$ Gy engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts was not documented.



Figure 5.2 Dose-effect relationship between fractionated total body irradiation (X-rays; 2 fractions with 24 hours interval) and engraftment of 2 log T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts in rhesus monkeys. Unrelated, mismatched donor-recipients combinations.

An increment of the irradiation dose with 1-2 Gy resulted in sustained engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. These results demonstrate that a steep dose-effect relationship exists between the dose of fractionated total body irradiation (24 hours interval) and engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts as illustrated in Figure 5.2.

5.3 LATE REJECTION OF MORE THAN 3 LOG LYMPHO-CYTE DEPLETED BONE MARROW GRAFTS

A dose of 2×6 Gy total body irradiation was sufficient for engraftment of 2 log T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. Since earlier experiments have shown that a 2 log T-lymphocyte depletion is not sufficient in preventing completely acute GvHD in unrelated, mismatched donor-recipient combinations, it was investigated whether 2×6 Gy total body irradiation would result in engraftment of more than 3 log T-lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts.



time post transplantation (day)

Figure 5.3 Regeneration of leukocytes after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation with 3 log T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. UMN= unique monkey number

Two rhesus monkeys were conditioned by 2 x 6.0 Gy total body irradiation (24 hours interval; X-rays) and given a bone marrow graft from which Tlymphocytes were depleted by a combination of albumin gradient, E-rosette sedimentation and complement lysis of T-lymphocytes using the antibody CAMPATH-1 plus complement. A discontinuous albumin gradient followed by E-rosette sedimentation deplete 2-3 log T lymphocytes (Table 5.1). Complement lysis of T lymphocytes with CAMPATH-1 plus complement depletes also 2-3 log T lymphocytes. Therefore, it was assumed that these methods would deplete more than 3 log T lymphocytes. After T lymphocyte depletion by these two methods, T lymphocytes were not detected using the E-rosette forming method for enumeration of T lymphocytes. As shown in Figure 5.3 peripheral blood cell counts rose around day 20. After transplantation of a 2 log T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow graft, leukocyte counts continued to rise to normal values. A gradual decrease in leukocyte counts was observed after 25 days posttransplantation when 3 log T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts were administered. Leukocytes of monkey 1MM were of both recipient and donor type at day 25. At day 32 these cells were of recipient type indicating graft rejection had occurred in monkey 1MM. The leukocytes of monkey 1PW were of donor type at day 32, 38 and 42, but at day 45 posttransplantation the cells were both of donor and recipient. Monkey 1 MM was killed after 32 days when it was become transfusion dependent. Monkey 1PW died after 45 days from Cytomegaly virus pneumonitis. The phenomenon of late rejection was not observed when T-lymphocytes were depleted by stem cell enrichment and Erosette sedimentation alone.

5.4 TOXICITY OF THE CONDITIONING REGIMENS

Autologous bone marrow transplantations were performed to determine the toxicity of the conditioning regimen. The monkeys were prepared for bone marrow grafting by 2 x 5.6 Gy total body irradiation. This was the minimal dose of irradiation required for engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. Four monkeys were given either an unmodified, autologous bone marrow graft, consisting of 5 x 10^7 cells/kg body weight, or a T lymphocyte depleted, stem cell enriched bone marrow graft consisting of 0.9 x 10^7 cells/kg body weight. Concentration factor for GM-CFU was 7.5 and 6.1, which means that

approximately an equal numbers of progenitor cells were present in both unmodified marrow grafts and T lymphocyte depleted marrow grafts.

Table 5.2

Incidence of radiation induced, acute exsudative pneumonitis following total body irradiation and autologous bone marrow transplantation in rhesus monkeys. Monkeys which survived for more than 2 months after transplantation.

UMN	DOSE OI	FIRRADIATION (Gy)	SURVIVAL TIME	RADIATION	
	TBI	LUNG DOSE	(Days)	PNEUMONITIS	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		······································	
1 GA	9.35	10.45	80	+	
1 LP	9.40	10.45	> 100	-	
1 LG	9.45	10.50	87	-	
1 NN	9.50	10.50	> 100	-	
1 OT	9.50	10.50	> 100	-	
1 LQ	9.50	10.55	87	-	
1 TO	9.55	10.55	> 100	-	
1 MY	9.65	10.55	67	-	
1 QT	9.65	10.55	87	-	
1 KK	9.70	10.60	60	+	
1 SN	9.80	10.60	93	+	
1 HH	9.85	10.60	> 100	+	
1 HW	9.85	10.70	61	+	
1 HJ	2 x 5.6	2 x 6.1	59	+	
1 AT	2 x 5.6	2 x 6.1	87	+	

TBI: total body irradiation, UMN; unique monkey number

The monkeys survived for 40, 53, 59 and 87 days. At the time of death normal peripheral blood cell counts were documented. At the autopsy whitish nodules were predominantly seen in liver and spleen of monkey 1AT and bacterial cultures revealed that these organs were infiltrated with Yersinia pseudotuber-

culosis. Monkey 2AW suffered from dyspnea and at autopsy pneumocystis carinii were observed in the lungs. The other two monkeys (1FB and 1HJ) lived longer and died from interstitial pneumonitis without positive viral or bacterial cultures.

Since irradiation had most probably induced these lesions in the lungs, it was decided to review all recipients, which were given autologous bone marrow grafts and which survived for more than 60 days, for signs of radiation pneumonitis at autopsy. The results of this survey is shown in Table 5.3. After preparation of recipients with a single beam X-ray signs of exsudative radiation pneumonitis was observed in 5 out of 13 monkeys. The frequency of pneumonitis was 1 out of 9 when monkeys received a total lung dose of 10.45 - 10.55 Gy. When a total lung dose was 10.60 Gy or higher the frequency of pneumonitis was 4 out of 4 monkeys suggesting a steep dose-effect relation between irradiation dose and the induction of radiation induced pneumonitis.

Table 5.4

Engraftment, severity of Graft-versus-Host Disease and survival of monkeys which received a T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow graft from unrelated, mismatched donors.

UMN	Irradiation dose (Gy)	Engraftment	survival (days)	cause of death	GvHD grading
1 EP	2 x 5.6	+	34	CMV	0
1 CC	2 x 6.1	+	24	sepsis	I
1 EG	2 x 6.1	+	34	CMV	II

UMN: unique monkey number, GvHD: Graft-versus-Host Disease, CMV: Cytomegaly virus

5.5 ENGRAFTMENT AND ACUTE GVHD

Three monkeys were conditioned with either 2 x 5.6 Gy or 2 x 6.1 Gy (unilateral total body irradiation) and received T lymphocyte depleted bone

marrow grafts from unrelated, mismatched donors. They survived for 34, 24 and 34 days respectively. Survival was significantly prolonged in comparison with historical controls. In this donor-recipient combination (unrelated and totally mismatched for the MHC-antigens) survival ranged from 8-17 days (N=7: Wagemaker, 1982). Historical control monkeys, which were given unmodified bone marrow grafts, all died from severe GvHD (grade III), while the recipients of T lymphocyte depleted grafts died from complications secondary to the transplantation procedure such as Cytomegaly virus (CMV) infection and bacterial infections (Table 5.4). Only mild signs of acute GvHD were seen (Table 5.4).

5.6 DISCUSSION

It is estimated that approximately 60-70% of patients who might benefit from a bone marrow transplant will not have an HLA-identical sibling as donor. Therefore it was attempted to use HLA-nonidentical siblings as donors. In humans (Hansen et al., 1986; Powles et al., 1983), dogs (Vriesendorp, 1985) as well as rhesus monkeys (Wagemaker et al., 1982) similar obstacles were observed when HLA-nonidentical siblings were used as donors; HLA incompatibility creates a higher immunological barrier which results in an higher incidence of engraftment failures and an higher incidence of acute GvHD. T lymphocyte depletion as a method to prevent GvHD has dramatically decreased the incidence of acute GvHD to less than 10% in HLA-identical, related donor-recipient combinations (see Table 1.4). On basis of these encouraging results, several transplantation centers have started to apply this method for prevention of GvHD in HLA-nonidentical, related donor-recipients combinations. Engraftment failures occurred in 25-50% of the patients (see Table 1.5).

The aim of the present study was to investigate which additional dose of irradiation is required for sustained engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts in unrelated, mismatched donor-recipient combinations. Rhesus monkeys were chosen for these experiments since their bone marrow composition and immunological reactions are very similar to man (van Bekkum, 1978). Using a combination of discontinuous gradient and E-rosette sedimentation, depletion of T lymphocytes was in the order of 2-3 log depletion. In accordance to calculations by Wagemaker (1986) which predicted that a reduction of 3 log T lymphocyte depletion is required to prevent lethal GvHD in unrelated, MHC- mismatched donor-recipient combinations, mild symptoms of acute GvHD were observed in two monkeys and severe GvHD was seen in one monkey.

The steep dose-effect curve between dose of fractionated irradiation and engraftment indicates that a difference of 1-2 Gray fractionated total body irradiation determines a successful engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. A radiation dose of 2 x 6.0 Gy offered sufficient immunosuppression to permit engraftment of 2 log T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. In accordance with the concept of reciprocal interference, this radiation dose was insufficient when 3 log T lymphocytes were removed from a bone marrow graft. These results will have important implications for clinical centers. In the first place it provides support to do bone marrow transplantations with HLA-nonidentical siblings since T lymphocyte depleted grafts did engraft and the incidence of acute GvHD was low in these unrelated, mismatched donor-recipient combinations. Secondly, this study strongly indicates that the problem of engraftment failures of T lymphocyte depleted marrow grafts may be solved by a relatively small increment in immunosuppression.

In our study total body irradiation was used for this purpose. A disadvantage of increasing the dose of irradiation is toxicity particularly to the lungs. In our study two out of two evaluable monkeys, transplanted with autologous bone marrow grafts, died due to interstitial pneumonia. From human studies it is known that there exists a marked increase in the incidence of this complication when irradiation doses above 10.5 Gy are administered (Barrett, 1982). Almost all conditioning regimens for human patients lung shielding is applied when the irradiation dose exceeds 8-8.5 Gy. After these experiments a new conditioning protocol with lung shielding was developed for rhesus monkeys.

An alternative approach is the use of immunosuppressive agents in combination with total body irradiation such as ARA-C and cyclosporine A (Bozdech, 1985). This combination promoted the engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted marrow grafts from HLA-nonidentical siblings. Another approach is the use of more selective agents specially cytotoxic for T lymphocytes. In rhesus monkeys (Reisner, 1986) as in humans (Kernan, 1987) residual alloreactive T lymphocytes can be detected after a conditioning regimen consisting of cyclophosphamide and hyperfractionated total body irradiation. Injection of anti-T lymphocyte monoclonal antibodies in recipients prior to a sublethal dose of total body irradiation (6 Gy) prevented rejection of T lymphocyte depleted marrow grafts in 7/7 mice (Cobbold, 1986), while normal recipients all rejected

their bone marrow graft. In human patients similar results were obtained with an antibody against against human leucocyte functional antigen (HLFA-1), which is expressed on T lymphocytes, natural killer cells, leukocytes and macrophages. In 7/7 patients with immunodeficiencies engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts from HLA-haploidentical siblings was facilitated by injections of the antibody HLFA-1. In a historical control group engraftment was only documented in 1/7 patients using the same condition regimen containing busulphan without injection of this antibody (Fisher, 1986).
CHAPTER VI

PREVENTION OF ACUTE GRAFT VERSUS-HOST DISEASE BY DEPLETION OF T LYMPHOCYTE SUBPOPULATIONS

6.1 INTRODUCTION

In several species, T lymphocyte depletion is successfully applied for the prevention of acute GvHD. The mature T lymphocyte population can be divided into two subpopulations with distinct functions; suppressor/cytotoxic T lymphocytes, characterized by the CD8 antigen, and helper/inducer T lymphocytes, characterized by the CD4 antigen. The role of these T lymphocyte subpopulations in the induction of acute GvHD has been investigated in rodents. These murine experiments have demonstrated that depletion of helper T lymphocytes could mitigate the severity of GvHD after bone marrow transplantation across major histocompatibility barriers (Mason, 1981; Vallera et al., 1982; Korngold and Sprent, 1985; Sprent et al., 1986; Pietryga et al., 1987). It was decided to deplete either helper/inducer T lymphocytes or cytotoxic/suppressor T lymphocytes or all T lymphocytes from bone marrow grafts and to observe the resulting effect on acute GvHD in monkeys.

Monoclonal antibodies directed against human subpopulations of T lymphocytes were analyzed for their reactivity with rhesus monkey T lymphocytes. Subsequently, the function of the T lymphocyte subpopulations, recognized by the selected antibodies, was studied in vitro. When it was demonstrated that the selected antibodies reacted with only one of the two distinct T lymphocyte subpopulations, these monoclonal antibodies were used to investigate whether depletion of subpopulations of T lymphocytes prevented acute GvHD in mismatched donor-recipient combinations.



Figure 6.1 Double fluorescence analysis of rhesus monkey T lymphocytes. (A): CAMPATH-1, (B): WT-1, (C): T lymphocytes

In chapter V it was demonstrated that $2 \ge 6$ Gy total body irradiation (Xray; unilateral irradiation; 24 hours interval) would be sufficient to allow engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. For a more homogeneous dose distribution of radiation bilateral irradiation was applied for the experiments in this chapter. Experiments in chapter V have shown that a dose of $2 \ge 6$ Gy is accompanied by lung toxicity. At the time of these experiments, a new total body irradiation setting for total body irradiation including lung shielding would not yet been available for at least half a year. Symptoms of acute GvHD are observed before day 40 in unrelated, mismatched donor-recipient combinations. Dyspnea from lung toxicity is observed after day 40. Therefore, it was anticipated that the effect of depletion of T lymphocyte subpopulations on acute GvHD could be measured when total body irradiation was applied without lung shielding.

6.2 CHARACTERIZATION OF ANTI T LYMPHOCYTE ANTIBODIES IN VITRO

6.2.1 FLUORESCENCE ANALYSIS

The reactivity pattern of rhesus monkey lymphocytes with the antihuman T lymphocyte monoclonal antibodies was determined by use of immunofluorescence with 2 fluorchromes. Leu 2a/PE (CD8) and Leu 3a/PE (CD4) were used as reference antibodies.

Pure T lymphocytes were obtained by E-rosette sedimentation with rhesus monkey peripheral blood cells; a combination of Leu 2a and Leu3a stained 99% of all the T lymphocytes. Incubation of mononuclear peripheral blood cells with Leu2a/FITC and Leu3a/PE resulted in 2 separate subpopulations of approximately equal size with only 1-3% of the cells sharing the markers (Figure 6.1c), demonstrating great similarity between humans (Clark et al., 1986) and rhesus monkeys with respect to the major T lymphocyte subsets. Figure 6.1a demonstrates that CAMPATH-1 reacts with all bone marrow cells positive for Leu2a and/or Leu3a, which represented 68% of the cell populations reacting with CAMPATH-1 (Hale et al., 1983) cells; the remaining 32% were most probably, analogous to human bone marrow, B-lymphocytes and monocytes. Figure 6.1b shows that all bone marrow cells that react with the WT 1 (CD7) antibody shared the T lymphocyte markers Leu2a and/or Leu3a. A small subpopulation of

Leu 2a/Leu3a positive cells was observed that lacked the WT 1 antigen. Also, these findings are similar to the reactivity pattern of WT 1 with human lymphocytes (Tax et al., 1984). Double fluorescence analysis demonstrated that the B9 monoclonal antibodies and Leu2a recognize the same T lymphocyte subpopulation and that the antibodies OKT4+4a and Leu3a also shared the same subpopulation of T lymphocytes.

6.2.2 FUNCTIONAL CAPACITY OF LYMPHOCYTES IN VITRO AFTER DEPLETION.

The functional capacity of residual T lymphocytes after depletion was studied in vitro. Peripheral blood cells (PBL) was stimulated to proliferate by the mitogen phytoagglutinin (PHA). Since some anti-T lymphocyte antibodies such as OKT3 induce and enhance proliferation of PBL's, it was investigated whether a proliferative response could be attributable to labelling lymphocytes with either B9-pool (a combination of four antibodies directed against cytotoxic/suppressor T lymphocytes) or OKT4+4a (helper/inducer T lymphocytes) or CAMPATH-1 (anti T and B-lymphocytes). The proliferative capacity was compared to proliferation of unlabeled cells. Labelling of PBL's with antibodies, directed against T lymphocyte subpopulations, did not influence their proliferative capacity. The proliferation of lymphocytes with CAMPATH-1, an antibody directed against all lymphocytes, on their cell surface was reduced to $34 \pm 4\%$ in comparison to untreated PBL's.

Depletion of either B9-pool positive lymphocytes or OKT4+4a positive lymphocytes, prior to stimulation with PHA, provides insight in the function of these subpopulations in rhesus monkeys. After complement lysis of labelled cells, residual cells were counted and the same number of viable cells were used as in the control experiments. Complement lysis with the antibody CAMPATH-1 eliminated the proliferative response completely as could be expected. After elimination of B9-positive cells by complement lysis, the residual cells had a similar proliferative response to PHA stimulation as the untreated cells. Depletion of OKT4+4a positive cells did reduce significantly the proliferative capacity of PBL's. These latter results suggest that OKT4+4a positive cells have an helper/inducer function in rhesus monkeys similar to that in humans. A functional assay to investigate the cytotoxic capacity of lymphocytes is not yet available for rhesus monkeys. Fluorescence analysis of the OKT4 and B9-pool positive cells has shown that these antibodies recognize complementary T lymphocyte subpopulation in rhesus monkeys. The results of fluorescence analysis together with the experiments described above provide sufficient evidence that the antibodies OKT4 and B9-pool recognize the same T lymphocyte subpopulations in man as in the rhesus monkey. Therefore, we used these antibodies to investigate the influence of depletion of T lymphocyte subpopulations on the induction of acute GvHD in rhesus monkeys.

6.3 PREVENTION OF ACUTE GVHD.

Recipients of unrelated, mismatched bone marrow grafts were prepared with 2 x 6.7 Gy total body irradiation (X-ray; bilateral irradiation; 24 hours interval). Bone marrow cells were obtained by aspiration. A mononuclear cell suspension was prepared by ficoll density centrifugation. One monkey received 4 x 10^8 unmodified bone marrow cells/kg body weight. This animal died after 12 days from severe GvHD. This result was in accordance with survival and cause of death of historical controls. These latter animals were prepared with a single dose of 8.5 Gy TBI and all died due to severe GvHD within 17 days after transplantation (median: 12 days; N=7).

Before the in vitro treatment with antibody and complement, the cell number given was 4×10^8 bone marrow cells/kg body weight. Cells left after incubation were directly infused into recipients.

Depletion of suppressor/cytotoxic T lymphocytes from a bone marrow graft by the antibodies B9-pool did not eliminate the cells responsible for induction of acute GvHD. Two rhesus monkeys died after 14 and 15 days from severe GvHD (Table 6.1). Elimination of helper/inducer T lymphocytes (OKT4+4a) neither prevented GvHD and both monkeys died due to severe GvHD (Table 6.1). WT 1 is present on most mature T lymphocytes and thymocytes.

After elimination of WT 1 positive cells the residual cells could induce GvHD. Both monkeys died due to kidney failure secondary to shock induced by severe GvHD (Table 6.1). Incubation of a bone marrow graft with CAMPATH-1 plus autologous monkey serum as complement source reduced the number of T lymphocytes from 5-16% E-rosette forming (E-RF) cells prior to treatment to 0.1-0.5% E-RF cells after complement lysis. Using immunofluorescence analysis as shown in figure 6.2 did not detect any T lymphocytes after complement lysis

with CAMPATH-1. The same holds for the antibodies B9-pool, OKT4+4a and WT 1 where after complement lysis no target cells could be detected by immunofluorescence analysis (Figure 6.2).

Table 6.1

Effect of depletion of T lymphocyte subpopulations on the occurrence of acute GvHD in unrelated, mismatched donor-recipient combinations.

pretreatment	number of animals	survival (range in days)	histopathological GvHD grading (0-III)	cause of death
none	7	7-18 (median:12)	II-III	GvHD
OKT4+4a	2	10, 13	II-III	GvHD
B9-pool	2	14, 16	11-111	GvHD
WT 1	2	13, 18	Π	GvHD, shock

A total of six monkeys received a bone marrow graft depleted of lymphocytes by CAMPATH-1 and complement (Table 6.2). The monkeys were prepared for grafting by 2 x 6.7 Gy total body irradiation Monkey 1EC died after 19 days due to intussusception of jejunum. This monkey showed no signs of engraftment. In comparison to the other monkeys with documented engraftment the initial cell dose was 2.7×10^8 bone marrow cells/kg body weight instead of 4×10^8 bone marrow cells/kg body weight. In all the monkeys within 14 days after transplantation the leukocyte counts normalized and engraftment was documented by taken blood samples 3 weeks after transplantation and using serologically defined determinants (Balner et al., 1981). At autopsy of monkey 1 JR a massive infiltration of the gastro-intestinal tract of protozoa, resembling lambliasis, was observed and only mild signs of GvHD.



fluorescence intensity

Figure 6.2 Effectiveness of elimination of T lymphocytes using CAMPATH-1 plus complement. Fluorescence analysis before and after treatment of bone marrow cells.

Table 6.2

GvHD grading								
UMN	survival	skin	liver	GI-tract	cause of death			
1EC	19	I	0	0	intussusception jejunum, graft failure			
1JR	18	I	0	Ι	extensive lambliasis in GI-tract			
1CI	22	П	I	Π	GvHD and sepsis			
1FN	27	*	I	Ι	euthanasia			
1LJ	40	0	0	0	radiation pneumonitis			
1HC	45	0	0	0	radiation pneumonitis			

Incidence of acute GvHD in recipients of bone marrow grafts depleted of CAMPATH-1 positive cells.

* extensive necrosis of skin with massive infiltration of granulocytes (see also text)

Monkey 1CI showed grade II GvHD in skin and gastro-intestinal tract and this animal died due to a combination of acute GvHD and sepsis. In the skin of monkey 1FN extensive necrosis with massive infiltration of granulocytes was seen. The latter lesions are not typical for acute GvHD and no signs of GvHD could be observed in other epithelial tissues such as tongue and lip, and neither in liver and gastro-intestinal tract. Therefore, it was concluded that these lesions were not attributable to GvHD. Monkeys 1LJ and 1HC had no signs of GvHD but died after 40 and 45 days due to radiation induced pneumonitis. This diagnosis was made after exclusion of viral infections. Depletion of CAMPATH-1 positive cells result in a very substantial mitigation of the incidence and severity of acute GvHD.

6.4 DISCUSSION

In humans as well as in rodents two distinct T lymphocyte subpopulations, namely helper/inducer T lymphocytes (murine markers: Lyt 1,L3T4; human markers: ea Leu 3, OKT4) and cytotoxic/suppressor T lymphocytes (murine markers: Lyt 2; human markers: ea Leu 2, OKT8, B9-pool) can be dis-102 tinguished. After establishing that T lymphocyte depletion by the use of antiserum or monoclonal antibody against Thy 1.2 plus complement successfully prevented GvHD (Ledney and van Bekkum, 1968; Tyan, 1973; Rodt et al., 1974; Müller-Ruchholtz et al., 1979; Korngold and Sprent, 1978 Vallera et al., 1981), the possible role of T lymphocyte subpopulations in induction of GvHD has been investigated. The first study was performed in rats (Mason, 1981). Depletion of OX8 (cytotoxic/suppressor T lymphocytes) donor cells failed to prevent GvHD in a P --> F1 combination. Removal of helper/inducer T lymphocytes mitigated the incidence of GvHD; the induction of GvHD was not prevented, but survival was prolonged. Successful prevention was obtained after depletion of both subpopulations of T lymphocytes. Similarly, lethal GvHD was observed after depletion of Lyt 2⁺ donor cells and transplantations across full H-2 differences in mice (Vallera et al., 1982; Korngold and Sprent, 1985). Results of depletion of Lyt 1⁺ donor cells differed in that Vallera et al (1982) reported complete prevention of GvHD while Korngold and Sprent (1985) observed only prolongation of survival. Using a more specific antibody against helper/inducer T lymphocytes (L3T4) for depletion of this subpopulation a prolongation of survival time was observed by both groups of investigators, indicating that helper/inducer cells mediate lethal GVHD (Korngold and Sprent, 1987; Pietryga et al., 1987) when donor and recipient are fully H2-mismatched. Recently, more different donor-recipient combinations were tested and it was found that GvHD could be caused by helper/inducer T lymphocytes as well as suppressor/cytotoxic T lymphocytes (Korngold and Sprent, 1987).

In our rhesus monkey model acute GvHD could not be prevented by depletion of OKT4+4a (CD4; helper/inducer T lymphocytes) positive cells in an unrelated, mismatched donor-recipient combination. Severe GvHD was observed and survival was not prolonged in comparison to untreated historical controls. Depletion of either WT 1 (CD7; majority of mature T lymphocytes) or B9-pool (CD8; suppressor/cytotoxic T lymphocytes) positive cells could neither mitigate the incidence of acute acute GvHD. Only depletion of all lymphocytes by complement lysis of CAMPATH-1 positive cells mitigated the incidence and severity of acute GvHD. The results of CAMPATH-1 were comparable to results with stem cell enrichment by density centrifugation followed by further T lymphocyte depletion using E-rosette sedimentation. In the latter group, the survival of the monkeys ranged from 24 to 86 days (median: 36 days) and acute GvHD > grade II was observed in 2 out of 7 monkeys. Causes of death were viral (Cytomegaly virus) and bacterial infections (Wagemaker et al., 1982; Wagemaker, 1986). These data are conclusive in that acute GvHD can only be prevented in unrelated, mismatched donor-recipient combinations when both subsets of T lymphocytes are sufficiently eliminated. The results do not confirm the results obtained in some rodent combinations where depletion of T lymphocyte subpopulations could prevent GvHD. The discrepancy can be explained by the patterns of mortality due to GvHD in rhesus monkeys and rodents. Severe GvHD is observed with early mortality (survival < 18 days) in rhesus monkeys when unrelated, mismatched donor-recipients were used. It is possible that in other donor-recipient combinations such as RhLA-identical siblings a mitigation of the incidence of acute GvHD can be observed after depletion of subsets of T lymphocytes. Until more information is available about this subject, our data argue that elimination of all T lymphocytes is necessary for prevention of GvHD prophylaxis, especially when mismatched donor-recipient combinations are used.

CHAPTER VII

GENERAL DISCUSSION

The outcome of a bone marrow transplantation is determined by the functioning of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells, which sustain engraftment by their capacity of self-replication and differentiation, and T lymphocytes, which are responsible for the induction of the acute Graft-versus-Host reaction. T lymphocytes promote engraftment of an allogeneic bone marrow graft by inducing an antihost immune reactivity, i.e. Graft-versus-Host reaction. These two cell population were the main subject of this thesis (Figure 7.1).

7.1 HAEMOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

7.1.1 HAEMOPOIETIC STEM CELLS AND THE TROPHIC FUNCTION OF T LYMPHOCYTES

The process of proliferation and differentiation to functional end cells, such as leukocytes, thrombocytes and erythrocytes, is controlled by haemopoietic growth factors (Metcalf, 1986; Clark et al., 1987). The growth factors were discovered and defined by their virtue to support haemopoietic colony formation in vitro. Several factors have been purified and produced by recombinant DNA techniques such as the granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF; Wong et al., 1985), the granulocyte-CSF (G-CSF; Souza et al., 1986), the macrophage-CSF (M-CSF; Kawasaki et al., 1985), the interleukins-1,3,4, and 6 (IL-1; Moore et al., 1987: IL-3; Yang et al., 1986; Dorssers et al., 1987: IL-4; Yokata et al., 1986: IL-6; Ikebuchi et al., 1987) and erythropoietin (Jacobs et al., 1985). Most growth factors are produced by T lymphocytes (Metcalf, 1986; Clark et al., 1987).



Figure 7.1 The most essential cells in a bone marrow graft

Therefore it was suggested that removal of T lymphocytes would deprive a bone marrow graft of the trophic function of lymphocytes and T lymphocyte depletion would result in delayed engraftment (Sieff et al., 1985; Soderling et al., 1985).

In chapter III an in vivo assay was developed to assess quantitatively the influence of in vitro manipulation of bone marrow on the repopulating ability of a bone marrow graft. Indirectly this provided information on the influence on haemopoietic stem cells. Murine experiments have proven that these cells are primarily responsible for the repopulation of an haemopoietic system of a lethally irradiated recipient (Trentin, 1963; Visser et al., 1984; Bauman et al., 1986; Spangrude et al., 1988). Early autologous repopulation was used to measure stem cell toxicity. Autologous transplantation avoided the complicating and unpredictable (i.e. multifactorial) host-versus-graft reactions that occur in an allogeneic setting.

This semiquantitative assay provided information with regard to the influence of T lymphocyte depletion on the regeneration of leukocytes and reticulocytes. T lymphocyte depletion did <u>not</u> significantly reduce the repopulating capacity of an autologous bone marrow graft. This finding means that in rhesus monkey no direct evidence is found for a trophic function of T lymphocytes during the phase of early repopulation after total body irradiation. This observation is in accordance with the experiments with purified stem cells, which could repopulate a lethally irradiated recipient without help from other cell populations.

7.1.2 ENRICHMENT OF PLURIPOTENT HAEMOPOIETIC STEM CELLS

Depletion of DR-positive cells from an autologous bone marrow graft ablated the repopulating capacity of such a graft resulting in a severely delayed regeneration of peripheral blood cells. Several monoclonal antibodies were tested for their reactivity with rhesus monkey GM-CFU's, but none of the tested antibodies reacted primarily with GM-CFU's. Therefore, analogous to the results of murine experiments with an antibody against a class I antigen (Visser et al., 1984) it was attempted to enrich haemopoietic stem cells by using an anti-DR antibody (class II) for positive selection of stem cells. The experiments described in chapter IV have revealed that stem cells of rhesus monkeys can be characterized by low density, by a negative reaction with the anti-lymphocyte antibody CAMPATH-1, high forward light scatter and positive reaction with the DR-antigen. An enrichment of approximately 40 times was observed in vivo in comparison to ficoll bone marrow cell suspension and 94 times when compared to the original cell suspension obtained directly after aspiration. Dicke et al (1973) have described the morphological characteristics of the haemopoietic stem cells in rhesus monkeys and estimated that aspiration bone marrow contains approximately 0.7% stem cells. On basis of this value an enrichment of at least 150 times is required to obtained a pure stem cell suspension. Since these experiments were performed in 1985/1986, new monoclonal antibodies have become available. Very promising are the results with the CD34 antibody ICH3 (Watt et al, 1987), which reacts with 5 % of the cells in human as well as rhesus monkey bone marrow. Transplantation of ICH3-positive cells has demonstrated in rhesus monkeys that positive selection of these cells result in a 75 fold (95% confidence limits: 40-120 fold) enrichment (Wielenga et al., 1989). At present no stem cell specific antigens are available and thus further enrichment of rhesus monkey stem cells can be achieved by multiparameter cell separation similar to the purification of mouse haemopoietic stem cells (Visser et al., 1984; Bauman et al., 1986; De Vries et al., 1988; Spangrude et al., 1988).

The availability of highly purified stem cell populations could have important consequences for experimental and clinical bone marrow transplantations. Haemopoietic growth factors, especially GM-CSF and G-CSF, are widely applied to stimulate early regeneration of peripheral blood cells after either bone marrow transplantation (Donahue et al., 1986; Donahue et al., 1988; Mayer et al., 1987; Monroy et al., 1987; Gillio et al., 1987; Nemunaitis et al., 1988) or myeloablative, high dose chemotherapy (Brandt et al., 1988; Morstyn et al., 1988; Socinski et al., 1988, Gabrilove et al., 1988). At present it can not be distinguished whether the more rapid recovery of peripheral blood cells after myeloablative treatment and administration of GM-CSF or G-CSF is due to stimulation of pathway restricted progenitor cells or to direct stimulation of the proliferation and differentiation of haemopoietic stem cells. Purified haemopoietic stem cells can be used to elucidate which growth factors have receptors on stem cells and what the consequence is of stimulation of stem cells with a specific growth factor.

An other application of purified stem cells is the eradication of malignant cells from autologous bone marrow grafts for hematological malignancies and solid tumors. At the moment several methods have been developed to remove tumor cells from bone marrow graft. A disadvantage of this approach is that specific methods are required for each specific tumor. A generally applicable method would be the positive selection of haemopoietic stem cells from tumor cells, contaminating bone marrow as was recommended by van Bekkum in 1986).

7.2 T LYMPHOCYTES

Donor T lymphocytes play an important role in the outcome of allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. They induce the acute Graft-versus-Host reaction. A strong Graft-versus-Host reaction will inhibit the Host-versus-Graft reaction and prevent rejection.

7.2.1 T LYMPHOCYTES AND ENGRAFTMENT

As early as 1957 Van Bekkum et al noticed that host lymphoid cells could reject rat bone marrow cells transplanted into lethally irradiated mice. At that time their interpretation was that rejection was mediated via the production of antibodies against the graft. Later, more evidence for the role of T lymphocytes in the Host-versus-Graft reaction was brought in by the observations that stable mouse-to-rat chimaeras could be obtained when the recipients were conditioned with supralethal TBI and a high dose of anti-rat lymphocyte serum (Bau, 1973).

Donor T lymphocytes induce the Graft-versus-Host reaction and host T lymphocytes are among the cells which are subject of the GvH reaction. Therefore, one of the solutions to reduce the immunological activity of host lymphocytes against an allogeneic bone marrow is to knock out the host T lymphocytes by a GvH reaction induced with donor T lymphocytes. Studies with dogs, where transfusion of donor leukocytes or lymphocytes promoted the engraftment of histoincompatible bone marrow, supported this concept (Deeg et al., 1979). In agreement with the concept of reciprocal interference the success of engraftment was counterbalanced by an increase in lethal GvHD. Irradiated donor leukocytes were not effective (Deeg et al., 1979). So, the outcome of a bone marrow transplantation is the result of competing Host-versus-Graft and Graft-versus-Host Reactions. Depletion of donor T lymphocytes will reduce the incidence of acute GvHD and subsequently a stronger HvG reaction will arise resulting in more rejections in comparison to unmanipulated bone marrow grafts. Additional immunosuppression will be required to suppress the stronger HvG following T lymphocyte depletion.

In chapter V the minimal dose of fractionated total body irradiation was determined for engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. A rather steep dose-effect curve established the relation between graded doses of fractionated TBI (24 hours interval) and engraftment. The difference between sustained engraftment and engraftment failure appeared to be 1-2 Gy fractionated total body irradiation (X-rays).

These data seem to agree very well with observations in mice where titrated doses of spleen cells, syngeneic with host cells, were added to 10^7 allogeneic bone marrow cells and injected into lethally irradiated recipients (van Bekkum, 1988). In this experimental setting mortality is due to graft failure. When no recipient-type spleen cells were added, 90% of the recipients survived. The addition of 10^4 recipient-type spleen cells gave 100% survival, while the addition of 10^5 host spleen cells resulted in a poor survival of 10%. These results indicate that the difference between 100% engraftment and 50% engraftment is less than one log immunocompetent cells in mice. Since one log cell kill of lymphocytes

corresponds with 2-3 fold D_0 in mice (Smith, 1963), this would imply that 1.5-2 Gy is sufficient to overcome engraftment failures assuming a D_0 of 70 cGy. Several groups have confirmed this concept in their murine models for engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts (Soderling et al., 1985; Schwartz et al., 1987; Ferrara et al., 1988; Gassmann et al., 1988). Additional support for our results in rhesus monkeys has come from clinical studies. Several transplant centers have reported that increasing the dose of fractionated total body irradiation with 2 Gy prevented engraftment failures (Martin et al., 1985; Burnett et al., 1988; O'Reilly et al., 1986; Champlin et al., 1987).

Alternative approaches, which have been investigated in animal models, are the addition of total lymph node irradiation (Blazar et al., 1988), monoclonal antibodies directed against either T lymphocytes (Cobbold et al., 1986) or class II antigens (Deeg et al., 1987), and immunosuppressive 'drugs (Gassmann et al., 1988). Fractionated total lymph node irradiation (2 x 3.3 Gy) in addition to 7.5 Gy total body irradiation resulted in improved survival in mice grafted with allogeneic bone marrow and none of the mice rejected their T lymphocyte depleted grafts in contrast to a 50% rejection rate in recipient mice which were prepared by 7.5 Gy total body irradiation (Blazar, 1988). Cobbold et al (1986) demonstrated the usefulness of monoclonal antibodies against T lymphocytes for the promotion of engraftment of T lymphocyte depleted grafts. A sublethal dose of 6 Gy total body irradiation was not sufficient to prevent rejection in mice. Addition of a monoclonal antibody against T lymphocyte to 6 Gy total body irradiation resulted in 90% chimaerism. Injection of monoclonal antibodies directed against subpopulations of T lymphocytes had no effect on engraftment. Recipient dogs reject bone marrow grafts from unrelated, DLA-nonidentical donors when they are conditioned with 9.2 Gy total body irradiation. Administration of anti-class II monoclonal antibody pregrafting and methotrexate postgrafting proved to result in engraftment in 9/10 dogs. Methotrexate postgrafting alone resulted in engraftment in 6 out 10 recipient dogs. The results of these two groups did not differ significantly (Deeg et al., 1987). Depletion of DR-positive cells ablated the repopulation capacity of bone marrow grafts in dogs (Szer et al., 1986) and rhesus monkeys (this thesis). The use of anti-DR antibodies for conditioning can not be recommended since the risk of jeopardizing haemopoietic reconstitution is great. The immunosuppressive potential of cyclophosphamide, etoposide and cytarabin (ARA-C) was compared in addition of a standard conditioning regimen of 35 mg/kg busulphan in mice.

Cytarabin (dose range 600-1200 mg/kg) and etoposide (dose range 30-60 mg/kg) were significantly inferior to cyclophosphamide (dose range 30-360 mg/kg) in their potential to promote engraftment (Gassmann et al., 1988).

In case of leukemia, a conditioning regimen for T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts has to fulfill two criteria; it has to give extra immunosuppression and it should eliminate residual leukemia cells to prevent the higher increased risk of relapse after T lymphocyte depleted grafts. Assuming that the anti-leukemic effect of GvHD is due to alloreactivity, T lymphocyte depletion will require additional anti-leukemic treatment as part of the conditioning regimen. Schultz et al (1989) calculated that the difference between 90% cure and 40% cure corresponds with a difference of one log leukemic cell kill, which is in turn equivalent to 2-3 D₀. Although exact values for the D₀ are not available, one can assume that it is in the order of the same magnitude for lymphocytes and this will mean that an additional dose of 1-2 Gy total body irradiation will provide the additional one log kill of leukemia cells.

This means that when additional immunosuppression is given in the form of anti-lymphocyte antibodies or total lymph node irradiation, an additional anti-leukemia treatment is required. In view of the experiments of Gassmann (1988) with ARA-C and Etoposide, extra addition of these agents to eliminate more leukemic cells, will require additional immunosuppression in case of T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. At this moment an increment of 1-2 Gy (single fraction) of total body irradiation is the best option since this approach fulfils both criteria.

7.2.2 T LYMPHOCYTES AND GRAFT-VERSUS-HOST DISEASE

The relation between donor T lymphocytes and acute GvHD has been well established in several species. In chapter VI it was investigated whether anti T lymphocyte monoclonal antibodies plus complement eliminated sufficient T lymphocytes to prevent acute GvHD in a unrelated, mismatched donor-recipient combination. As expected, removal of all detectable T lymphocytes successfully prevented acute GvHD. Depletion of subpopulation of T lymphocytes did not prevented the induction of lethal GvHD in this donor-recipient combination. These data prove that it is hazardous to extrapolate results of murine bone marrow transplantation to outbred species. The morbidity and mortality in man and monkeys is much higher than in mice due to a higher proportion of lymphocytes in bone marrow. In an unrelated, mismatched donor-recipient combination the severity of acute GvHD is higher than in related, HLA-matched donorrecipient combinations. Subsequently, more efficient T lymphocyte depletion is required to prevent acute GvHD (Wagemaker, 1986). It is therefore not excluded that depletion of subpopulation of T lymphocytes would not result in prevention of GvHD in related, HLA-identical donor-recipient combinations.

Successful prevention of acute GvHD by either albumin density centrifugation followed by E-rosette sedimentation or by CAMPATH-1 plus complement did not result in long term survival due to viral and bacterial infections and late toxicity of irradiation. Late toxicity of irradiation manifested in interstitial pneumonia with evidence of a viral or bacterial infection. After these experiments a new conditioning regimen was prepared where the monkeys were irradiated with 2 x 6 Gy (24 hour interval), but the lungs were shielded after 8.5 Gy. With this new conditioning regimen radiation pneumonitis was no longer observed and recipients of autologous bone marrow grafts became long term survivors (Wielenga: personal communication).

With regard to the influence of T lymphocyte depletion on engraftment and acute GvHD, Vriesendorp et al (1985) draw the attention to the consequences of higher irradiation doses for the incidence of acute GvHD. The incidence of mortality due to either Graft-versus-Host or to Host-versus-Graft reaction has been investigated in dogs. A single dose of 4.25 Gy TBI (300 kV X-ray) resulted in 100% graft rejections in 8 dogs. Graft rejections were not observed after 5 Gy TBI, but 20% of the dogs (N=5) showed signs of GvHD. The incidence of GvHD increased to 40% (N=40) when recipients were prepared for grafting by 7.5 Gy TBI. According to the concept of reciprocal interference between Host-versus-Graft and Graft-versus-Host reactions an optimal conditioning regimen has to be carefully developed.

7.3 THE RHESUS MONKEY AS A PRECLINICAL MODEL FOR BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION

For nearly 25 years the rhesus monkey has been employed for investigations on bone marrow transplantations. Since it is felt that the gap between mouse models and clinical bone marrow transplantations is too big, experimental bone marrow transplantations in rhesus monkeys have been initiated. Bone marrow composition, especially the proportion of lymphocytes, are very similar to humans. Their immunological reactivity has proven to be very similar in various transplantations models such as bone marrow transplantation (see chapter I and chapter V), kidney transplantation (Borleffs, 1983; Jonker et al., 1985; 1984) and liver transplantation (Neuhaus et al., 1985).

The crossreactivity of several monoclonal antibodies, directed against human antigens present on human cells(Jonker, 1984; this thesis), with rhesus monkey cells provide that preclinical experiments can be performed to investigate the usefulness of antihuman monoclonal antibodies in bone marrow transplantation. At present the role of monoclonal antibodies in conditioning of the recipient is subject of study. The human haemopoietic growth factors G-CSF and GM-CSF has shown an enhancement of peripheral blood recovery following bone marrow transplantations in rhesus monkeys (Donahue, 1986; Donahue, 1988; Mayer, 1987; Monroy, 1987; Gillio, 1987). From all the experiments with monkeys it can be concluded that the rhesus monkey provides a near optimal model for preclinical investigations of bone marrow transplantation.

Disadvantages of the monkey model are the susceptibility for bacterial and viral infections, the scarcity of monkeys and the high costs of housing and handling of monkeys. The small family size of rhesus monkeys and slow breeding is a biological limitation for studies with realted donor-recipient combinations. The scarcity of the monkeys is the reason that experiments had to performed with a low number of monkeys. Nevertheless, experiments in a low number of rhesus monkeys has provided crucial information for clinical bone marrow transplantations.

SUMMARY

Bone marrow transplantation is a successful treatment for many lethal diseases of the haematopoietic system such as severe aplastic anemia and leukemia. Patients with inborn errors of the immune system such as severe combined immunodeficiency can be cured by bone marrow transplantation. In a bone marrow graft many different haemopoietic cells are present. Among these cells pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells and T lymphocytes mainly determine the outcome of a transplantation. Haemopoietic stem cells have the ability of selfreplication and they can differentiate into one of the cell lineages. Because of their ability of self-replication haemopoietic stem cells are responsible for sustained engraftment. The function of T lymphocytes is to react against foreign antigens. When there is a discrepancy between donor and recipient with regard to the minor or major histocompatibility antigens, mature T lymphocytes of the donor will mount an immunological attack against foreign antigens in the recipient resulting in a graft-versus-host reaction. Depletion of donor T lymphocytes will eliminate those immunocompetent cells which are responsible for the graft-versus-host reaction. A disadvantage of this method for prevention of acute graft-versus-host disease is that it is associated with more engraftment failures.

The main subjects of this thesis was the investigation of the influence of T lymphocyte depletion on engraftment of autologous and allogeneic bone marrow grafts, the influence of depletion of subpopulations of T lymphocytes on the severity of acute GvHD and the enrichment of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells. The rhesus monkey was used as a preclinical model since its bone marrow composition and their immunological reactions are very similar to those of humans.

The principles of bone marrow transplantation and the role of pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells are described in the first part of chapter I. Most part of chapter I is dealing with engraftment, the nature of graft-versus-host disease and the methods to prevent graft-versus-host disease.

In chapter II is a summary of the materials and methods which are relevant for the studies discussed in the chapters III to VI.

T lymphocytes produce several haemopoietic growth factors. A hypothesis is that depletion of T lymphocyte will result in a deprivation of haemopoietic growth factors essential for the proliferation and differentiation of haemopoietic stem cells. This hypothesis was tested in chapter III. After transplantation of graded number of autologous bone marrow cells, relationship between between the number of cells transplanted and the regeneration rate of leukocytes and reticulocytes was observed. This allows to asssay for stem cells in bone marrow. This in vivo assay enabled the investigation of the influence of depletion of T lymphocytes and DR-positive cells on the regneration of peripheral blood cells. Monoclonal antibodies and complement were used for complement lysis. Depletion of subpopulation of T lymphocytes from an autologous bone marrow graft by the antibodies OKT4+4a (helper/inducer T lymphocytes) and B9-pool (cytotoxic/suppressor T lymphocytes) did not affect the regeneration rate of leukocytes and reticulocytes. Depletion of all lymphocytes, using CAMPATH-1, did neither influence the regeneration of peripheral blood cells. A strong delay in regeneration occurred when all DR-positive cells were removed from a bone marrow graft illustrating that toxicity to stem cells could be assessed with this autologous assay.

Depletion of DR-positive cells eliminated the capacity of a bone marrow graft to repopulate a sublethally irradiated recipient. This result suggested that pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells carry the DR-antigen on their cell surface. In chapter IV, pluripotent stem cells were enriched using a combination of density centrifugation, depletion of T lymphocytes and cell sorting with a fluorescence activated cell sorter. Progenitor cells, measured in the GM-CFU assay, were characterized by light density cells in a discontinuous albumin density gradient, negative for the anti-lymphocyte antibody CAMPATH-1 and they gave a high forward light scatter during the flow through a laser beam of the cell sorter. After labelling bone marrow cells with an anti-DR antibody YAML 555.6, several cell clusters could be distinguished. The highest concentration of GM-CFU's (37 x) were found in the cell populations characterized by a high forward light scatter and positive for the DR-antigen. Autologous transplantation experiments with the enriched fractions did show similar results. Transplantation of cells, selected on basis of high forward light scatter and presence of the DRantigen on the cell surface, were able to repopulate an irradiated recipient. In

comparison to unseparated bone marrow cells, pluripotent haemopoietic stem cells were 40 x times enriched.

After T lymphocyte depletion a higher incidence of engraftment failures is observed than with T lymphocyte containing bone marrow. Since the experiments in chapter III have demonstrated that T lymphocyte do not have a significant trophic function, the engraftment failures are attributable to the elimination of the immunosuppressive action of donor T lymphocytes on the immunological reactivity of the recipient. Donor T lymphocytes exert an immunosuppressive action since the lymphocytes of the recipient (inducing the host-versus-graft-reaction) are among the targets of the graft-versus-host reaction. Hence, depletion of donor T lymphocytes will require more immunosuppression of the recipient. In chapter V, the minimal dose of fractionated total body irradiation was determined for 2 log T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts. A steep dose-effect relationship appeared to exist between engraftment and total body irradiation. A difference of 1-2 Gy fractionated total body irradiation determines the outcome of a transplantation with 2 log T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow.

In view of the problems with T lymphocyte depleted bone marrow grafts, it was investigated whether depletion of subpopulations of T lymphocytes was sufficient to prevent acute graft-versus-host disease. Murine experiments had suggested that depletion of subpopulations of T lymphocytes successfully prevented graft-versus-host disease. Depletion of subpopulations did not prevent acute graft-versus-host disease in our rhesus monkey model for mismatched bone marrow transplantations (chapter VI). Depletion of all lymphocytes resulted in a successful mitigation of the severity of graft-versus-host disease.

Finally, in chapter VII (General Discussion) the most important results and their possible implications for clinical transplantations has been discussed.

SAMENVATTING

Voor vele dodelijke aandoeningen van het haemopoietische systeem, zoals ernstige aplastische anemie en leukemie, is beenmergtransplantatie een succesvolle behandeling. Patiënten met aangeboren afwijkingen van het immuun systeem zoals 'severe combined immunodeficiency' kunnen genezen worden door een beenmergtransplantatie.

In een beenmergtransplantaat zijn verschillende beenmergcellen aanwezig. Van deze cellen bepalen vooral de T lymfocyten en de haemopoietische stamcellen hoe een beenmergtransplantatie zal verlopen. Haemopoietische stamcellen hebben de mogelijkheid tot zelf-replicatie en de stamcellen kunnen gaan differentiëren tot perifere bloedcellen. Vanwege hun mogelijkheid tot zelf-replicatie zorgen de haemopoietische stamcellen ervoor dat een transplantaat niet uitsterft, maar dat er steeds weer opnieuw cellen aangemaakt kunnen worden. De functie van T lymfocyten is om te reageren op vreemde antigenen. Wanneer er een verschil bestaat tussen donor en gastheer met betrekking tot de transplantatieantigenen, zullen rijpe donor T lymfocyten de gastheer als vreemd herkennen en een immunologische reactie ontketenen tegen de gastheer. Deze reactie wordt de 'Graft-versus-Host' reactie genoemd. Verwijdering van de donor T lymfocyten uit een beenmergtransplantaat betekent dat de cellen verantwoordelijk voor de 'Graft-versus-Host' reactie verwijderd zijn. Een nadeel van methode om 'Graft-versus-Host' reactie te voorkomen is dat het gepaard gaat met een toename in het aantal afstotingsreacties.

De belangrijkste onderwerpen van dit proefschrift zijn het onderzoeken van de invloed van het verwijderen van T lymfocyten op het aanslaan van autoloog of allogeen beenmerg, het onderzoeken van de invloed van het verwijderen van subpopulaties van T lymfocyten op de ernst van de acute 'Graft-versus-Host' reactie en de verrijking van pluripotente haemopoietische stamcellen. De rhesusaap werd gebruikt als preklinisch model omdat rhesusapen wat betreft hun beenmerg samenstelling en hun immunologische reacties heel veel op de mens lijken.

De principes van een beenmergtransplantatie en de rol van de pluripotente stamcellen worden beschreven in het eerste gedeelte van hoofdstuk I. Het grootste gedeelte van hoofdstuk I gaat over het aanslaan van beenmerg, de oorsprong van de 'Graft-versus-Host' reactie en de methoden die toegepast werden en worden om de 'Graft-versus-Host' reactie te voorkomen.

In hoodstuk II worden de belangrijkste materialen en methoden beschreven die gebruikt zijn voor de experimenten welke beschreven staan in de hoofdstukken III tot en met VI.

T lymfocyten produceren verscheidene haemopoietische groeifactoren. Er is een hypothese dat verwijdering van T lymfocyten tot gevolg zal hebben dat er een tekort aan groeifactoren ontstaat. Groeifactoren zijn essentieel voor de proliferatie en differentiatie van haemopoietische stamcellen en een tekort aan groeifactoren zal daarom leiden tot het niet aanslaan van een beenmergtransplantaat. Deze hypothese werd onderzocht in hoofdstuk III. Na transplantatie van verschillende aantallen autologe beenmergcellen bleek er een directe relatie te bestaan tussen het aantal beenmergcellen wat getransplanteerd was en de regeneratiesnelheid van leukocyten en reticulocyten. Met behulp van dit in vivo assay kon de invloed onderzocht worden van het verwijderen van T lymfocyten en DR positieve cellen op de regeneratiesnelheid van perifere bloed cellen. Monoclonale antistoffen en complement werden gebruikt om cellen te lyseren. Verwijdering van subpopulaties van T lymfocyten door de antistoffen OKT4+4a (helper/inducer T lymfocyten) en B9-pool (cytotoxische/suppressor T lymfocyten) had geen invloed op de regeneratiesnelheid van perifere bloedcellen. Ook verwijdering van alle lymfocyten door het antilichaam CAMPATH-1 liet geen verandering zien in de regeneratie van perifere bloedcellen. Een ernstige vertraging in de regeneratie werd gezien na het verwijderen van alle DR positieve cellen. Dit laatste toonde aan dat met behulp van dit assay toxiciteit gemeten kan worden.

Verwijdering van DR positieve cellen uit een beenmergtransplantaat heeft tot gevolg dat een dergelijk transplantaat niet in staat is om een bestraalde gastheer een nieuw haemopoietisch systeem te geven. Dit doet vermoeden dat pluripotente haemopoietische stamcellen het DR antigeen op hun celoppervlak hebben. In hoofdstuk IV worden haemopoietische stamcellen verrijkt door een combinatie te gebruiken van een dichtheidsgradient, verwijdering van T lymfocyten en een celsorteermachine, een zogenaamde 'fluorescence activated cell sorter'. Voorlopercellen werden gemeten in het GM-CFU assay en bleken gekarakteriseerd te worden door een lage densititeit, ze reageerden niet met het antilichaam CAMPATH-1, en ze gaven een hoog 'forward light scatter' signaal. Nadat de cellen gelabeld waren met een anti-DR antilichaam, genaamd YAML 555.6, konden verscheidene celclusters onderscheiden worden op de cell sorter. De hoogste concentratie GM-CFU's (37 x) werd gevonden in de celclusters die een hoog 'forward light scatter' signaal gaven en het DR antigeen op hun celoppervlak hadden. Autologe beenmergtransplantaties met cellen, die op deze wijze gezuiverd waren, lieten dezelfde resultaten zien. De cellen die een hoog 'forward light scatter' signaal gaven en positief reageerden met het anti-DR antilichaam, konden een bestraalde ontvanger beschermen. In vergelijking met normaal beenmerg bleken de stamcellen 40 x verrijkt te zijn.

Na het verwijderen van T lymfocyten wordt een hoger aantal afstotingsreacties gezien. Aangezien de experimenten in hoofdstuk III hebben aangetoond dat T lymfocyten geen trofische functie hebben, moeten de afstotingsreacties een gevolg zijn van de verminderde immunosuppressieve werking van donor T lymfocyten. Donor T lymfocyten richten hun immunologische aanval ook op de T lymfocyten van de gastheer. Aangezien de T lymfocyten van de gastheer verantwoordelijk zijn voor de afstotingsreactie zal verwijdering van de donor T lymfocyten tot gevolg hebben dat de gastheer T lymfocyten de overhand krijgen met als gevolg een toename van het aantal afstotingsreacties. Daarom zal meer immunosuppressie voor de gastheer nodig zijn wanneer donor T lymfocyten verwijderd worden. In hoofdstuk V, werd onderzocht hoeveel meer bestraling er nodig was voor het aanslaan van een beenmergtransplantaat waaruit de T lymfocyten 2 log gedepleteerd zijn. Er bleek een stijle dosis-effect relatie te bestaan tussen het aanslaan van beenmerg en de dosis bestraling. Een verschil van 1-2 Gray gefractioneerde lichaamsbestraling bepaalde het verschil tussen het aanslaan of afstoting van beenmerg.

Met het oog op het probleem van het aanslaan van beenmerg waaruit T lymfocyten verwijderd zijn, werd onderzocht of het wellicht voldoende was om een subpopulatie T lymfocyten te verwijderen om de 'Graft-versus-Host' reactie te voorkomen. Experimenten met muizen hadden gesuggereerd dat de 'Graftversus-Host' reactie voorkomen kon worden op deze manier. Na verwijdering van subpopulaties van T lymfocyten werd nog steeds ernstige 'Graft-versus-Host' ziekte gezien in niet verwante donor-ontvanger combinaties (Hoofdstuk VI). Verwijdering van alle lymfocyten met behulp van het antilichaam CAMPATH-1 verminderde de ernst van de 'Graft-versus-Host' reactie zeer duidelijk.

In hoofdstuk VII (algemene discussie) worden de belangrijkste resultaten en hun betekenis voor de klinische beenmergtransplantaties besproken.

120

- Report from the ACS/NIH Bone Marrow Transplant Registry Exp Hematol 1975; 3:149
- Anasetti C, Amos D, Beatty PG, Appelbaum FR, Bensinger W, Buckner CD, Clift R, Doney K, Martin PJ, Mickelson E, Nisperos B, O'Quigley J, Ramberg R, Sanders JE, Stewart P, Storb R, Sullivan KM, Witherspoon RP, Thomas ED, Hansen JA. Effect of HLA compatibility on engraftment on engraftment of bone marrow transplants in patients with leukemia or lymphoma. N Engl J Med 1989; 4:197
- Apperley JF, Jones L, Hale G, Waldmann H, Hows J, Rombos Y, Tsatalas C, Marcus RE, Goolden AWG, Gordon-Smith EC, Catovsky D, Galton DAG, Goldman JM. Bone marrow transplantation for patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia: T-cell depletion with CAMPATH-1 reduces the incidence of graft-versus-host disease but may increase the risk of leukaemic relapse. Bone Marrow Transpl. 1986; 1:53
- Apperley JF, Mauro FR, Goldman JM, Gregory W, Arthur CK, Hows J, Arcese W, Papa G, Mandelli F, Wardle D, Gravett P, Franklin M, Bandini G, Ricci P, Tura S, Iacone A, Torlontano G, Heit W, Champlin R, Gale RP Bone marrow transplantation for chronic myeloid leukaemia in first chronic phase: importance of a graft-versus-leukaemia effect. Br J Haematol 1988; 69: 239
- Ash RC, Detrick RA, Zanjani ED Studies of human pluripotential hemopoietic stem cells (CFU-GEMM) in vitro. Blood 1981; 58:309
- Atkinson K, Farrelly H, Cooley M, O'Flaherty E, Downs K, Biggs JC. Human T cell dose correlates with severity of subsequent acute graft-versus-host disease. Bone Marrow Transplantation 1987;2:51
- Bacigalupo A, Hows J, Gluckman E, Nissen C, Marsh J, Van Lint MT, Congiu M, De Planque MM, Ernst P, McCann S, Ragavashar A, Frickhofen N, Wursch A, Marmont AM, Gordon-Smith EC. Bone marrow transplantation (BMT) versus immunosuppression for the treatment of severe aplastic anaemia (SAA): a report of the EBMT SAA Working Party. Br J Haematol 1988; 70:177
- Bacigalupo A, Van Lint MT, Frassoni F, Marmont A. Graft-versus-leukemia effect following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Br J Haematolgy 1985; :749
- Baines P, Visser JWM. Analysis an separation of murine bone marrow cells by H3342 fluorescence-activated cell sorting. Exp Hematol 1983; 11:709
- Balner H, Van Vreeswijk W, Roger JH. The major histocompatibility complex of rhesus monkeys. XIV. A family study of DR and other RhLA-linked cell membrane antigens. Tissue Antigens 1981;17:350

- Barker JE, McFarland E. The hemtaopoietic stem cells of alfa-thalassemic mice Blood 1985; 66:595
- Barrett A. Clinical aspects of total body irradiation. J Eur Radiother. 1982:3;159
- Bau J, Thierfelder S. Antilymphocytic antibodies and marrow transplantation. I. The effect of antilymphocyte serum on xenogenic engraftment. Transplantation 1973;15:564
- Bauman JGJ, Mulder AH, van den Engh GJ. Effect of surface antigen labelling on spleen colony formation: comparison of the indirect immunofluorescence and the biotin-avidin methods. Exp Hematol 1985;13:760
- Bauman JGJ, Wagemaker G, Visser JWM. A fractionation procedure of mouse bone marrow cells yielding exclusively pluripotent stem cells and committed progenitors. J Cell Physiol 1986;128:133
- Becker AJ, McCulloch EA, Till JE. Cytological demonstration of the clonal nature of spleen colonies derived from transplanted mouse marrow cells. Nature 1963; 197:452
- Berenson RJ, Levitt LJ, Levy R, Miller RA. Cellular immunoabsorption using monoclonal antibodies. Selective removal of T cells from peripheral blood and bone marrow. Transplantation 1984;38:136
- Berenson RJ, Andrews RG, Bensinger WI, Kalamaz D, Knitter G, Buckner CD, Bernstein D. Antigen CD34⁺ marrow cells engraft lethally irradiated baboons. J Clin Invest 1988; 81: 951
- Beverley PCL, Linch D, Delia D. Isolation of human haematopoietic progenitor cells using monoclonal antibdoies. Nature 1980;287:332
- Billingham RE, Brent L. A simple method for inducing tolerance of skin homografts in mice. Transplant Bull 1957;4:67
- Blazar BR, Quinones RR, Heinitz KJ, Sevenich EA, Filipovich AH. Comparison of three techniques for the ex vivo elimination of T cells from human bone marrow Exp Hematol 1985; 13:123
- **Blazar BR, Soderling CCB, Robison LL, Vallera DA.** Short-course total-lymphoid irradiation combined with total-body irradiation to facilitate engraftment of T cell-depleted marrow across a major histocompatibility barrier in mice. Transplantation 1988;46:324
- Bodger MP, Hann IM, Maclean RF, Beard MEJ. Enrichment of pluripotent hemopoietic progenitor cells from human bone marrow. Blood 1984; 64:774
- Borel JF, Feurer C, Magnee C, Stahelin H. Effects of the new, anti-lymphocytic peptide, cyclopsorine A in animals. Immunology 1977; 32:1017
- **Borleffs JCC.** Kidney transplantation in rhesus monkeys. Influence of matching for DR antigens, blood transfusions and cyclosporin A. Thesis 1982, Leiden, the Netherlands

- Bortin MM, Gale RP, Rimm AA for the Advisory Committee of the International Bone Marrow Transplant Registry. Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation for 144 patients with severe aplastic anemia. J Am Med Assoc 1981;245:1132
- Bozdech MJ, Sondel PM, Trigg ME, Longo W, Kohler PC, Flynn B, Billing R, Anderson SA, Hank JA, Hong R. Transplantation of HLA-haploidentical T-celldepleted marrow for leukemia: Addition of cytosine arabinoside to pretransplant conditioning prevents rejection. Exp Hematol 1985; 13:1201
- Brandt SJ, Peters WP, Atwater SK, Kurtzberg J, Borowitz MJ, Jones RB, Shpall E, Bast RC, Gilbert CJ, Oette DH. Effect of recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor on hematopoietic reconstitution after high-dose chemotherapy and autologous bone marrow transplantation. N Engl J Med 1988;318:869
- Broerse JJ, Van Bekkum DW, Hollander CF, Davids JAG. Mortality of monkeys after exposure to fission neutrons and the effectof autologous bone marrow transplantation Int J Radiat Biol 1978: 34;253
- Buckner CD, Clift RA, Thomas ED, Hersman J, Sanders JE, Stewart PS,Wade JC, Murphy M, Counts G, Meyers JD. Early infectious complications in allogeneic marrow transplant recipients with acute leukemia: effects of prophylactic measures. Infection 1983; 5:243
- Buckner CD, Peterson FB. A randomized trial of infection prophylaxis in patients undergoing allogeneic marrow transplantation for hematological malignancy Exp Hematol 1985; 13:345 (abstract)
- **Burnett AK, Hann IM, Robertson**. Prevention of graft-versus-host disease by ex vivo T cell depletion: reduction in graft failure with augmented total body irradiation Leukemia 1988;2:300
- Cahn JY, Herve P, Flesh M, Plouvier E, Racadot E, Vuillier J, Montcuquet P, Noir A, Rozenbaum A, Leconte des Floris R. Marrow transplantation from HLA non-identical family donors for the treatment of leukemia: a pilot study of 15 patients using additional immunosuppression and T-cell depletion. Br J Haematol 1988;69:345
- Calvo W, Fliedner TM, Herbst E, Hugl E, Bruch C. Regeneration of blood-forming organs after autologous leukocyte transfusion in lethally irradiated dogs. II. Distribution and cellularity of the marrow in irradiated and transfused animals. Blood 1976; 47:593
- Castagnola C, Visser JWM, Boersma W, van Bekkum DW. Purification of rat pluripotent hemopoietic stem cells. Stem cells 1981; 1:250

- Champlin R, For the Advisory Committee of the International Bone Marrow Transplant Registry. Bone marrow transplantation for acute leukemia: A preliminary report from the international bone marrow transplant registry. Transpl Proceed 1987; 19:2626
- Clark SC, Kamen R. The human hematopoietic colony stimulating factors. Science 1987:236;1229
- Clark P, Normansell DE, Innes DJ, Hess CE. Lymphocyte subsets in normal bone marrow. Blood 1986;67:1600
- Cobbold SP, Martin G, Qin S, Waldmann H. Monoclonal antibodies to promote marrow engraftment and tissue graft tolerance. Nature 1986:323;164
- Colton Th. Statistics in medicine. Little, Brown and Company, Boston, 1974
- Crawford DH, Francis GE, Wing MA, Edwards AJ, Janossy G, Hoffbrand AV, Prentice HG, Secher D, McConnell I, Kung PC, Goldstein G. Reactivity of monoclonal antibodies with human myeloid precursor cells. Br J Haematol 1981; 49:209
- Crouch BG, van Putten LM, van Bekkum DW, de Vries MJ. Treatment of total body X-irradiated monkeys with autologous and homologous bone marrow. J Nat Cancer Inst 1961; 27:67
- Cudkowicz G. Suppression of the foreign bone marrow reaction by preirradiation of donor mice. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1961;107:821
- De Gast GC, Verdonck LF, van Kempen-Harteveld ML, Gerritsen H, Dekker AW. Preventie van 'graft-versus-host'-ziekte na allogene beenmergtransplantatie door verwijdering van T-cellen. NTVG 1986; 130:868
- De Vries MJ, Grouch BG, van Putten LM, van Bekkum DW. Pathological changes in irradiated monkeys treated with bone marrow. J Nat Cancer Inst 1961;27:67
- De Vries MJ. Pathology of the radiation chimera. In: Radiation Chimeras. (D.W. van Bekkum and MJ de Vries, eds.), Logos Press/Academic Press, New York, 1967;127
- De Vries P. Identification of murine hemopoietic stem cells with monoclonal antibodies Thesis 1988, Rotterdam, the Netherlands
- De Witte T, Plas E, Koekman E, Blankenborg G, Salden M, Wessels J, Haanen C. Cell size monitored counterflow centrifugation of human bone marrow resulting in clonogenic cell fractions substantially depleted of smallbone marrow lymphocytes J Immunol Methods 1983; 65:171
- De Witte T, Raymakers R, De Pauw B, Wessels J, Haanen C. Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation with marrow grafts depleted of lymphocytes by counterflow centrifugation. Exp Hematol 1984; 12(suppl.):62

- Deeg HJ, Storb R, Weiden PL, Shulman HM, Graham TC, Torok-Storb BJ, Thomas ED. Abrogation of resistance to and enhancement of DLA-non-identical unrelated marrow grafts in lethally irradiated dogs by thoracic duct lymphocytes Blood 1979; 53:552
- Deeg HJ, Storb R, Weiden PL, Raff RF, Sale GE, Atkinson K, Graham TC, Thomas ED. Cyclosporin A and methotrexate in canine marrow transplantation: engraftment,graft-versus-host disease, and induction of tolerance Transplantation 1982:34;30
- Deeg HJ, Storb R, Appelbaum FR, Kennedy MS, Graham TC, Thomas ED. Combined immunosuppression with cyclosporine and methotrexate in dogs given bone marrow from DLA-haploidentical littermates. Transplantation 1984; 37:62
- Deeg HJ, Storb R, Aprile J, Appelbaum F, Graham TG. Prevention of transfusioninduced sensitization by ultraviolet irradiation of the transfusion product. Exp Hematol 1985;13:410
- Deeg HJ, Storb R, Thomas ED, Flournoy N, Kennedy MS, Banaji M, Appelbaum FR, Bensinger WI, Buckner CD, Clift RA, Doney K, Fefer A, McGuffin R, Sanders JE, Singer J, Stewart P, Sullivan KM, Witherspoon RP. Cyclosporine as prophylaxis for graft-versus-host disease: a randomizedstudy in patients undergoing marrow transplantation for acute nonlymphoblastic leukemia Blood 1985; 65:1325
- Deeg HJ, Sale GE, Storb R, Graham TC, Scheuning F, Appelbaum FR, Thomas ED. Engraftment of DLA-nonidentical bone marrow facilitated by recipient treatment with anti-class II monoclonal antibody and methotrexate. Transplantation 1987;44:340
- Dicke KA, Van Hooft JIM, Van Bekkum DW. The selective elimination of immunologically competent cells from bone marrow and lymphatic cell mixtures. Transplantation 1968; 6:562
- Dicke KA. Bone marrow transplantation after separation by discontinous albumin density gradient centrifugation. Thesis, Leiden, 1970
- Dicke KA, Van Bekkum DW. Avoidance of acute secondary disease by purification of hemopoietic stem cells with density gradient centrifugation. Exp Hematol (Oak Ridge Series) 1970; 20:
- Dicke KA, van Noord MJ, van Bekkum DW. Attempts at morphological identification of the hemopoietic stem cell in rodents and primates. Exp Hemat 1973; 1:36
- Donahue RE, Wang EA, Stone DK, Kamen R, Wong GG, Sehgal PK, Nathan DG, Clark SC. Stimulation of haematopoiesis in primates by continuous infusion of recombinant human GM-CSF. Nature 1986;321:872

- Donahue RE, Seehra J, Metzger M, LeFebvre D, Rock B, Carbone S, Nathan DG, Garnick M, Sehgal P, Laston D, LaVallie E, McCoy J, Schendel PF, Norton C, Turner K, Yang Y-C, Clark SC. Human IL-3 and GM-CSF act synergistically in stimulating hematopoiesis in primates. Science 1988;241:1820
- Doney KC, Weiden PL, Storb R, Thomas ED. Failure of early administration of antithymocyte globulin to lessen graft-versus-host disease in human allogeneic marrow transplant recipients. Transplantation 1981; 31:141
- Dorssers L, Burger H, Bot F, Delwel R, Geurts van Kessel AHM, Löwenberg B, Wagemaker G. Characterization of a human multilineage-colony-stimulating factor cDNA clone identified by a conserved noncoding sequence in mouse interleukin-3. Gene 1987; 55:115
- Duquesnoy RJ, Zeevi A, Marrari M, Hackbarth S, Camitta B for the Milwaukee Children's Hospital Bone Marrow Transplantation Team. Bone marrow transplantation for severe Aplastic Anemia using a phenotypically HLA-identical, SBcompatible unrelated donor. Transplantation 1983;35:566
- Falkenburg JH, Jansen J, van der Vaart-Duinkerken N, Veenhof WFJ, Blotkamp J, Goselink HM, Parlevliet J, van Rood JJ. Polymorphic and monomorphic HLA-DR determinants on human hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood 1984:63;1125
- Falkenburg JHF, van der Vaart-Duinkerken N, Veenhof WFJ, Goselink HM, van Eeden G, Parleviet J, Jansen J. Complement-dependent cytotoxicity in the analysis of antigenic determinants on human hematopoietic progenitor cells with HLA-DR as a model. Exp Hematol 1984; 12:817
- Fauser AA and Messner HA. Identification of megakaryocytes, macrophages, and eosinophils in colonies of human bone marrow containing neutrophilic granulocytes and erythroblasts Blood 1979; 53:1023
- Ferrara JLM, Michaelson J, Burakoff SJ, Mauch P. Engraftment following T celldepleted bone marrow transplantation. Transplantation 1988;45:948
- Fischer A, Friedrich W, Levinsky R, Vossen J, Griscelli C, Kubanek B, Morgan G, Wagemaker G, Landais P. Bone marrow transplantation for immunodeficiencies and osteopetrosis: European survey 1968-1985 Lancet 1986;2:1080
- Fisher A, Blanche S, Veber F, Delaage M, Mawas C, Griscelli C, Le Deist F, Lopez M, Olive D, Janossy G. Prevention of graft failure by an anti-HLFA-1 monoclonal antibody in HLA-mismatched transplantation. Lancet 1986a;2:1058
- Fitchen JH, Ferrone S. Expression of I subregion antigens on murine hematopoietic stem cells. J Supramol Struct 1981; 14: Suppl 5:107

126

Fitchen JH, LeFevre C, Ferrone S, Cline MJ. Expression of Ia-like antigens and HLA-A,B antigens on human multipotential hemapoietic progenitor cells. Blood 1982; 59:188

- Ford CE, Hamerton JL, Barnes DWH, Loutit JF. Cytological identification of radiation chimeras. Nature 1956; 177:452
- Gabrilove JL, Jakubowski A, Fain K, Grous J, Scher H, Sternberg C, Yagoda
 A, Clarkson B, Bonilla MA, Oettgen HF, Alton K, Boone T, Altrock B,
 Welte K, Souza L Phase I study granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in patients with transitional cell carcinoma of the urothelium J Clin Invest 1988;82:1454
- Gassmann W, Uharek L, Wottge H-U, Schmitz N, Löffler H,Muller-Ruchholtz
 W. Comparison of cyclophosphamide, cytarabine, and etoposide as immunosuppressive agents before allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1988;72:1574
- Gerritsen WR, Wagemaker G, Jonker M, Kenter MJH, Wielenga JJ, Hale G, Waldmann H, Bekkum van DW. The repopulation capacity of bone marrow grafts following pretreatment with monoclonal antibodies against T-lymphocytes in rhesus monkeys. Transplantation 1988;45:301
- Gillio AP, Bonilla MA, Potter GP, Babrilove JL, O'Reilly RJ, Souza LM, Welte K. Effect of recombinant human granulocyte colony stimulating factor on hematopoietic reconstitution following autologous bone marrow transplantation in primates Transpl Proceed 1987;19:153
- Gingrich R, Howe C, Goeken N, Kugler J, Ginder G, Fyle M. Successful bone marrow transplantation with partially matched unrelated donors Transplant Proceed 1985;17:450
- Gluckman E, Devergie A, Lokiec F, Traineau R, Cosset JM, Lemercier N, Varrin F, Cavazzana M, de Castro H, Meletis J, Raffoux C, Rabian C, Dutreix J Role of immunosuppressive drugs for prevention of graft-v-host disease after human HLA matched bone marrow transplantation Transpl Proceed 1987;19:61
- Goldman JM, Gale RP, Horwitz MM, Biggs JC, Champlin RE, Gluckman E, Hoffmann RG, Jacobsen SJ, Marmont AM, McGlave PB, Messner HA, Rimm AA, Rozman C, Speck B, Tura S, Weiner RS, Bortin MM.
 Bone marrow transplantation for chronic myelogenous leukemia in chronic phase. Increased risk for relapse associated with T-cell depletion. Ann Int Med 1988; 108:806
- Goldschneider I, Metcalf D, Battye F, Mandel T. Analysis of rat hemopoietic cells on the fluorescence-activated cellsorter. I.Isolation of pluripotent hemopoietic stem cells and granulocyte-macrophage progenitor cells. J Exp Med 1980; 152:419

- Granger S, Janossy G, Francis G, Blacklock H, Poulter LW, Hoffbrand AV Elimination of T-lymphocytes from human bone marrow with monoclonal T-antibodies and cytolytic complement. Br J Haematol 1982;50:367
- Gratwohl A et al, European Group for Bone marrow Transplantation. Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation for leukemia in Europe. Lancet 1988;1:1379
- Greenberger JS, Rothstein L, DeFabritiis P, Bregni M, Bast R, Ritz J, Nadler LM, Lipton JM, Sakakeeny MA. Effects of monoclonal antibody and complement t treatment of human marrow on hematopoiesis in continuous bone marrow culture Cancer Research 1985; 45:758
- Griffin JD, Mayer RJ, Weinstein HJ, Rosenthal DS, Coral FS, Beveridge RP, Schlossman SF. Surface marker analysis of acute myeloblastic leukemia: identification of differentiation-associated phenotypes. Blood 1983; 62:557
- Hagenbeek A, Löwenberg B. Prevention of graft-versus-host disease without take failures after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transpl 1987;2:141 Suppl
- Hale G, Bright S, Chumbley G., et al. Removal of T-cells from bone marrow for transplantation: a monoclonal antibody that fixes human complement. Blood 1983;62:253
- Hale G, Waldmann H. Depletion of T-cells with CAMPATH-1 and human complement.Analysis of GvHD and graft failure in a multi-centre study.Bone marrow transplantation 1986; 1:93
- Hale G, Cobbold S, Waldmann H for Campath-1 users. T cell depletion with Campath-1 in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Transplantation 1988;45:753
- Hansen JA, Clift RA, Thomas ED, Buckner CD, Storb R, Giblett ER. Transplantation of marrow from an unrelated donor to a patient with acute leukemia N Engl J Med 1980;303:565
- Hansen JA, Martin PJ, Beatty PG, Clark EA, Ledbetter JA. Human T lymphocyte cell surface molecules defined by the workshop monoclonal antibodies ('T cell protocol') In: Bernard A et al (eds): Leucocyte typing. Springer Verlag, Berlin, p. 195, 1984
- Hansen JA, Beatty PG, Clift RA, Thomas ED. Allogeneic marrow transplantation for the treatment of leukemia. Role of the major histocompatibility complex. In: Minimal residual disease in acute leukemia 1986. Hagenbeek T, Lowenberg B (eds). Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Netherlands 1986; p 374
- Harada M, Yoshida T, Ishino C, Matsue K, Kodo H, Mori T, Shiobara S, Odaka K, Ohtake S, Kondo K, Nakao S, Ueda M, Hattori K-I, the Kanazawa University Bone Marrow Transplant Team. Hematologic recovery following autologous and allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Exp Hematol 1983; 11: 841

- Harris RA, Hogarth PM, Wadeson LJ, Collins P, McKenzie IFC, Penington DG. An antigenic difference between cells forming early and late haematopoietic spleen cell colonies (CFU-S). Nature 1984; 307:638
- Heidt PJ, Wagemaker G, Knaan-Shanzer S, Van Bekkum DW. Two distant types of late onset graft-versus-host disease after bone marrow transplantation in lethally irradiated mice. Transplantation 1981; 32:263
- Heidt PJ, Vossen JM. Prevention of infection. In: Bone marrow transplantation. Van Bekkum DW, Lowenberg B (eds) 1985; p. 500
- Heidt PJ. Gnotobiotics and bone marrow transplantation. Experimental and clinical studies. Thesis 1989: Leiden, the Netherlands
- Heit H, Wilson R, Fliedner TM, Kohne E. Mortality of secondary disease in antibiotictreated mouse, radiation chimeras. In: Germfree research: Biological effects and gnotobiotic environment. Heneghan JB (eds). Academic Press, New York 1973; p 477
- Henslee PJ, Thompson JS, Romond EH, Doukas MA, Metcalfe M, Marshall ME, MacDonald JS. T cell depletion of HLA and Haploidentical marrow reduces graftversus-host disease but it may impair a graft-versus-leukemia effect Transpl Proceed 1987;19:2701
- Herve P, Flesch M, Cahn JY, Racadot E, Plouvier E, Lamy B, Rozenbaum A, Noir A, Leconte des Floris R, Peters A. Removal of marrow T cells with OKT3-OKT11 monoclonal antibodies and complement to prevent acute graft-versus-host disease Transplantation 1985;39:138
- Herve P, Cahn JY, Flesh M, Plouvier E, Racadot E, Noir A, Couteret Y,
 Goldstein G, Bernard A, Lenys R, Bresson JL, Leconte de Floris R,
 Peters A. Succesful Graft-versus-Host Diesease prevention without graft failure in 32
 HLA-Identical allogeneic bone marrow transplantations with marror depleted of T cells by
 monoclonal antibodies and complement. Blood 1987;69:388
- Hoogerbrugge PM, Suzuki K, Suzuki K, Poorthuis BJHM, Kobayashi T, Wagemaker G, van Bekkum DW. Donor-derived cells in the central nervous system of Twitcher mice after bone marrow transplantation. Science 1988;239:1035
- Hows JM, Palmer S, Gordon-Smith EC. Use of cyclosporine A in allogeneic, bonemarrow transplantation for severe aplastic anemia. Transplantation 1982; 33:382
- Hows JM. Histocompatible unrelated donors for bone marrow transplantation Bone marrow transplantation 1987;1:259
- Ikebuchi K, Wong GG, Clark SC, Ihle JN, Hirai Y, Ogawa M. Interleukin 6 enhancement of interleukin 3 dependent proliferation of multipotential hemopoietic progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1987:84;9035

- Irle C, Deeg HJ, Buckner CD, Kennedy M, Clift R, Storb R, Appelbaum FR, Beatty P, Bensinger W, Doney K, Cheever M, Fefer A, Greenberg P, Hill R, Martin P, McGuffin R, Sanders J, Stewart P, Sullivan K, Witherspoon R, Thomas ED. Marrow transplantation for leukemia following fractionated total body irradiation. A comparative trial of methotrexate and cyclosporine. Leukemia Res 1985; 9:1255
- Jacobs K, Shoemaker C, Rudersdorf R et al. Isolation and characterization of genomic and cDNA clones of human erythropoietin. Nature 1985:313;806
- Jones JM, Wilson R, Bealmear P. Mortality and gross pathology of secondary disease in germfree mouse radiation chimeras. Radiat Res 1971; 45:577
- Jonker M, Van Meurs G. Monoclonal antibodies specific for B cells, cytotoxic/suppressor T cells and a subset of cytotoxic/suppresor T cells in the rhesus monkey. In: Bernard A et al (eds). Leucocyte Typing; Berlin, Springer-Verlag 1984, p 328
- Jonker M, Neuhaus P, Zurcher C, Fucello A, Goldstein G. OKT4 and OKT4a antibody treatment as immunosuppression for kidney transplantation in rhesus monkeys Transplantation 1985;39:247
- Jonker M, Nooij F. The phylogeny of T cell antigens. In: Leucocyte Typing II (Eds. Reinherz EL, Haynes BF, Nadler LM, Bernstein ID), Springer-Verlag, New York 1986; 373
- Kaizer H, Stuart RK, Brookmeyer R, Beschorner WE, Braine HG, Burns WH,
 Fuller DJ, Korbling M, Mangan KF, Saral R, Sensenbrenner L, Shadduck,
 Shende AC, Tutschka PJ, Yeager AM, Zinkham WH,Colvin OM,Santos
 GW Autologous bone marrow transplantation in acute leukemia: A phase I study of in
 vitro treatment of marrow with 4-hydroxycyclophodphamide to purge tumor cells
 Blood 1985; 65:1504
- Kaplan J, Inoue S, Ottenbreit MJ. Myeloid colony-forming cells express human B lymphocyte antigens. Nature 1978;271:485
- Kawasaki ES, Lander MB, Wang AM, et al. Molecular cloning of a complementary DNA encoding human macrophage specific colony stimulating factor (CSF-1) Science 1985:230;291
- Keating A, Powell J, Takahashi M, Singer JW. The generation of human long-term marrow cultures from marrow depleted of Ia (HLA-DR) positive cells. Blood 1984;6:1159
- Kernan NA, Collins NH, Juliano L, Cartagena T, Dupont B, O'Reilly RJ Clonable T lymphocytes in T cell-depleted bone marrow transplants correlate with development of graft-v-host disease. Blood 1986;68:770
- Kernan NA, Flomenberg N, Dupont B, O'Reilly RJ. Graft rejection in recipients of Tcell-depleted HLA-nonidentical marrow transplants for leukemia Transplantation 1987:43;842
- Kersey J, LeBien T, Vallera D, Filipovich A, McGlave P, Ramsay N. Allogeneic and autologous bone marrow transplantation: ex vivo purging with monoclonal antibody or immunotoxins to remove leukemic cells or to prevent graft versus host disease. In: Minimal residual disease in acute leukemia 1986. Hagenbeek T, Lowenberg B, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Netherlands. p 275
- Kitamura Y, Shimada M, Hatanaka K, Miyano Y. Development of mast cells from grafted bone marrow cells in irradiated mice. Nature 1977; 187:955
- Kolb HJ, Rieder I, Rodt H, Netzel B, Grosse-Wilde H, Scholz S, Schaffer E,
 Kolb H, Thierfelder S. Antilymphocytic antibodies and marrow transplantation. VI.
 Graft-versus-host tolerance in DLA-incompatible dogs after in vitro treatment of bone
 marrow with absorbed antithymocyte globulin. Transplantation 1979; 27:242
- Korngold R, Sprent J. Lethal graft-versus-host disease after bone marrow transplantation across minor histocompatibility barriers in mice. J Exp Med 1978; 148: 1687
- Korngold R, Sprent J. Surface markers of T cells causing lethal graft-vs-host disease to class I vs class II H-2 differences. J Immunol 1985; 135: 3004
- Korngold R, Sprent J. T cell subset and graft-versus-host disease. Transplantation 1987;44:335
- Lazarus HM, Coccia PF, Herzig RH, Graham-Pole J, Gross S, Strandjord S, Gordon E, Cheung N-K V, Warkentin PI, Spitzer TR, Warm SE. Incidence of acute graft-versus-host disease with and without methotrexate prophylaxis in allogeneic bone marrow transplant patients. Blood 1984; 64:215
- Ledney GD, van Bekkum DW. Suppression of acute secondary disease in the mouse with antilymphocyte serum. In: Dausset J, Hamburger J, Mathe G (eds.): Advance in Transplantation. Proc 1st Int. Congr Transpl. Soc., Paris, 1967. Munksgaard, Copenhage, 1968, p 441
- Letvin NL, Todd III RF, Palley LS, Schlossman SF, Griffin JD. Conservation of myeloid surface antigens on primate granulocytes. Blood 1983; 61:408
- Linch DC, Nadler LM, Luther EA, Lipton JM. Discordant expression of human Ia-like antigens on hematopoietic progenitor cells. J Immunology 1984; 132:2324
- Liu Yin JA, Gordon-Smith EC, Hows JM, Goldman J, Chipping P. Bone marrow transplants from unrelated donors. Exp Hematol 1984;12:Suppl 15:40

- Löwenberg B, Sizoo W, Wagemaker G, Sintnicolaas K, Hendriks WDH, Hagenbeek A. Preventie van 'graft-versus-host'-ziekte na allogene beenmergtransplantatie bij patienten met leukemie. NTVG 1986; 130:872
- Lucarelli G, Galimberti M, Delfini C, Agostinelli F, Giorgi C, Giardini C, Polchi P, Izzi T, Manna M, Baronciana D, Angelucci E, Politi P. Marrow transplantantion for thalassaemia following busulphan and cyclophosphamide. Lancet 1985;I:1355
- Madsen M, Johnsen HE, Wendelboe Hansen P, Christiansen SE. Isolation of human T and B lymphocytes by E-rosette gradient centrifugation. Characterization of the isolated subpopulations. J Immunol Methods 1980; 33:323
- Magli MC, Iscove NN, Ordartchenko N. Transient nature of early hematopoietic spleen colonies. Nature 1982:295;527
- Makinodan T. Immunology of bone marrow transplantation. J Cell Comp Physiol Suppl 1957;1:327
- Martin PJ, Hansen JA, Buckner CD, Sanders JE, Deeg HJ, Stewart P,
 Appelbaum FR, Clift R, Fefer A, Witherspoon RP, Kennedy MS, Sullivan KM, Flournoy N, Storb R, Thomas ED. Effects of in vitro depletion of T cells in HLA- identical allogeneic marrow grafts. Blood 1985; 66:664
- Mason DW. Subsets of T cells in the rat mediating lethal graft-versus-host disease Transplantation 1981:32;222
- Mayer P, Lam C, Obenaus H, Liehl E, Besemer J. Recombinant human GM-CSF induces leukocytosis and activates peripheral blood polymorphonuclear neutrophils in nonhuman primates Blood 1987;70:206
- McGlave P, Scott E, Ramsay N, Arthur D, Blazar B, McCullough J, Kersey J Unrelated donor bone marrow transplantation therapy for chronic myelogenous Leukemia Blood 1987;70:877
- Meloni G, De Fabritiis P, Papa G, Amadori S, Pulsoni A, Simone F, Mandelli F Cryopreserved autologous bone marrow infusion following high dose chemotherapy in patients with acute myeloblastic leukemia in first relapse. Leukemia Res 1985; 9:407
- Metcalf D. The Hemopoietic colony Stimulating Factors. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1984
- Metcalf D. The molecular biology and functions of the Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factors. Blood 1986:67;257
- Micklem HS, Clarke CM, Evans EP, Ford CE. Fate of chromosome marked mouse bone marrow cells transfused into normal syngeneic recipients. Transplantation 1968;6:299

- Mitsuyasu RT, Champlin RE, Gale RP, Ho WG, Lenarsky C, Winston D, Selch M, Elashoff R, Giorgi JV, Wells J, Terasaki P, Billing R, Feig S.
 Treatment of donor bone marrow with monoclonal anti-T-cell antibody and complement for the prevention of graft-versus-host disease. Ann Intern Medicine 1986; 105:20
- Monroy RL, MacVittie TJ, Darden JH, Schwartz GN, Patchen ML. The rhesus monkey: a primate model for hemopoietic stem cell studies. Exp Hematol 1986;14:904
- Monroy RL, Skelly RR, Taylor P, Dubois A, Donahue RE, MacVittie TJ Recovery from severe hematopoietic suppression using recombinant human granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor Exp Heamtol 1988;16:344
- Moore MAS, Broxmeyer HE, Sheridan APC, Meyers PA, Jacobsen N, Winchester RJ. Continous human bone marrow culture: Ia antigen characterization of probable pluripotential stem cells. Blood 1980: 55; 682
- Moore MAS, Williams N, Metcalf D. Purification and characterisation of the in vitro colony forming cell in monkey hemopoietic tissue. J Cell Phys 1972; 79:283
- Moore MAS, Warren DJ. Synergy of interleukin 1 and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor: In vivo stimulation of stem cell recovery and hematopoietic regeneration following 5-fluorouracil treatment in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1987:84;7134
- Morstyn G, Souza LM, Keech J, Sheridan W, Campbell L, Alton NK, Green M, Metcalf D, Fox R. Effect of granulocyte colony stimulating factor on neutropenia induced by cytotoxic chemotherapy. Lancet 1988;1:667
- Mouchiroud G, Berthier R, Newton IA, Chapel A, Hollard D. Monoclonal antibodies against human hemopoietic cells and the separation of progenitor cells from bone marrow Exp Hematol 1985;13:566
- Muller-Bérat CN, Van Putten LM, Van Bekkum DW. Cytostatic drugs in the treatment of secondary disease following homologous bone marrow transplantation: extrapolation from the mouse to the primate. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1966;129:340
- Müller-Ruchholtz W, Wottge HU, Müller-Hermelink HK. Reconstitution potentials of allogeneically or xenogeneically grafted lymphocyte-free hemopoietic stem cells
 In: Immunobiology of Bone Marrow Transplantation. Vol 25, Suppl to Blut. (Thierfelder S et al, eds.), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1980;153

Nakic B. The concept of competitive replacement. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1966; 129:340

Nemunaitis J, Singer JW, Buckner CD, Hill R, Storb R, Thomas ED, Appelbaum

FR. Use of recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in autologous marrow transplantation for lymphoid malignancies. Blood 1988;72:834

- Neuhaus P, Brölsch C, Neuhaus R, Lauchert W, Vonnahme F, Wonigeit K, Borleffs J, Balner H, Pichlmayr R. Pretreatment blood transfusions have a positive influence on liver graft survival in rhesus monkeys. Transpl Proceed 1985;17:1129
- Nowell PC, Cole LJ, Habermeyer JG, Roan PL. Growth and continued function of rat marrow cells in X-radiated mice. Cancer Res 1956;16:258
- Nowell PC, Cole LJ. Pathologic changes in old nonirradiated F1 hybrid mice injected with parental-strain spleen cells. Transplant Bull 1959;6:435
- Ohe Y, Hara H, Nagai K. HLA antigens expressed on human pluripotent hemopoietic precursors in vitro (CFUmix). Exp Hematol 1982;10:467
- O'Reilly RJ. Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation: current status and future directions Blood 1983; 62:941
- O'Reilly RJ, Collins NH, Kernan N, Brochstein J, Dinsmore R, Kirkpatrick D, Siena S, Keever C, Jordan B, Shank B, Wolf L, Dupont B, Reisner Y Transplantation of marrow-depleted T cells by soybean lectin agglutination and E-rosette depletion:major histocompatibility complex-related graft resistance in leukemic transplant recipients Transpl Proceed 1985:17;455
- O'Reilly RJ, Collins NH, Brochstein J, Kernan N, Keever C, Malaspina H, Flomenberg N, Laver J, Gulati S, Burns J, Castro-Malaspina H, Emanual D, Bordignon C, Small T, Hornick D, Kushner B, Shank B. Soybean lectin agglutination and E-rosette depletion for removal of T-cells from HLA-identical marrow grafts: results in 60 consecutive patients transplanted for malignancy. In: Minimal residual disease in acute leukemia 1986. Hagenbeek T, Lowenberg B (eds).Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Netherlands 1986; p337
- O'Reilly RJ, Keever C, Kernan NA, Brochstein J, Collins N, Flomenberg N, Laver J, Emanuel D, Dupont B,Cunningham I,Castro-Malaspina H,Gulati S. HLA nonidentical T cell depleted marrow transplants: A comparison of results in patients treated for leukemia and severe combined immunodeficiency disease Transpl Proceed 1987;19:55
- Patterson J, Prentice HG, Brenner MK, Gilmore M, Janossy G, Ivory K, Skeggs D, Morgan H, Lord J, Blacklock HA, Hoffbrand AV, Apperley JF, Goldman JM, Burnett A, Gribben J, Alcorn M, Pearson C, McVickers I, Hann IM, Reid C, Wardle D, Gravett PJ, Bacigalupo A, Robertson AG. Graft rejection following HLA matched T-lymphocyte depleted bone marrow transplantation. Br J Haematology 1986; 63:221
- Pegg DE. Bone marrow transplantation. London:Loyd-Luke Ltd 1966

- Pesando JM, Conrad TA. Nonhuman primates express human leukemia-associated antigens Blood 1985
- Pietryga DW, Blazar BR, Soderling CCB, Vallera DA The effect of T subset depletion on the incidence of lethal graft-versu-host disease in a murine major-histocompatibilitycomplex-mismatched transplantation system. Transplantation 1987;43:442
- Pike BL and Robinson WA. Human bone marrow colony growth in agar gel J Cell Phys 1970; 76:77
- Powell JS, Fialkow PJ, Adamson JW. Human mixed cell colonies: unicellular or multicellular origin analysis by G-6-PD. Br J Haematol 1984; 57:89
- Powles RL, Clink HM, Spence D. Cyclosporine A to prevent graft-versus-host disease in man after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Lancet 1980; 1:327
- Powles RL, Kay HEM, Clink HM, Barrett A, Depledge MH, Sloane J, Lumley H, Lawler SD, Morgenstern GR, McElwain TJ, Dady PJ, Jameson B, Watson G, Leigh M, Hedley D, Filshie J, Robinson B. Mismatched family donors for bone marrow transplantation as treatment for acute leukemia. Lancet 1983;i:612
- Prentice HG, Brenner MK, Grob JP, Janossy G, Wimperis J, Hoffbrand AV, Patterson J, Gilmore M, Thomas AE, Hancock J, Pattinson JK, Bell N, Skeggs D. Bone marrow transplantation in first complete remission of acute leukemia using T-depleted marrow from Hla identical sibling donors. In: Minimal Residual disease in acute leukemia 1986. Hagenbeek T, Lowenberg B. Martinus Nijhof Publishers, Netherlands 1986; p 323
- Racadot E, Herve P, Bernard A, Flesh M, Cahn JY, Vernant JP, Kuentz M,
 Beaujean F, Rio B, Andreu G, Soreau E, Souillet G, Philippe N, Ershan
 A, Pico J, Paitre ML, Ifrah N, Bordigoni P, Aymard JP, Lutz P. T-depletion using pan T monoclonal antibody combination and rabbit complement to prevent GvHD. A French pilot study of 62 patients. Bone marrow transplantation 1986; 1:119
- Ramsay NKC, Kersey JH, Robinson LL, McGlave PB, Woods WG, Krivit W, Kim TH, Goldman AI, Nesbit ME. A randomized study of the prevention of acute graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med 1982; 306:392
- Reiffers J, Bernard P, David B, Vezon G, Sarrat A, Marit G, Moulinier J, Broustet A. Successful autologous transplantation with peripheral blood hemoppoietic cells in a patient with acute leukemia. Exp Hematol 1986; 14:312
- Reinherz EL, Kung PC, Goldstein G, Schlossman SF. Discrete stages of human intrathymic differentiation: analysis of normal thymocytes and leukemic lymphoblasts of T lineage. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1980; 77:1588

- Reisner Y, Kapoor N, O'Reilly RJ, Good RA. Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation using stem cells fractionated by lectins: VI. In vitro analysis of human and monkey bone marrow cells fractionated by sheep red blood cells and soybean agglutinin. Lancet 1980; 2:1320
- Reisner Y, Kirkpatrick D, Dupont B, O'Reilly RJ, Kapoor N, Pollack MS, Good RA. Transplantation for acute leukemia with HLA-A and B nonidentical parenteral marrow cells fractionated with soybean agglutinin and sheep red blood cells. Lancet 1981; 2:327
- Reisner Y, Ben-Bassat I, Douer D, Kaploon A, Schwartz E, Ramot
 B.Demonstration of clonable alloreactive host T cells in primate model for bone marrow transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1986:83;4012
- Ringden O, Paulin T, Lönnqvist B, Nilsson B. An analysis of factors predisposing to chronic graft-versus-host disease. Exp Heamtol 1985;13:1062
- Ringden O, Bäckman L, Lönnqvist B, Heimdahl A, Lindholm A, Bolme P, Gahrton G. A randomized trial comparing use of cyclosporin and methotrexate for graftversus-host disease prophylaxis in bone marrow transplant recipients with haematological malignancies. Bone Marrow Transpl 1986;1:41
- Ringden O, Zwaan F, Hermans J, Gratwohl A for the Leukemia Working Party of the European Group for Bone Marrow Transplantation. European experience of bone marrow transplantation for leukemia. Transpl Proceed 1987; 19:2600
- Rodt H, Thierfelder S, Eulitz M. Antilymphocyte antibodies and marrow transplantation.
 III. Effect of heterelogous anti-brain antibodies on acute secondary disease in mice.
 Eur J Immunol 1974; 4:25
- Rowley SD, Colvin OM, Stuart RK. Human multilineage progenitor cell sensivity to 4hydroperoxycyclophosphamide. Exp Hematol 1985; 13:1985
- Santos GW, Cole LJ, Roan PL. Effect of X-ray dose on the protective action and persistence of rat bone marrow in irradiated penicillin treated mice. Am J Physiol 1958;194:23
- Saxe DF, Boggs SS, Boggs DR. Transplantation of chromosomally marked syngneic marrow cells into mice not subjected to hematopoietic stem cell depletion Exp Hematol 1984:12;277
- Schaefer UW, Dicke KA, van Bekkum DW.Recovery of haemopoiesis in lethally irradiated monkeys by frozen allogeneic bone marrow grafts Rev Europ Etudes Clin et Biol 1972; 17:4

- Scheven BAA, Visser JWM, Nijweide PJ. In vitro osteoclast generation from different bone marrow fractions, including a highly enriched haemopoietic stem cell population Nature 1986; 321: 79
- Schultz FW, Vriesendorp HM, Hagenbeek A. On the quantitative role of graft-versushost disease in decreasing the leukemia relapse rate after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Arguments against abandoning T-cell depleted marrow grafting submitted to Bone Marrow Transplant 1989
- Schwartz E, Lapidot T, Gozes D, Singer T, Reisner Y. Abrogation of bone marrow allograft resistance in mice by increased total body irradiation correlates with eradication of host clonable T cells and alloreactive cytotoxic precursors. J Immunol 1987;138:460
- Shulman HM, Sale GE, Lerner KG, Barker EA, Weiden PL, Sullivan K, Galluci B, Thomas ED, Storb R. Chronic cutaneous graft-versus-host disease in man Am J Pathol 1978:91;545
- Sieff C, Bicknell D, Caine G, Robinson J, Lam G, Greaves MF. Changes in cell surface antigen expression during hemopoietic differentiation. Blood 1982; 60: 703
- Sieff CA, Emerson SG, Donahue RE, Nathan DG, Wang EA, Wong GG, Clark SC.Human recombinant granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor: a multilineage hematopoietin. Science 1985;230:1171
- Skinhøj P, Jacobsen N, Høiby N, Faber V, and the Copenhagen Bone Marrow Transplant Group: Strict protective isolation in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation; effect on infectious complications, fever and graft versus host disease. Scand J Infect Dis 1987;19:91
- Smith BR, Parkman R, Lipton J, Nathan DG, Rappeport JM. Efficacy of a short course (four doses) of methotrexate following bone marrow transplantation for prevention of graft-versus-host disease. Transplantation 1985; 39:326
- Smith LH, Vos O. Radiation sensitivity of mouse lymph node cells realtive to their proliferative capacity in vivo. Rad Res 1963;19:485
- Socinski MA, Elias A, Schnipper L, Cannistra SA, Antman KH, Griffin JD Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor expands the circulating haemopoietic progenitor cell compartment in man. Lancet 1988;i:1194
- Soderling CCB, Song CW, Blazar BR, Vallera DA. A correlation between conditioning and engraftment in recipients of MHC-mismatched T cell-depleted murine bone marrow transplants. J Immunology 1985; 135:941

- Sondel PM, Bozdech MJ, Trigg ME, Hong R, Finlay JL, Kohler PC, Longo W, Hank JA, Billing R, Steeves R, Flynn B. Additional immunosuppression allows engraftment following HLA-mismatched T cell-depleted bone marrow transplantation for leukemia. Transpl Proceed 1985;17:460
- Souza LM, Boone TC, Gabrilove J, et al. Recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor: Effects on normal and leuekmic myeloid cells. Science 1986:232;61
- Spangrude GJ, Heimfeld S, Weissman IL. Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Science 1988; 241:58
- Speck B, Gratwohl A, Nissen C, Ruggero D, Cornu P, Osterwalder B, Burri H, Jeannet M. Cyclopsorin A for prophylaxis of GvH in clinical, bone-marrow transplantation. In: Exp Hematology Today 1981. Baum SJ et al (eds). S. Karger, Basel 1981: p 117
- Spitzer G, Verma DS, Fisher R, Zander A, Vellekoop L, Litam J, McCredie KB, Dicke KA. The myeloid progenitor cell - its value in predicting hematopoietic recovery after autologous bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1980; 55:317
- Spooncer E, Lord BJ, Dexter TM. Defective ability to self-renew in vitro of higly purified primitive haemopoietic cells. Nature 1985; 316:62
- Sprent J, Schaefer M, Lo D, Korngold R. Properties of purified T cell subsets II. In vivo responses to class I vs class II H-2 differences. J Exp Med 1986;163:998
- Storb R, Deeg HJ, Fisher L, Appelbaum F, Buckner CD, Bensinger W, Clift R, Doney K, Irle C, McGuffin R, Martin P, Sanders J, Schoch G, Singer J, Stewart P, Sullivan K, Witherspoon R, Thomas ED. Cyclosporine versus Methotrexate for graft-versus-host disease prevention in patients given marrow grafts for leukemia: Long term follow-up of three controlled trials. Blood 1988;71:293
- Storb R, Deeg HJ, Weiden PL, Graham TC, Atkinson K, Slickter SJ, Thomas ED. Marrow graft rejection in DLA identical canine littermates. Transplant Proceed 1979;11:504
- Storb R, Deeg HJ, Whitehead J, Appelbaum F, Beatty P, Bensinger W, Buckner CD, Clift R, Doney K, Farewell V, Hansen J, Hill R, Lum L, Martin P, McGuffin R, Sanders J, Stewart P, Sullivan K, Witherspoon R, Yee G, Thomas ED. Marrow transplantation for leukemia: a controlled trial of a combination of methotrexate and cyclosporine or cyclopsorine alone for prophylaxis of acute graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med 1986; 314:729
- Storb R, Deeg HJ,Farewell V, Doney K, Appelbaum F, Beatty P, Bensinger W, Buckner CD, Clift R, Hansen J, Hill R, Longton G, Lum L, Martin P, McGuffin R, Sanders J, Stewart P, Sullivan K, Witherspoon R, Yee G,

138

Thomas ED. Marrow transplantation for severe aplastic anemia: methotrexate alone compared with a combination of methotrexate and cyclosporine for prevention of acute graft-versus-host disease. Blood 1986;68;119

- Storb R, Epstein RB, Graham TC, Thomas ED. Methotrexate regimens for control of graft-versus-host disease in dogs with allogeneic marrow grafts. Transplantation 1970; 9:240
- Storb R, Graham TC, Thomas ED. Treatment of canine graft-versus-host disease with methotrexate and cyclophosphamide following bone marrow transplantation from histoincompatible donors. Transplantation 1970a; 10:165
- Storb R, Kolb TC, Graham TC, Kolb H, Weiden PL, Thomas ED. Treatment of established graft-versus-host disease in dogs by antithymocyte serum or prednisone Blood 1973; 42:601
- Storb R, Graham TC, Epstein RB, Sale GE, Thomas ED. Demonstration of hemopoietic stem cells in the peripheral blood of baboons by cross circulation. Blood 1977; 50:537
- Storb R, Prentice RL, Buckner CD, Clift RA, Appelbaum F, Deeg J, Doney K, Hansen JA, Mason M, Sanders JE, Singer J, Sullivan KM, Witherspoon RP, Thomas ED. Graft-versus-host disease and survival in patients with aplastic anemia treated by marrow grafts from HLA-identical siblings. Beneficial effect of a protective environment. N Engl J Med 1983; 308;302
- Storb R, Prentice RL, Sullivan KM, Shulman HM, Deeg HJ, Doney KC, Buckner CD, Clift RA, Witherspoon RP, Appelbaum FA, Sanders JE, Stewart PS, Thomas ED. Predictie factors in chronic graft-versus-host disease in patients with aplastic anemia treated by marrow transplantation from HLA-identical siblings. Ann Int Med 1983;98:461
- Storb R, Thomas ED. Graft-versus-Host Disease in dog and man: The Seattle Experience. Immunol Review 1985; 88:215
- Storb R, Deeg HJ, Thomas ED, Appelbaum FR, Buckner CD, Cheever MA, Clift RA, Doney KC, Flournoy N, Kennedy MS, Loughran TP, McGuffin RW, Sale GE, Sanders JE, Singer JW, Stewart PS, Sullivan KM, Witherspoon RP. Marrow transplantation for chronic myelocytic leukemia: a controlled trial of cyclopsorine versus methotrexate for prophylaxis of Graft-versus-Host Disease. Blood 1985;66:698
- Storb R, Whitehead J, Farewell V, Appelbaum FR, Beatty P, Bensinger W, Buckner CD, Clift RA, Doney K, Hansen JA, Hill R, Lum LG, Martin P, McGuffin R, Sanders JE, Singer J, Stewart P, Sullivan KM, Whiterspoon

RP, Thomas ED. Marrow transplantation for leukemia and aplastic anemia: two controlled trials of a combination of methotrexate and cyclosporine versus cyclosporine alone or methotrexate alone for prophylaxis of acute graft-versus-host disease. Transpl Proceed 1987;19:2608

Storb R. Critical issues in bone marrow transplantation. Transpl Proceed 1987a;19;2774

- Strauss LC, Rowley SD, La Russa VF, Sharkis SJ, Stuart RK, Civin CI Antigen analysis of hemopoiesis. V. Characterization of My-10 antigen expression by normal lymphohematopoietic progenitor cells. Exp Hematol 1986: 14;878
- Sullivan KM, Shulman, Storb R, Weiden PL, Witherspoon RP, McDonald GB, Schubert MM, Atkinson K, Thomas ED. Chronic graft-versus-host disease in 52 patients: adverse natural course and successful treatment with combination immunosuppression. Blood 1981:57;267
- Swirsky DM, Watt SM, Gilmore DJ, Hayhoe, Waldmann H. The characterisation of monoclonal antibodies against haemopoietic cells: comparison of an immunoperoxidase method with fluorescence activated cell sorting. J Immunol Methods 1983; 61:171
- Szer J, Deeg HJ, Appelbaum FR, Storb R. Failure of autologous reconstitution after cytolytic treatment of marrow with anti-Ia monoclonal antibody. Blood 1985; 65:819
- Takada A, Takada Y, Ambrus JL. Proliferation of donor hematopoietic cells in irradiated and unirradiated host mice. Transplantation 1971;12:334
- Tax WJM, Tidman N, Janossy G. Monoclonal antibody (WT-1) directed against a T-cell surface glycoprotein: characteristics and immunosuppressive activity Clin Exp Immunology 1984; 55:427
- Thomas ED, Collins JA, Herman EC, Ferrebee JW. Marrow transplants in lethally irradiated dogs given methotrexate. Blood 1962; 19:217
- Thomas ED, Storb R, Clift RA, Fefer A, Johnson FL, Neiman PE, Lerner KG, Glucksberg H, Buckner CD. Bone-marrow transplantation N Engl J Med 1975; 895
- Till JE, McCulloch EA. A direct measurement of the irradiaion sensitivity of normal mouse bone marrow cells. Rad. Res. 1961; 14:213
- Trask. Studies on chromosomes and nuclei using flow cytometry. Thesis. Leiden. 1985
- Trentin JJ. Homologous disease in unirradiated F1 hybrid mice receiving parental lymphoid tissue. In Biological Problems of Grafting. Vol 1, International Colloquium. University of Liege, (F.Albert and G. Lejeune-Ledante, eds), Oxford, Blackwell, 1959; p 207

- Trentin JJ, Fahlberg WJ. An experimental model for studies of immunologic competence in irradiated mice repopulated with "clones" of spleens cells. In Conceptual Advances in Immunology and Oncology, 16th Annual Symposium 1962, Texas, Harper and Row, New York, 1963; p 66
- Truitt RL. Allogeneic marrow transplantation in experimental leukemia: Influence of microbial status at time of transplant. Abstract no.8, 17th Annual Meeting of the Association for Gnotobiotics, New York; 1979
- Truitt RL. Application of germfree techniques to the treatment of leukemia in AKR mice by allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. In: The handbook of cancer immunology; Volume 5: Immunotherapy. (Walters, H ed.) Garland STPM Press, New York; 1978:431
- Tutschka PJ, Beschorner WE, Allison AC. Use of cyclosporine A in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation (BMT) in rat. Nature 1979; 280:148
- Tyan ML. Modification of severe graft-versus-host disease with antisera to theta antigen or to whole serum. Transplantation 1973;15:601
- Uphoff DE. Alterations of homograft reaction by A-methoprin in lethally irradiated mice treated with homologous marrow. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1958; 99:651
- Vallera DA, Soderling CCB, Carlson GJ, Kersey JH. Bone marrow transplantation across major histocompatibility barriers in mice. Effect of elimination of T cells from donor grafts by treatment with Thy-1.2 plus complement or antibody alone. Transplantation 1981; 31: 218
- Vallera DA, Soderling CCB, Kersey JH. Bone marrow transplantation across major histocompatibility barriers in mice: III. Treatment of donor grafts with monoclonal antibodies directed against Lyt determinants. J Immunol 1982; 128: 871
- Vallera D, Ash R, Zanjani E, Kersey J, LeBien T, Beverly P, Neville D, Youle R. Anti-T-cell reagents for human bone marrow transplantation: ricin linked to three monoclonal antibodies. Science 1983; 222:512
- Van Bekkum DW, Vos O. Immunological aspects of homo- and heterologous bone marrow transplantation in irradiated animals. J Cell Comp Physiol 1957;50:319
- Van Bekkum DW. The selective elimination of immunological immunocompetent cells from bone marrow and lymphatic cell mixtures. I.Effect of storage at 4° C. Transplantation 1964;2:393
- Van Bekkum DW, Dicke KA, Balner H, Hollander CF. Failure to obtain take of allogeneic bone marrow grafts in monkeys following pretreatment with cyclophosphamide. Exp Hematol 1970;20:24

- Van Bekkum DW. Mitigation of acute secondary disease by treatment of the recipient with antilymphocyte serum before grafting of allogeneic hemopoietic cells. Exp Hematol 1970; 20:3
- Van Bekkum DW, Van Noord MJ, Maat B, Dicke KA. Attempts at identification of hemopoietic stem cell in mouse. Blood 1971; 38:547
- Van Bekkum DW and De Vries MJ. In: Radiation chimaeras; London, Logos Press, 1967 Van Bekkum DW,Balner H,Dicke KA,Van den Berg FG,Prinsen GH,Hollander CF

The effect of pretreatment of allogeneic bone marrow graft recipients with antilymphocytic serum on the acute graft-versus-host reaction in monkeys. Transplantation 1972; 13:400

- Van Bekkum DW, Roodenburg J, Heidt PJ, Van der Waaij. Mitigation of secondary disease of allogeneic mouse radiation chimeras by modification of the intestinal microflora. J Natl Cancer Inst 1974; 52:401
- Van Bekkum DW, Knaan S. Role of bacterial flora in development of intestinal lesions from graft versus host reaction. J Natl Cancer Inst 1977;58:787
- Van Bekkum DW. The rhesus monkey as a preclinical model for bone marrow transplantation Transpl Proceed 1978; 5:105
- Van Bekkum DW, Van den Engh GJ, Wagemaker G, Bol SJL, Visser JWM Structural identity of the pluripotent hempoietic stem cell. Blood cells 1979; 5:143
- Van Bekkum DW. Graft-versus-Host Disease. In: Bone marrow transplantation. Biological mechanism and clinical practice. Van Bekkum DW, Lowenberg B(eds). Marcel Dekker, New York, 1985. p 163
- Van Bekkum DW, Hagenbeek A. Immunohematological aspects of total body irradiation and bone marrow transplantation for the treatment of leukemia. ESCO, 1988, the Hague
- Van den Engh G, Bauman J, Mulder D, Visser J. Measurement of antigen expression of hemopoietic stem cells and progenitor cells by fluorescence activated cell sorting. In: Haemopoietic stem cells (Killmann S-V et al, eds.), Munksgaard, Copenhagen 1983;59
- Van den Engh GJ, Russell JL, DeCicco D. Surface antigens of hemopoietic stem cells: expression of BAS, Thy-1, and H-2 antigen of CFU-S. In: Experimental Hematology Today. Baum SJ, Ledney GD (eds). Springer-Verlag, New York, 1978; p 9
- Van Putten LM. Bone marrow transplantation in the rhesus monkey. In: Proceedings of the international symposium on bone marrow therapy and chemical protection in irradiated primates 1962.
- Van Putten LM, van Bekkum DW, de Vries MJ, Balner H. The effect of preceding blood transfusions on the fate of homologous bone marrow grafts in lethally irradiated monkeys. Blood 1967;30:749

- Visser JWM, Bauman JGJ, Mulder AH, Eliason JF, De Leeuw AM. Isolation of murine pluripotent hemopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med 1984; 59:1576
- Vos O, Davids JAG, Weyzen WWH, van Bekkum DW. Evidence for the cellular hypothesis in radiation protection by bone marrow cells. Acta Physiol Pharmacol Neerl 1956; 4:482
- Vos O, De Vries MJ, Collenteur JC, Van Bekkum DW. Transplantation of homologous and heterologous lymphoid cells in X-irradiated and non-irradiated mice J Nat Cancer Inst 1959;23:53
- Vriesendorp HM, van Bekkum DW. Role of total body irradiation in conditioning for bone marrow transplantation. In: Immunology of bone Marrow Transplantation (S Thierfelder, HV Rodt, HJ Kolb, eds), Springer-Verlag, 1980; p 348
- Vriesendorp HM, Heidt PJ, Zurcher C. Gastrointestinal decontamination of dogs treated with total body irradiation and bone marrow transplantation. Exp Henatol 1981;9:904
- Vriesendorp HM, Klapwijk WM, Van Kessel AM, Zurcher C, Van Bekkum DW Lasting engraftment of histoincompatible bone marrow cells in dogs. Transplantation 1981a; 31:347
- Vriesendorp HM, Wagemaker G, van Bekkum DW. Engraftment of allogeneic bone marrow. Transpl Proceed 1981b; 13:643
- Vriesendorp HM,Klapwijk WM,Heidt PJ,Hogeweg B,Zurcher C, Van Bekkum DW. Factors controlling the engraftment of transplanted dog bone marrow cells Tissue Antigens 1982:20;63
- Vriesendorp HM, Johnson PM, Fey TA, McDonough CM, Zoetelief J, van Bekkum DW. Optimal dose of total body irradiation for allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Transpl Proceed 1985;17:517
- Vriesendorp HM. Engraftment of hemopoietic cells. In: Bone marrow transplantation. Biological mechanism and clinical practice. Van Bekkum DW, Lowenberg B (eds). Marcel Dekker, New York, 1985.pp 103
- Wagemaker G, Vriesendorp HM, Van Bekkum DW. Successful bone marrow transplantation across major histocompatibility barriers in rhesus monkeys Transpl Proceed 1981;13:875
- Wagemaker G, Heidt PJ, Merchav S, Bekkum van DW. Abrogation of histocompatibility barriers to bone marrow transplantation in rhesus monkeys. In: Experimental Hematology Today 1982. Baum JS et al (eds). S Karger, 1982: p 111
- Wagemaker G. Hemopoietic cell differentiation. In: Bone marrow transplantation. Biological mechanism and clinical practice. Van Bekkum DW, Lowenberg B(eds). Marcel Dekker, New York,1985.

- Wagemaker G, Visser TP, Van Bekkum DW. Cure of murine thalassemia by bone marrow transplantation without eradication of endogenous stem cells. Transplantation 1986;42:248
- Wagemaker G. Problems and prospect of histoincompatible bone marrow transplantation studied in rhesus monkeys In: Minimal residual disease in acute leukemia 1986.
 Hagenbeek A, Lowenberg B (eds), Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, the Netherlands, 1986a, p 363
- Walma EP, Vriesendorp HM, Zurcher C, Van Bekkum DW. Engraftment of stem-cellenriched bone marrow fractions in MHC-identical dogs after fractionated total-body irradiation. Transplantation 1987:43;818
- Watt SM, Karhi K, Gatter K, Furley AJW, Katz FE, Healy LE, Atass LJ, Bradley NJ, Sutherland DR, Levinsky RJ, Greaves MF. Distribution and epitope analysis of the cell membrane glycoprotein (HPCA-1) associated with human hemopoietic progenitor cells. Leukemia 1987;1:417
- Weiden PL, Flournoy N, Thomas ED, Prentice R, Fefer A, Buckner CD, Storb R. Antileukemic effect of graft-versus-host disease in human recipients of allogeneic grafts. N Engl J Med 1979; 300:1068
- Weiden PL, Doney K, Storb R, Thomas ED. Antihuman thymocyte globulin for prohpylaxis of graft-versus-host disease: A randomized trial in patients with leukemia treated with HLA-identical sibling marrow grafts. Transplantation 1979; 27:227
- Weiden PL, Sullivan KM, Flournoy N, Storb R, Thomas ED. Antileukemic effect of chronic graft versus host disease. New Engl J Med 1981; 304:1529
- Weisdorf DJ, McGlave PB, Ramsay NKC, Miller WJ, Nesbit ME, Woods WG, Goldman AJ, Kim TH, Kersey JH. Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation for acute leukemia: comparative outcomes for adults and children. Br J Haematol 1988;69:351
- Wielenga JJ, Gerritsen WR, Bart-Baumeister JAK, van Bekkum DW, Waldmann H, Levinsky RJ, Wagemaker G. Expression of CD34 and Class II MHC antigens on rhesus monkey hemopoietic stem cells and progenitor cells. submitted for publication, 1989
- Winchester RJ, Meyers PA, Broxmeyer HE, Wang CY, Moore MAS, Kunkel HG Inhibition of human erythropoietic colony formation in culture by treatment with Ia antisera J Exp Med 1978;148:613
- Winton EF, Colenda KW, McClure HM, Chan WC, Gordon DS. Studies on the use of nonhuman primates to determine the DR status of the human hematopoietic stem cell Exp Hematol 1985; 13:869

- Wong GG, Witek JS, Temple PA et al. Human GM-CSF: Molecular cloning of the complementary DNA and purification of the natural and recombinant proteins. Science 1985:228;810
- Wu AM, Till EJ, McCulloch EA. A cytological study on the capacity for differentiation of normal haemopoietic colony forming cells. J Cell Physiol 1967; 69:177
- Yang YC, Ciarletta AB, Temple PA, et al. Human IL-3 (Multi-CSF): Identification by expression cloning of a novel hematopoietic growth factor related to murine IL-3 Cell 1986:47;3
- Yeager AM, Kaizer H, Santos GW, Saral R, Colvin OM, Stuart RK, Braine HG, Burke PJ, Ambinder RF, Burns WH, Fuller DJ, Davis JM, Karp JE, Stratford May W,Rowley SD,Sensenbrenner LL,Vogelsang GB,Wingard JR Autologous bone marrow transplantation in patients with acute nonlymphocytic leukemia, using ex vivo marrow treatment with 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide N Engl J Med 1986;315:141
- Yokata T, Otsuka T, Mosmann T, Banchereau J, DeFrance T, Blanchard D, De Vries JE, Lee F, Arai KI.Isolation and characterization of a human interleukin cDNA clone, homologous to mouse B-cell stimulatory factor 1, that expresses B-cell- and T-cellstimulating activities. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1986:83;5894
- Zoetelief J, Hennen LA, Broerse JJ. Some practical aspects of dosimetry and dose specification for whole body irradiation. In:Response of different species to total body irradiation. Broerse JJ, MacVittie TJ (eds). Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, the Netherlands 1984: p 3
- Zurcher C and Van Bekkum DW. Pathology of radiation chimeras. In: Bone marrow transplantation. Van Bekkum DW, Lowenberg B (eds). Marcel Dekker, New York 1985: p 213

ABBREVIATIONS

AET	= 2-aminoethylisothiouronium
BMT	= Bone Marrow Transplantation
CD	= Cluster Defined
CFU-S	= Colony Forming Unit/Spleen
CFU-GEMM	= Colony Forming Unit - Granulocyte, Erythrocyte,
	Macrophage and Megakaryocyte
DNAse	= Deoxyribonuclease
E-RFC	= E-rosette Forming Cells
FACS	= Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorter
FCS	= Fetal Calf Serum
FITC	= Fluorescein Isothiocyanate
FLS	= Forward Light Scatter
GAM	= Goat-anti-Mouse
GARA	= Goat-anti-Rat
GID	= Gastro-Intestinal Decontamination
GM-CFU	= Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony Forming Unit
GVHD	= Graft-versus-Host Disease
GVL	= Graft-versus-Leukemia
Gy	= Gray
LSM	= Lymphocyte Separation Medium
MCA	= Monoclonal Antibody
MHC	= Major Histocompatibility Complex
MTX	= Methotrexate
PBL	= Peripheral Blood Lymphocytes
PBS	= Phosphate Buffered Salt
PE	= Phycoerythrin
PHA	= Phytohaemagglutinin
PLS	= Perpendicular Light Scatter
RELACS	= Rijswijk Experimental Light Activated Cell Sorter
SPF	= Specific Pathogen Free
SRBC	= Sheep Red Blood Cells
TBI	= Total Body Irradiation

CURRICULUM VITAE

Winald R. Gerritsen was born in Wageningen on March 12, 1955. He completed his secondary education (Gymnasium-B) in 1973. After studying political sciences for one year, he started to study at the Medical School of the Catholic University Nijmegen in 1974. His interest in research was stimulated during the three months which he spent at the Department of Haematology in Nijmegen (supervisors: Prof. dr. D. J. Th. Wagener and Dr. B. de Pauw) and during the three months which he spent at the Department of Internal Medicine of the National Cancer Institute in Amsterdam (supervisors: Dr. G. McVie and Dr. W. ten Bokkel Huinink). After graduation in 1982, he worked at the Primate Center TNO (head: Dr. A.A. van Es) and the Radiobiological Institute TNO (head: Prof. dr. D.W. van Bekkum) from January 1983 till August 1986. In the stimulating environment of both institutes the experiments, described in this thesis, were performed.

In September 1986 he started the education for internist and became a resident in internal medicine at the Majella Hospital in Bussum (head: Dr. D. Maingay). In September 1988 he continued his education at the Department of Internal Medicine of the National Cancer Institute in Amsterdam (head: Dr. R. Somers).

From July 1989 till July 1990 he will investigate the influences of haemopoietic growth factors on haemopoietic stem cells in the laboratory of the Bone Marrow Transplantation Service at the Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center in New York (head: Prof. dr. R.J. O'Reilly). For the study in New York, he has been awarded an International Research Fellowship of The Fogarty International Center and he is recipient of The Aplastic Anemia Foundation of America's 1989 Postdoctoral Fellowship Award.